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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Youzan Limited (the “Company together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group, “Youzan” or “We”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make this report or any statement
herein misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RS IEE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

MEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILEE

2023 2022 Changes
B T F =]
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT ARETT %
(Restated)
GEE2)
Revenue Wi 1,448,376 1,496,977 (3.2)
Gross profit EF 1,002,145 961,922 42
Gross profit margin (%) FEHNE(%) 69.2 64.3 4.9
Loss before tax BRISAIES 1R (52,625) (658,407) (92.0)
Loss for the year EEEBE (50,475) (645,398) (92.2)
Earnings/(loss) attributable to owners of AT HEE AELEA
the Company (E518) 7429 (302,727) (102.5)
Adjusted earnings/(loss) before RAERFE-RETER
interest, tax, depreciation and B R
amortisation (unaudited) (REEE1Z) 35,517 (339,537) (110.5)
Adjusted non-HKFRS earnings/(loss)  &BBEE B BUBRE
for the year (unaudited) 2R BF], (518
(R E1Z) 42,289 (394,429) (110.7)
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS TSR RIRE
As at 31 December
R+ZBA=+—H
2023 2022 Changes
“EI=HE B F b= =
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR®FT AR®TT %
(Restated)
(IeE%)
Current assets REEE 3,887,031 4,951,702 (21.5)
Non-current assets EREFEE 1,507,983 1,610,600 (6.4)
Total assets EEBRE 5,395,014 6,562,302 (17.8)
Current liabilities REas 3,664,103 5,251,897 (30.2)
Non-current liabilities FErRBas 722,021 265,322 172.1
Total liabilities BEEE 4,386,124 5,517.219 (20.5)
Net current assets/(liabilities) nBEE/ (BB P8 222,928 (300,195) (174.3)
Equity attributable to owners of KANBEE AELERS
the Company 1,021,330 1,413,266 (277)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS (12,440) (368,183) (96.6)
Total equity R AB R 1,008,890 1,045,083 (3.5)
FEABERAE "B =E£ER 005



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERESE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all shareholders
and express my appreciation to all the staff of the Group for
their unremitting efforts.

The fleeting 2023 has gone. During the year, instead of
pursuing growth in a “mindlessly optimistic” mentality, we
remained “cautious and proactive” in refining our operation and
endeavoured to help merchants to do well through our products
and services, thereby improving our own operations.

At the beginning of 2023, my goal in business is to help more
potential merchants achieve transaction volume growth, and
gain more recognition from the target customer group in order
to obtain the growth of renewal fees. \We have done quite well
in this regard. Among them, the average annual transaction
volume of each merchant in 2023 increased by 33%, and the
growth of medium-to-large merchants is the most obvious
here; the average renewal fee of our core customer group
increased by 21%, especially the average renewal fee of new
retail business (including product combinations such as CRM,
salesperson assistant, and Youzan stores) increased by 25%.

Although a large number of small merchants could not continue
their operations due to the market situation, however, we
secured more medium-to-large merchants over the past year
and helped them become active users during the delivery
process. The vibrancy rate of e-commerce new customers,
store new customers, CRM new customers and salespeople
increased, which are all very good “renewal leading indicators’,
indicating that our future renewal fee and gross profit will
continue to improve.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERE=

When the e-commerce traffic was undergoing a major reshuffle
in 2023, we stabilised the growth of sustainable branded
merchants and possessed the absolute leading market share
in many vertical segments such as alcoholic beverages, sports
and outdoor, medical and health, tonic and health care, etc. We
achieved good results in new traffic points such as Quntuantuan
and distribution. Meanwhile, we also constantly help merchants
to reduce costs and improve efficiency in value-added
businesses such as Worry-free Shopping and Youzan Shipping,
which also brought us some revenue. With the major upgrade
of WeChat Video e-commerce in 2024, we expect these brand
merchants should welcome growth all over again.

The offline branded chain merchants that we value most have
experienced satisfactory growth over the past year, and the
proportion of offline merchant transactions to the overall volume
of Youzan has increased significantly. The intelligent, digital and
chain-based new retail operating systems are helping brand
retailers to constantly improve their operational efficiency,
customer repurchase rate and marketing conversion rate. As
a result of the upgraded product matrix, our service intensity
and business penetration rate for merchants have increased
substantially, thus improving their operating profits in all
aspects. Our new retail merchants are capable of continuing to
operate with constant grow despite a slowdown in the overall
consumer industry, and they are leaders and benchmarks of
excellence in their respective industries. Although we have
yet to achieve sound revenue and profit from the continuous
purchases and renewals of these merchants, however, Youzan
people have always believed that as long as we continue to
create value for our customers, more valuable returns will surely
come.

In 2023, we set ourselves the business objective of “striving
to pursue the accumulation of a better business base and
organizational capabilities while maintaining healthy profitability
and reasonable human resources efficiency; to be one of
the first batch of profitable medium-sized enterprise service
companies in China, and the first echelon of enterprise service
companies capable of greeting the recovery of the general
environment’ and we have made it.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERESE

In the past year, we grew by relying on management efficiency
improvement without any cost increase. While maintaining the
high-speed iteration of e-commerce and new retail products, we
fully engaged in the arrival of the artificial intelligence era from
inside to outside. We maintained high manpower efficiency
in signing new sales while achieving higher new customer
vibrancy under high service efficiency. We risked a wave of
store closures of small and micro customers while acquiring
more medium-and large-sized offline customers. For the whole
year, we achieved a consolidated manpower efficiency of
approximately 800,000, the adjusted profit before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation was RMB35,517000, and net
cash inflow from operation was RMB76,998,000.

These achievements are certainly not only attributable to the
incumbent Youzan people but also to the inseparable channel
service providers, over 100,000 third-party developers, and
the help of numerous peer partners who altogether had
accounted for nearly half of our income. More and more agents
are becoming mature and capable of producing results, more
and more iterations of vertical customer requirements are
completed by and profited from third parties and developers
together, more and more peers are cooperating with us
intensively to acquire customers and help them succeed, and
more and more merchants have sent letters of appreciation to
colleagues in Youzan, and the sentiment and momentum of all
be of one mind make us feel blissfull

In the previous ten years, we were too young and frivolous
in pursuing growth and became industry leaders in a robust
environment, but we also put ourselves in a quandary when
encountering abrupt changes. The year 2023 marked the
eleventh year of Youzan. In addition to constantly pursuing
customer value creation, we had also begun to respect
business discipline and focus on operation and management,
with transaction volume and vibrant customers, income and
profit are the operation indicators that we were pursuing under
a balanced approach.

The year 2024 will be a year when Youzan undergoing significant

changes from two perspectives, namely customer value
creation and our own operation and management.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERE=

Our OKRs are:

01) to fully embrace AGI and develop an “intelligent
consumer operation system” to help merchants increase
profit growth

02) to achieve sustained and stable profit growth

In terms of businesses, we will make the most significant
upgrade to the brand and value positioning of Youzan in a
decade.

Youzan's brand new value positioning is: starting from helping
merchants to facilitate public domain content marketing to
soliciting new customers, then providing private domain
operation and distribution and group purchase system
to improve customer repurchase rate and profitability of
merchants, and simultaneously providing more intelligent
solutions for the ultimate sales transformation such as
self-owned independent malls, store digitization, chain
management, multi-channel data to name a few.

First of all, the retail industry in China has transited from the
traffic era to the customer operation era, and the core value of
Youzan is not only just providing “private domain e-commerce
and store digitization” services but also offering a more
comprehensive “intelligent consumer operation” system with
the products portfolio of Youzan CRM (B&CRM), Youzan
Intelligent Salespeople (BEEBEER), Youzan WeCom
Assistant (B &2 {5 B1TF) and other products.

Secondly, benefiting from the accumulation of best practice
data in the service process over the past few years, through
the all-round intelligent upgrading of Youzan's product system,
the Al assistant (Copilot) can help merchants use their products
to conduct online and offline operations more conveniently, the
automation (Agent) can complete their work more efficiently,
the operation consultant (Insight) can generate more targeted
and effective business strategy suggestions, and the AIGC
can generate better marketing creativity, which will all-roundly
help brand retailers who have hundreds of thousands or
even millions of regular customer fans to increase customer
repurchase and profit growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THERESE

Starting in 2024, we will grow from providing “digital software”
to small and medium-sized merchants to offering “intelligent
consumer operating systems” to brand retailers, covering from
the public domain to the private domain and eventually ultimate
sales conversion, covering the full process of merchants’
operation.

Operationally, on one hand, we will comprehensively improve
sales efficiency and internal operational efficiency through
marketing innovation and better utilization of Al tools to
continuously improve the overall manpower efficiency and
achieve the goal of exceeding 1 million per capita. On the other
hand, we will constantly pursue quantitative and qualitative
growth in medium-and large-sized customers, especially chain
customers of offline brands, and pursue growth in customer
vibrancy and renewal fees. We will continue to increase our
operating profit to achieve scalable profitability.

More and more brand retailers are beginning to operate large-
scale chains and online and offline multi-channel integrated
operations, they must start to use digitalized systems
to commence business operations, and more and more
enterprises are realizing that they are unable to afford self-
development or highly customized costs and begin to accept
general SaaS services and enjoy the operational upgrades
brought about by Youzan's best practices. In addition, more
and more enterprises need digitalisation, automation, and
intelligence to help them obtain advanced tools to get
predictable results. Nevertheless, not many enterprise service
providers are ready for this, and we are fortunate to be one of
them.

Our time has come and we are grateful for your trust and
thanks for these opportunities. Filling with youthfulness, we will
continue to be innovative, grow continuously, and create our

own value in this era.

Heartfelt thanks to all of you!

Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, the PRC, 21 March 2024
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ABOUT YOUZAN
EalN=RE

The Company is an innovative investment holding company
with limited liability committed to providing online and offline
e-commerce solutions which also known as SaaS (Software
as a Service) and various payment services for merchants.
Our Group consists of the Company, Shenzhen Zhongchuang
Internet Service Co., Ltd., Country Praise Enterprises Limited
("CPE") and its subsidiaries (collectively the “CPE Group”) and
Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “Youzan
Group”). We are principally engaged in the merchant service
and payment service business in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Youzan provides merchants with powerful social network-based
SaaS systems with multi-channel operations and integrated new
retail solutions, applying PaaS cloud service to create business
customization options, while providing extended services such
as Youzan Worry-free Shopping, Youzan Distribution and Youzan
Promotion. We help every merchant who values products and
services privatize customer assets, expand internet customer
base, improve business efficiency, and help their business
comprehensively succeed in all aspects.

We offer a wide variety of cloud-based commerce services to
merchants through our subscription solutions, a suite of SaaS products
such as Youzan WeiMall, Youzan Store, Youzan Chain and Youzan
Beauty. In addition, leveraging our Youzan Cloud platform and our PaaS
capabilities, we also provide customised services for merchants and
offer applications by third-party developers on our Youzan App Market.

We also provide merchants with merchant solutions, a series of
value-added services to address merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including payment services, merchandise
sourcing and distribution, consumer protection and online traffic
monetisation. Merchant solutions mainly include Youzan Worry-
free Shopping, Youzan Distribution, and Youzan Promotion.

Core business brands of Youzan include Youzan WeiMall and
Quntuantuan (BZE &), serving private domain and community
e-commerce. Youzan New Retail, Youzan Store and Youzan
Beauty serve merchants’ multi-channel digital operations. We
have Jarvis, our intelligent business brand and also AllValue
which is our international business brand.

Youzan WeiMall mainly serves start-ups, and emerging and
retail brand enterprises, centering on consumer experience,
helping them to develop social e-commerce, content
e-commerce, private domain e-commerce, cross-border
e-commerce and distribution businesses on social media
and content platforms. It also serves branded flagship mall
operations and customer management through multi-channel.
In 2023, our sales team achieved significant progress in market
development for our target customer base. We improved our
solutions based on benchmark customer cases and increased
our delivery rate gradually.
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Quntuantuan (B£E &) is our innovative business, which mainly
serves group leaders and influencers, providing them with
integrated community operation solutions in the development
of private domain e-commerce and distribution business in the
community.

Youzan New Retail mainly serves retail and chain brand
enterprises by establishing a new retail consumer operation
regime based on the “consumercentered” customer operation
model, performing well in customer operation, empowering
shopping guide to improve marketing and sales, and integrating
the private domain retention of stores and automated marketing
to improve the overall performance both online and offline. In
2023, Youzan New Retail completed more than 700 updates
to its product features and iterated a number of core functions
focusing on enhancing consumer experience, faster customer
links, more accurate customer operations, more convenient
domain-wide operations, and more efficient growth in the
performance of stores and shopping guide, helping merchants
to achieve growth through customer operations.

Youzan Store focuses on processed retail and mid-frequency
retail with a special emphasis on chain merchants, providing
store operation tools and services for the in-store and in-home
scenarios required for store operations, social and content
platform marketing, group purchase, take-out, ordering, and
membership operations, as well as providing chain headquarters
with a unified management tool for these businesses. We have
developed and continued to iterate our solutions around key
customer bases, developing a clear market-leading position
and industry influence in certain vertical sectors such as cake
baking.
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Taking lifestyle beauty, derma management, manicure and
eyelash art, health care, hair care and other chain beauty brands
and stores as the key customer base, Youzan Beauty provides
the needed solutions for digital store management, customer
in-store retention, refining membership operation, and customer
public-to-private domain for chain brand management, store
operation management, customer operations, and marketing
activities helping them to standardise the model of the
chain brand stores, improve business control and enhance
management efficiency.

Taking overseas Chinese merchants of pet supplies, flowers
and gifts, mothers and infants, cakes and bakery, daily-
use groceries, clothing and footwear, and fresh fruits and
vegetables as the key customer base, AllValue helps them to
provide online stores for Chinese consumers that are more
in line with their aesthetics and habits. It provides overseas
WeChat mini programs, Xiaohongshu (/N4 ) overseas stores
and e-commerce website construction, and supports global
multi-lingual and multi-currency as well as overseas local store
delivery in the same city.

In 2023, we launched our first artificial intelligence product,
namely “Jarvis” Currently, “Jarvis” supports four major
scenarios of graphic promotion, campaign planning, operation
analysis and automated tasks. The “graphic promotion” can
generate content with better conversion rates and preferred
results based on the merchandise information, campaign
information, promotion channels, and usage scenarios. The
“campaign planning” can specify campaign objectives and
solutions and complete complicated system configurations
through dialogue. The “operation analysis” can generate desired
operation reports and professional analysis and interpretation
through dialogue. The “automated tasks” enables the
automation of repetitive workflows by building customised
task processes through function concatenation. \We continue to
explore the integration of artificial intelligence technology with
our business, lower the barriers for merchants to learn and use
our SaaS products, and improve the efficiency of merchants
operating our SaaS products. At the same time, many of
our departments are actively applying artificial intelligence to
improve work efficiency.
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In 2023, we continued to make continuous improvements
in operating efficiency as our primary business objective.
While achieving stable cash income, we continued to improve
operating cash flow and operating results by investing
resources scientifically and rationally to achieve the long-
term sustainable and healthy development of the Company.
In 2023, the Company recorded a net cash inflow from
operations of RMB76,998,000 and an overall net cash inflow of
RMB36,321,000. As of the end of 2023, the cash balance was
RMB926,265,000. We continued to focus on precision costing
and expense control, with gross profit increasing by 4.2% year
on-year and gross profit margin going up by 4.9 percentage
points yearon-year. Selling expenses decreased by 20.9%
yearon-year with the selling expense rate dropping to 45.4%.
Administrative expenses went down by 47.1% yearon-year with
the administrative expense rate decreasing to 10.7%. Other
operating expenses decreased by 39.2% yearon-year with the
other operating expense rate coming down to 13.1%. In 2023,
the adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation was approximately RMB35,517,000.

In 2023, we continued to focus on our core customer base for
market expansion purposes and continued to upgrade customer
structure. We continued to enhance our solution capabilities
based on the business needs of the three major customer
groups of “content monetization, brand DTC, and new retail
store” Our sales teams are more focused on the precise
expansion of target customers and take into account the
specific business scenarios of customers to promote and sell
solutions that match their demands. Our product development
teams are more focused on the demand in business scenarios
of core customers and the development and iteration of
product capabilities. We upgraded our private domain operation
solutions for three major categories of customers, providing
support for the implementation of services such as private
domain onboarding, product selection and aggregation, private
domain operation consulting, and new retail onboarding, striving
for the success rate of merchants’ new retail practices. More
merchants choose to subscribe to the advanced versions that
include private domain solutions, which increase our average
contract price.
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We adhered to the vision of “customer-centric’, continuing
to deepen our understanding of the core customer base's
business, and taking “creating value for customers” as
the direction to improve our solution capabilities and help
merchants to increase their sales.

In 2023, the gross merchandise volume generated by the
merchants through Youzan's solutions reached approximately
RMB102.5 billion, increased by approximately 1% yearon-
year as compared with that of 2022. The gross merchandise
volume of store SaaS business was approximately RMB50.7
billion, accounting for 49% of the gross merchandise volume,
representing an increase of approximately 19% yearon-year.
The average sales of a single merchant were approximately
RMB1,610,000 in 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 33% yearon-year.

As of 31 December 2023, we had 63,512 paying merchants,
of which approximately 66% were those subscribing for
e-commerce SaaS; approximately 34% were those subscribing
for store SaaS, including Youzan Store, Youzan Chain, Youzan
Beauty, Youzan Education and WowShop etc.

The number of new paying merchants in 2023 was 21,851,
of which the new paying merchants of e-commerce SaaS
accounted for 62% of the total new paying merchants and the
new paying merchants of store SaaS accounted for 38% of the
total new paying merchants.

We consider our employees as our most important assets
and competitive advantage. We highly value the contribution
of every employee and we are dedicated to develop a
sound organisation enabling outstanding talents to become
successful. We continued to optimize the organizational
structure and improve the efficiency of organizational
cooperation. As of 31 December 2023, we have 1,750
employees, with 52% in sales, 27% in product and technology,
16% in service and operation and 5% in management and
support.

016

RAERBRFIUER R INES F5E
RIEHZOBBRNERER UIHEFE
SEEISER BARMBERLEE
EERBRERXSENER

TETC-E O BREBBAENERLSRE
EHE MR B BEETNVARE,025
TR IE T _FRILLERA1% IS
SaaSEBRE M 57 MERN A AR K07
Bro hEmR ZBERNA49% » [ EE1g
RO19% - FHEEARNBEERE_F
“ZFEARARBI61E T BILEREYN
33% °

BE_Z_=+_B=+—08" #%fMHN
FENERRHBEARG3 512K - HP5TRE
9 SaaSHY I R G LE AV 266 % ; 5] Bl P9/5 SaaS
(BiEEEME - EEEE BB B
BHEME/NES) WERIGEEA534% ©

TECCFHMEBNERRBER21,851
K o H 1 B8 7 Saa SHYM 18 {1 B 7 45 #T 18
EBREEAN62% > FI/ESaaSHIFTIE T
ERRGATE N ERKBEBI38% -

BMIBETRAREENEENHEZE
B SEERE—NEINER IR
T —ERTES A A B =T 4H 4 o F M
FFEECABEE WRFABEBBIERE-
BE_TZ_=4+_RB=+—H BHBE
T AEEEH,750 A SHE R A B15EL
52%  IHEE R EMABMLIL27%  REES
ANEHEE16% » BSE R BIEA B1htEE5% ©

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

}E u—,tuH:HEZ -\M:I'

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

1. To fully embrace AGI and develop an “intelligent
consumer operation system” to help merchants increase
profit growth.

2. To achieve sustained and stable profit growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2023, the Group's revenue was approximately
RMB1,448,376,000 (2022: approximately RMB1,496,977,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 3.2% as compared to
2022, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
from subscription solutions which was partially offset by the
increase in revenue from merchant solutions.

The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown by major
products and services for the years indicated.
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2023 2022 Changes

—E=H = B

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

AREFT AREFIT %

Subscription Solutions SRR S 2 838,725 890,223 (5.8)
Merchant Solutions GEN: Ve 605,929 597,780 1.4
Others Hih 3,722 8,974 (58.5)
Total #EST 1,448,376 1,496,977 (3.2)
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Subscription Solutions

Revenue from subscription solutions primarily include
subscription fees for SaaS products and a per-transaction
cloud service fee for each extra order beyond a pre-specified
order number threshold that consumers made to such
merchants through SaaS products. Revenue generated from
subscription solutions was approximately RMB838,725,000
(2022: approximately RMB890,223,000), representing a year
on-year decrease of 5.8%, which was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the number of paying merchants.

Merchant Solutions

The Group offers merchant solutions which comprise
comprehensive value-added services addressing merchant
needs that arise in daily operations. Revenue from merchant
solutions mainly include transaction service fee charged for
transaction service, service fees charged for Youzan Distribution,
as well as Youzan Worry-free Shopping. Transaction service fee
and service fees for Youzan Distribution and Youzan Worry-free
Shopping are determined with reference to the GMV generated
by merchants through solutions.

In 2023, revenue from merchant solutions was approximately
RMB605,929,000 (2022: approximately RMB597780,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 1.4% which was
basically in line with the increase in GMV for 2023.

Others

In 2023, revenue from other businesses was approximately
RMB3,722,000 (2022: approximately RMB8,974,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 58.5%.
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Cost of Sales
The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs by nature
for the years indicated.
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For the year ended 31 December

BHE+T_A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 Changes
—gC-= - -]
Percentage Percentage
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) %
ARETR 1&itE% ARETTT 15tE% %
Staff costs AT 119,312 26.7 157399 294 (24.2)
Server and SMS costs R 7523 R SMSH A 40,040 9.0 86,989 16.3 (54.0)
Transaction costs RBHA 167,388 375 198,718 371 (15.8)
Costs of goods sold HEERMA 2,308 05 3,972 0.7 (41.9)
Technology services expenses RiTR%AS 23,122 5.2 21,446 4.0 78
Contracted operation service costs & FIE & RRFSAA 271217 6.1 16,012 3.0 69.4
Taxes and surcharges GEyLapill 72711 16 6,944 13 47
Insurance premium costs RBRERA 17907 4.0 10,464 2.0 711
Others Hitn 41,756 9.4 33,11 6.2 26.1
Total B 446,231 100.0 535,055 100.0 (16.6)

In 2023, the Group's cost of sales was approximately
RMB446,231,000 (2022: approximately RMB535,055,000),
representing a yearon-year decrease of 16.6%, which was
mainly because (i) transaction costs decreased by 15.8% from
approximately RMB198,718,000 in 2022 to approximately
RMB167.388,000 in 2023, due to the Group's continuing
optimization on cost structure of transaction service,
(i) staff costs decreased by 24.2% from approximately
RMB157.399,000 in 2022 to approximately RMB119,312,000 in
2023, mainly due to the decrease in headcount as a result of
the optimization of organization structure, (i) server and SMS
costs decreased by 54.0% from approximately RMB86,989,000
in 2022 to approximately RMB40,040,000 in 2023, mainly
due to precise costs control measures, (iv) meanwhile, the
decrease in cost of sales was mainly offset by the following
factors: the increase in contracted operation services costs by
69.4% to approximately RMB27127000 from approximately
RMB16,012,000 for the same period of last year resulted from
the increase in revenue from private domain operation services.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

In 2023, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB1,002,145,000 (2022: approximately RMB961,922,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 4.2%, due to the
increase of gross profit from subscription solutions as well as
merchant solutions.

In 2023, the Group's gross profit margin increased from 64.3%
in 2022 to 69.2% in current year, primarily due to the increase
of gross profit margin of subscription solutions as well as
merchant solutions.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-B=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—E-= BT THF
Gross profit Gross profit
RMB’000 margin (%) RMB'000 margin (%)
AREF EMEY ARBFT EFE%
Subscription Solutions HIE S 675,081 80.5 660,006 74.1
Merchant Solutions [HER: Y ES 325,869 53.8 298,902 50.0
Others Hth 1,195 321 3,014 33.6
Total Hast 1,002,145 69.2 961,922 64.3
Subscription Solutions FIBIRRIRA &

In 2023, the gross profit of subscription solutions was RZZT_= JF’%%@%HW%%UZ’J%A
approximately RMB675,081,000 (2022: approximately R#675,081Fm (ZT2E"F AR

RMB660,006,000), representing a yearon-year increase of
2.3%. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in staff costs and server costs brought by precise
costs control measures.

In 2023, the gross profit margin of subscription solutions
increased from 74.1% in 2022 to 80.5% in current vyear,
primarily due to the decrease in the cost of sales of subscription
solutions.
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Merchant Solutions

In 2023, the gross profit of merchant solutions was
approximately RMB325,869,000 (2022: approximately
RMB298,902,000), representing a yearon-year increase of
9.0%, which was mainly due to the optimization of cost
structure of transaction service.

In 2023, the gross profit margin of merchant solutions increased
from 50.0% in 2022 to 53.8% in current year, mainly due to
the increase in the gross profit margin of transaction services
benefited by cost structure optimization.

Others

In 2023, other gross profit was approximately RMB1,195,000
(2022: approximately RMB3,014,000), and the gross profit
margin decreased from 33.6% in 2022 to 32.1% in 2023.

Expenses and others

In 2023, the Group recorded a 20.9% vyearon-year decrease
in selling expenses to approximately RMB657038,000 (2022:
approximately RMB830,816,000). It was mainly due to the
reduction in sales personnel which led to the decrease in sales
staff costs and the decrease in channel commission expenses.

In 2023, the Group recorded a 47.1% yearon-year decrease in
administrative expenses to approximately RMB154,949,000
(2022: approximately RMB293,043,000). It was mainly due to
the significant decrease in one-off severance compensation
payments, and the decrease in administrative personnel which
resulted in a reduction in administrative staff costs.
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In 2023, the Group recorded a 39.2% year-on-year decrease in
other operating expenses to approximately RMB189,754,000
(2022: approximately RMB312,268,000). It was mainly due
to the reduction in research and development expenses as a
result of the rational arrangement of research and development
investment and the optimization of the organizational structure
to reduce the research and development staff costs by the
Group.

In 2023, the Group recorded a 87.9% vyearon-year decrease
in equity-settled share-based payments to approximately
RMB10,619,000 (2022: approximately RMB88,068,000).

In 2023, the Group recorded a 6.1% yearon-year increase in
investment and other income to approximately RMB52,546,000
(2022: approximately RMB49,517000). It was mainly due to the
increase in bank interest income.

In 2023, the Group recorded a 51.6% vyearon-year decrease
in other net gains to approximately RMB17472,000 (2022:
approximately RMB36,100,000). It was mainly due to the one-
off net gain on early termination of lease of approximately
RMB29,682,000 in 2022, and no such event occurred in this
year.

In 2023, the Group recorded a 7.7% vyear-on-year increase
in finance costs to approximately RMB27612,000 (2022:
approximately RMB25,631,000). It was mainly due to the
increase in interest expenses as a result of the new bank
loans in June 2022, partially offset by the decrease in interest
expenses of lease liabilities.

The Group also presents alternative performance measurement
indicators. Adjusted performance is an alternative performance
measurement indicator which is used to align internal and
external reporting, identify and quantify items that the
management considers to be significant and reflect how the
management assesses period-on-period performance.
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Non-HKFRS measures

IFERMBHRSERFE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
-k - SO —
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTr AR®ETT
Loss from operations K& E1E (21,323) (558,304)
- Equity-settled share-based payments —RIEEER D SZAHRIEB 10,619 88,068
— Depreciation of property, —ME--BERREINE
plant and equipment 9,848 13,818
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FRREERE 12,077 28,639
— Amortization of intangible assets —m B EHHE 81,126 81,648
— One-off severance packages ——RERER A E 13,188 92,21
— Other (gains)/losses, net —Hfth (W) B8 P58 (17,472) (36,100)
— Investment and other income —KEREMUITA (52,546) (49,517)
Adjusted earnings/(loss) before interest, tax,  &LHEGA B IRIBEIFE
depreciation and amortization (unaudited) K ER &R, (B518)
(REEZ) 35,517 (339,537)
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr AR®TT
(Restated)
(&E=7))
Loss for the year KFERE (50,475) (645,398)
— Equity-settled share-based payments —RELEBERMDZRIE 10,619 88,068
— Amortization of intangible assets —mEE#H 81,126 81,648
— Impairment of investment in an associate —RN—EBEREZ’E
BB - 1,289
— One-off severance packages —— R EER A E 13,188 92,211
- Adjusted for tax on non-HKFRS —JEEAMBREER
adjustments (unaudited) FEE TR
(R E%) (12,169) (12,247)
Adjusted non-HKFRS earnings/(loss) RARFEIFEENBRS
for the year (unaudited) R &F (B8
(REEZ) 42,289 (394,429)
Note: These unaudited non-HKFRS measures should be considered izt : ﬁt%fﬁméﬁﬁé/ﬁﬁﬂ@fiiﬁﬁ' STERE

in addition to, not as a substitute for, measures of the Group's
financial performance prepared in accordance with HKFRS. In
addition, these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.

FTHEAEHARAR —FT_=FFHK

WEBRBEEBMBRS

FERREM KT E

B BEENMREMIFE R 2o Utih It
EEBVBREERMHAEBNEERH
AEER E M~ B)FT FB VER IR A PR [E)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Annual Impairment Test - CGU

The Company has engaged an independent professional valuer
to assess the recoverable amounts the Group’s cash generating
units (“CGU") as at 31 December 2023, for the purpose
of annual impairment test in accordance with accounting
standards.

Cash generating unit

REELEN

FEREANR - REEEEN
Z!K’z}ﬂEé&ﬁi%%ﬁfﬁﬁﬂiu#ﬁ$$
BRTELEMU ((REEEBEM) KT
=+ ZR=t+—HzZAEKkEE XU
ARRESstERETFERERNS -

Valuation date

RO

Third party payment services (“CGU A")
F=AZMARE (REEELEMA))
Merchant services (“CGU B")
ERRTS (BREELEEAIB])

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method, which is defined as the present value of the future
cash flow expected to be derived from the cash generating
units. When conducting the valuation, the valuer has taken into
account factors including but not limited to expected revenue
of each cash generating units provided by the management,
expected cost and other expenses of each cash generating
units, capital expenditure, operation plan, discount rate

31 December 2023
TEI=F+°A=+—H
31 December 2023
TEC=F+T"“H=+—H

REeELBEUZAWOERESEERMIR
RenEBitHEREEREE  £HE
BEEABHRELEEREEEBMUZRK
RERBZRE -ETHER HEMSE

R#EZRZ BEEARIEEEERM
WEREELEBUNRRBA-BREE
EEUNARAMAREMFAS B4R
BEEREEMAENBRE -BITE
%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ%@ﬁ%&%%ﬁ%

calculated by the valuer, the current conditions of the market EZZF RFTHIBEEF  sHEEMFAERAN
and the Group and estimated trend in the future provided by an %%@D—F :
industry expert, etc. The parameters adopted in the valuation
process were as follows:
Budgeted
revenue CAGR
in the 5-year Terminal Pre-tax
forecast growth rate  discount rate
R FMB
FERI PRy FEHA
EEEERE
ERE KEBIERE G IEERES
CGU A 5.12% 1.7% 20.97%
HWEEFEAA
CGUB 3.68% 1.7% 19.03%
HREELEEBNUB
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CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying amount of
approximately RMB341,326,000 (2022: RMB341,326,000) had
been allocated to CGU A. Computer software, certain property,
plant and equipments and certain right-of-use assets were
allocated to this CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rate used to discount
the forecast cash flows for CGU A is 20.97% (2022: 20.35%).
As at 31 December 2023, in CGU A within third party payment
services segment, the recoverable amount calculated based on
value in use exceeded carrying value by approximately RMB396
million (2022: RMB211 million) and therefore, no impairment
change was concluded necessary. Management believes that
any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount. Management conducted a
sensitivity analysis and determined that pre-tax discount rate
changed from 20.97% to 43.66% used for the value in use
calculation would result in the headroom dropping to zero as
at 31 December 2023, assuming all other variables remain
constant.

CGUB

E-commerce applications and Trademarks with indefinite useful
life as set out in note 22 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, and certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets were allocated to Merchant Services
CGU ("CGU B") within Merchant Services segment for
impairment test purpose. During year ended 31 December
2021, the Group has recognized an impairment loss on CGU B
of approximately RMB2,184 million.

At the end of reporting period, the pre-tax rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows of CGU B is 19.03% (2022:
19.67%). The recoverable amount of CGU B calculated based
on value-in-use model exceeded the CGU B carrying amount
by approximately RMB160 million (2022: RMB161 million),
therefore no further impairment is necessary for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Management believes that any reasonably foreseeable change
in any of the key assumptions in value-in-use model would not
cause the carrying amount of CGU B to exceed the recoverable
amount. A change of pre-tax rate from 19.03% to 23.86% used
in value-in-use calculation would remove the headroom (i.e. the
amount of CGU B value-in-use in excess of its carrying amount),
assuming all other variables remain constant.

FTHEAEHARAR —FT_=FFHK

IREELENA
IREENARME341,326,00070 (ZE -
F 1 AR341,326,0007T) BIFGE (P {EA
RER) BENERERSELBEMATEE
B -BTYE - BERRERETERRE
BEEDIKEIIRSELE M-

PSR BUIRRESELBEMUATE
AR REZBRMRATEEERA2097% (ZF
T TH:2035%) R EBE_=F+_A
—t+—H RE=ZALZARBELTZ2RE
ELEBAAMS  BRERABEFTENTIK
[o] & 288 H AR EE A A R 1396,000,0007T
(ZE2EZZF . ARB2N, ooo 0007%) ° A
B EEETHESEE BEERA
Eﬂbﬁmﬁx ZEHAEET%E%“
HAgENIRSELEMNZRABBEA
HYEE\QEOAEFELﬁ@ZWr— VfFr’It

ABREMBEMEBERITAE  BIRE
%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬁf F20.97% & &
AL 6N BEREE_ST_ZF+_1
= +—HZBRBEREZS-

REELEMB
EFEGEANERERIEREHRZHE
IRE BE P 4R 5 M B R M 5522 EZ%:F
ME-BERRBEURGCHAEEEE D
ERRRFOBAZERRBREELSE
i (MREELEEAB ) » LUMERENEA
o BE_E_—F+_A=1T—HILF
B AEECHIFEeEEBUBZRER
B4 A E12,184,000,0007T °

RIREF > BUMIBIREELBUBZTE
AR REZBRNATIEEEA19.03% (&
TITHEI1967%) o ERAEERIUGE
WIREEXEUBZ O EBHIRES
EEBUBZRMEA ARME160,000,00070
(ZZE- % : AE#¥161,000,0007T) * &
b #@E_E-_=F+_B=+—HIF
ElEABERE—TRBE

BEBRASEREERE T 2 EMBARER
ROEMGERARNESH A TENIR
%FI%TJBZEEETEE Bl U [E] 5 &8 o
BRFIEEMEERITAE  RABARER
BESABEZRRATILEEH19.03%EER
23.86% * i HFRERER (RIS AL BB
ERBEBLHHEKREEZSER °
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Ning, aged 41, joined the Company in April 2018.
He was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company in May 2018 and was further
appointed as the chairman of the Board in February 2021. Mr,
Zhu is the founder and the chief executive officer of Youzan
Group (comprising Youzan Technology Inc. (formerly known as
Qima Holdings Ltd.) and its subsidiaries) and is responsible for
formulation of the overall development planning and business
strategies as well as the daily management of Youzan Group. He
is one of the pioneer user experience designers in China. Before
establishing Youzan Group, Mr. Zhu was a product experience
planner of Alipay and an interaction designer of Baidu and has
profound experience in the realm of internet, including but not
limited to online payment, e-business, internet communities
and online search services. He graduated from Henan Radio &
Television University with a diploma.

Mr. Cui Yusong, aged 37 joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
in May 2018. Mr. Cui is the co-founder of Youzan Group. Mr.
Cui is responsible for technology reserve, artificial intelligence
and product strategic planning as well as management of the
research and development (“R&D") team of Youzan Group. Prior
to joining Youzan Group, Mr. Cui served in a number of R&D or
R&D management positions in Alipay, Alibaba Cloud and Taobao.
Mr. Cui graduated from Shaoxing University with a bachelor
degree in management.
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Mr. Yu Tao, aged 36, joined the Company in April 2018. He was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company in May 2018 and was further appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in February 2021. Mr.
Yu graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor degree in
accounting and is a member of each of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada. Mr. Yu joined Youzan Group in 2014 as
the chief financial officer and is responsible for financial planning
and management, investment and investor’s relations of Youzan
Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, he worked in Ernst &
Young, Shantui Equipment Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd. and Alipay.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, aged 42, joined the Company in April 2018
and was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
service officer of the Company in May 2018. She is responsible
for management of the help center, talent development
and organisation operation. Ms. Ying graduated from Beijing
Technology and Business University with a bachelor degree in
economics and a master degree in engineering, majoring in
science management and engineering. Ms. Ying joined Youzan
Group in 2014 as chief service officer and is responsible for
the management of client services and contract compliance of
Youzan Group. Prior to joining Youzan Group, Ms. Ying worked
in Lexmark Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FJE3$TENI& CRYI) B
PR/ 8]), Huarun Sun Hung Kei Real Estate (Hangzhou) Co. Ltd.
(FEBIEEEME (M) BRAE)and Tang Shuo Education
(BRH#E).

FTHEAEHARAR —FT_=FFHK
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 61, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since December 2003.

Dr. Fong has over 27 years of extensive experience in various
sectors of the financial industry including direct investment,
project and structured finance and capital markets, having
worked for KPMG, the American International Group in Asia,
and the ING Group in Beijing and Hong Kong. In his last position
within the ING Group, he served as a director of the Baring
Capital (China) Management Limited that managed ING Beijing
Investment Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Fong has been the chief financial officer of Citychamp Watch
& Jewellery Group Limited, a company listed on the HKSE,
since September 2004 and company secretary since February
2007 He has also served as director of its subsidiary, Bendura
Bank AG in Liechtenstein, since September 2016. Besides, he
served as a non-independent non-executive director of Cordlife
Group Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange
from January 2019 to November 2021.

Dr. Fong holds a Bachelor's degree, majoring in Management
Sciences (Economics) from the Lancaster University, United
Kingdom. He also holds three Master's degrees including a
Master of Business Administration from the Warwick University,
United Kingdom, a Master’s degree in Investment Management
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,
and a Master's degree in practicing accounting from the
Monash University, Australia. He has a Doctorate in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a Juris Doctor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a CFA charter holder, a member of the Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts, a fellow of the CPA (Australia), a fellow of the
HKICPA, a member of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants, Australia, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors.

Dr. Fong attended executive courses in Harvard Business
School, Said Business School of Oxford University, and Lee
Kuan Yew School of Public Policy of National University of
Singapore.
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Mr. Deng Tao, aged 68, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since May 2018. He
obtained his bachelor degree at the Beijing Foreign Studies
University and his executive master of business degree at the
China Europe International Business School. Mr. Deng has
more than 27 years of working experience in human resources
management. He commenced his career of human resources
by working in a Chinese joint venture company established by
Hewlett-Packard Company in 1984 and served in that company
for around 11 years. He then successively served in a number of
human resources managerial positions in different multinational
companies including but not limited to Maersk Line Limited,
Allied Signal Inc., AstraZeneca Plc, Whirlpool Corporation and
Google. Mr. Deng joined the Company on 8 May 2018.

Mr. Li Shaojie, aged 46, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since March 2022.
He obtained his bachelor's degree at Henan University. Mr. Li
founded and managed Henan Rich Flag Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* CAmiRZEEERMARAT)Iin 2007 and is
currently the chairman of Rich Flag Sci & Tech Group Co., Ltd.*
GRIERSEBARAT) . Mr. Li has about 21 years of ample
experience in internet brand marketing.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Xia, is currently the director of securities affairs of
the Company. She served as the investment director of Beijing
Shangyin Investment Consultancy Co., Limited (F$E8%3E (16
R) KB EEAABRAT) from March 2010 to June 2018. Ms. Han
graduated from Renmin University of China in June 2020 with a
master of business administration degree. Ms. Han possesses
experience in financial and operational management and is
familiar with the daily operations, internal management and
financial management of the Group. Ms. Han was appointed as
a company secretary of the Company on 18 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional
services provider specialising in corporate services. He has over
11 years of experience in corporate secretarial field. Mr. Cheng
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in finance from the University of Queensland,
Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law from
the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheng was appointed as a
company secretary of the Company on 24 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEERSS

The Directors present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 17 August
1999 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). Its shares have
been listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 April 2000.

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES

The Group is an investment holding company. The Group is
committed to providing online and offline e-commerce solutions
which also known as SaaS (Software as a Service) and various
payment services for merchants.

An analysis of our Group’s revenue, segment result and assets
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 8
and 12 respectively to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

CUSTOMERS & SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
was less than 5% (2022: less than 5%), while the five largest
suppliers of our Group accounted for approximately 49.2%
(2022: 52.2%) of our Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier of our Group accounted for approximately 26.4%
(2022: 24.0%) of our Group's total purchases. As far as the
Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their associates, or
any shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’'s share capital) had a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers and suppliers of
our Group.
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RESULTS

Details of our Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out on pages 142 to 143 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
(2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB926,265,000 (2022:
approximately RMB889,944,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had borrowings of
approximately RMB470,444,000 (2022: RMB480,986,000).
Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 41 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITY

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 52 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Details
of contingent liability of the Group are set out in note 51 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group,
which is calculated by dividing total debt (all bank and other
borrowings) by total assets as of the end of the period, was
8.7%, as compared with 7.3% as of 31 December 2022. The
increase was primarily due to the decrease of balances with
central bank.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no pledge of assets
(2022: Nil).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC,
its transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in Renminbi. The Group monitors its foreign
currency risks and will consider hedging significant currency
exposures should the need arises.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 23 May 2023, the Company entered into sale and
purchase agreement with (i) Whitecrow Investment Ltd., (ii)
V5.Cui Investment Ltd., (ii) Rory Huang Investment Ltd., (iv)
Youzan Teamwork Inc., (v) Qima Teamwork Inc., (vi) Xincheng
Investment Limited, (vii) Baidu (Hong Kong) Limited, (viii) Aves
Capital, LLC, (ix) KDWD Holdings Limited, (x) Ralston Global
Holdings Limited, (xi) Hangzhou San Ren Yan Xing Investment
Partnership (LLP) MM =Z1C R ERESE X (BREE)),
(xii) Franchise Fund LP (xiii) Happy Zan Holdings Limited, (xiv)
Tembusu HZ Il Limited, (xv) Matrix Partners China Ill, LP (xvi)
Matrix Partners China IlI-A, LB (xvii) GCYZ Holdings Limited
and (xviii) GCQM Holdings Limited (collectively, the “Sellers”)
(the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire (the “Acquisition”),
and each of the Sellers has conditionally and severally agreed
to sell 812,310,975 ordinary shares of Youzan Technology
Inc. (“Youzan Technology”), representing approximately
48.10% of the issued share capital of Youzan Technology
as at 23 May 2023 in aggregate, at a total consideration of
HK$2,618,999,998.02, which shall be satisfied entirely by the
Company allotting and issuing 14,549,999,989 Shares (the
“Consideration Shares”) to the Sellers at completion of the
Acquisition.

Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement took place
on 29 December 2023. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2023, the
circular of the Company dated 30 November 2023, and the
announcements of the Company dated 27 December 2023 and
29 December 2023.
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For more details, please refer to note 50(a) to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
material acquisitions and/or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant
investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no specific plans for
any material investments or capital assets.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 914 (2022: 838)
trademarks registered, of which all trademarks have been
approved. At the same time, the Group had 65 software
copyrights (2022: 52) and 20 patents (2022: 18) in the PRC.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has 1,750 employees
(2022: 1,952). The decrease in employees was mainly
attributable to the Group's rational arrangement of R&D
investment and optimization of its organizational structure.
The Group’s employees are remunerated according to their
performance and work experience. In addition to basic salaries
and retirement scheme, staff benefits include performance
bonus, share options and share awards etc. The Directors
believe that good quality of its employees is a company asset
which affects growth and improves profitability. The Group
recognizes the importance of staff training and thus regularly
provides internal and external training for its staff to enhance
their skills and knowledge.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no material
outstanding litigation.

FTHEAEHARAR —FT_=FFHK

FEHBE F2RBWNGREMHREN

£¥50(a) ©

fREXFImBEEN RBEE_T =
+TZR=+—BHLFE AEELEER

HMB AR BMEADREELENE
MEAWER,HHE-

BARKRE

N E_=ZF+_"_B=+—H > KEBE
EFAEMEAKRSE -

%k?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%)\ﬁﬂiﬁéﬂ’ﬂiﬁﬂi%
2

R =F+RA=+—H FxEEL
BEUEAREXNBABLREENARES

&

AR
RIEZ=F+ZA=+—H A&£EE
SEMOI4IEMAIZE (T - 4 :83818) » 2%
PRI ERL A - AR ANEB P E#EEGS
HRGEERE (TS T TF 1 5218) K208
EH(CEZZF 1818 ©

73=

RIE_=ZF+_F=+—H > xE£EH
21,7504 B8 (TS T 2F 1 1,9524) ©
EBERLVFERNAEBRSEZHHAER
AMKRBCAEBIRE - NEE RS HNGF
BN IRHRIBER TEEEBTE  BREXNH
SRIENRFE 2N ETRAIFEERE
B4l BBRERRN R EFERA EE
BRAABINEBEE NERREAERE
BRiIEESBAENZEERE KNERF
MEERIZEEMN  WEHARERMH
P BB R ShREEE FI > LA NN 3R E A BE K EE @ A

2'.:

N
N_E_=F+"RA=+—H > F&&EEI
HE AR RIFER

033



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEUREE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 45 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the directors confirm that the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2023, there were no outstanding
convertible bonds.

WARRANTS

As at 31 December 2023, there were no outstanding warrants.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Options Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 12 June
2019 and terminated the scheme on 29 June 2023 (the “Share
Option Scheme 2019"). The termination of the Share Option
Scheme 2019 will not affect the validity of the outstanding share
options, which may continue to be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme 2019 and the GEM
Listing Rules.

In addition, on 20 January 2023, the Company offered to
grant 14,450,000 share options (the “Options”) to 36 eligible
participants (the “Grantees”) to subscribe for ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the
“Shares”) under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 12 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and
the scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme as
refreshed on 12 May 2020, subject to the acceptance of the
Options by the Grantees. Exercise price for each Share Option
is HK$0.385 per Share. Details are set forth in the Company’s
announcement dated on 20 January 2023.

On 29 June 2023, the shareholders of the Company have
approved at the 2023 Annual General Meeting a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”). No share
options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the
New Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Set out below are the details of movements in the outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2019 during

the year ended 31 December 2023:

Share Option Scheme 2019

—E-hFRRESE

UTFHENEE_ZET_=F#+_"_/F=+—8
IEEFEEREBE_E—AEBREFBELRZ
B RIT R AR > B E AR

Grant Lapsed Cancelled Exercise
Position held Date of Asat during during  during  during Exercise
within the Company ~ grant 112023  theyear  theyear theyear theyear Asat3112.2023 price  Exercisable from Exercisable until
i’
Z5IZE RIBZZE
REARREZES HEAH -A-B  FMEN  ERXN FAEE EROR +ZRSt-A e ik ATz
(HKS)
(Er)
Name of selected
Directors
EFEsLL
Mr. Zhu Ling Executive Director and 9 September 2019
chief executive officer 100,000,000 - - - - 100,000,000 HK$100B7T 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
RERE ANEZRERYNE ZZ-AFNBAB ZZIEREA-H () “Z_MERA=TH
20 January 2023 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  HKS0.385%7 20 January 2024 (Note 2 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-A4H ZTIRE-AZHEMEY)  ZEINE-BHAR
Mr. Cui Yusong Executive Director 9 September 2019 20,000,000 - - - - 20000000  HKS0.90%7 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
ERARE s “Z-hERANA ZZIEREA-H (0 “Z_ME/A=TH
20 January 2023 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 HKS0.385%7 20 January 2024 (Note 2 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-AHH ZIIRE-AZHAMEY)  ZEINE-FBHAE
Mr. YuTao Executive Director 9 September 2019 15,000,000 - - - - 15000000  HKSO.90%7T 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
REEE anEs “E-hERANA ZE2RECA-H(N) “E_ME/A=TH
20 January 2023 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  HK$0.385%7c 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
ZBIZE-AHH ZTIRE-AZHAMEY)  ZEINE-RBTAE
Ms. Ying Hangyan Executive Director 9 September 2019 15,000,000 - - - - 15000000  HKSO.907T 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
gt EGEE “E-hWERANA ZE2RECA-H () “E_ME/A=TH
20 January 2023 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  HK$0.385%7c 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
Z2IZE-AHH ZTIRE-AZHAMMEHY)  ZEINE-BtAE
Other employees 9 September 2019 128,804,000 - (37552,000) - - 91252000  HKSO.757 1 July 2020 (Note 1) 30 June 2024
] “E-1ENANA ZE2RECA-H () “E_MERA=TH
20 January 2023 - 10,450,000 (650,000) - - 9,800,000 HKS0.385%7 20 January 2024 (Note 2) 19 January 2028
ZE_-%-AZ+H ZEIME-AIR(E) ZECNE-AtAR
Total
ELE 278.804,000 14,450,000  (38,202,000) - - 255,062,000
Note 1: Vesting schedule
MiEE1 © REREX
1 July 2020 25%
—TTEFtLHA—H
1 July 2021 25%
2 —Ft+tA—H
1 July 2022 25%
—E"HtHA—H
1 July 2023 25%
—ET=FtA—H
Note 2: 100% of the options shall be vested on 20 January 2024.
MizE2 © 100%EREBN _Z_MNE—A_+HEB-

Details of the Share Option Scheme 2019 and the New Share
Option Scheme are set out in Note 49(a) to the consolidated

financial statement.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 31 May 2018 (the “"Adoption Date") aimed
to recognise the contributions by eligible persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Adoption Date unless early terminated by the
Board.

For details of these share awards, please refer to Note 49(b) to
the consolidated financial statement.

The table below sets out details of share awards granted to
various participants/categories of participants (the “Awarded

AR iR EERh =2
$@TE_V—A¢£H +—8 (M54
A1) SR —TERRA SR 5 B) (TRR1% 52
ﬁ%ﬂ’aﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬁAiZE%ﬁﬁ
BERMEEM WG BRERBNEER
Zﬁ%%L&%@’m%¢$IZ@—ﬁ

BRINS|IGEAB BRIFEETIRALL
TR B JriIJE%“’,\WEIHHtmEWﬁ
R 2 o

ERAZSRNEBZFE F2REEY
R AR MIEE49(b) ©
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TREJIROHEBABFETRTESHA
S 2EREERZ RDER (TRENRD)) 5%

Shares”) under the Share Award Scheme: 15
Share awards
TRipeEE
Unvested Unvested
Awards Forfeited/ Awards
asat Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled asat
Date of Purchase 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantee/Category grant Vesting period price 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
KIZIzE
RIEZZ% +28
-A-82 ERRM Z+-82
AN /E RHEH BEM HEE ABERD  EARt  EABE /RE EREE ABESR
(Note 1&2) (Note 3)
(&1 52) (Hi3#3)
Other employee
participants in
aggregate
RtERSHEAH
Fourth Awards: 1 July 2020 Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants are divided into 4 tranches. The first N/A 13,766,000 - 6,523,500 1,187500 - 6,055,000
tranche representing 25% of the awards would be vested when the Selected Participant
completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second,
third and fourth tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and would be vested in the
second, third and fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respectively.
FORER ZB2ERLA-H HTER2RE ENRERN A £ 1IERB225% RN ETSHRE BRUAMKE TER
ARERRRAR-F7RERREEE -5 F-REMMEEREZ225% #H7
ERYBHEES F-RENESERRR.
Sixth Awards: 1 April 2022 and Sixth Awards granted to Selected Participants are divided into 5 types vesting periods: fully NA 10080400 - 8,949,600 1,130,800 - -
1 December 2022 vested on the date of grant, 31 December 2022, 31 March 2023, 30 June 2023 and 30
September 2023.
£7040 RIBESAE S/ NERNACEREN  NRHES “ETTEHTAZ B C TER
BT ZFZAz+-B CBCZERACTHAR-ECCFAACTARERE.
Seventh Awards 15 January 2023 Seventh Awards granted to employees are divided into 2 lots: 2,195,488 Awarded Shares N/A - 5327488 - 202,216 - 5,126,272
will fully vest on 14 January 2024. Another 3,132,000 Awarded Shares are divided into 3
tranches. The first tranche representing 50% of the awards shall vest when the employees
completing 1 year of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second
and third tranches each represent 25% of the awards and shall vest in the second and third
anniversary from the date of grant, respectively
FLRED “¥_=5-B+EA RPREZELREMAAES | 210 08REBRAMN _B_NF-AHBEREE EB
o BI03 130, 000K MR AN A - E-HIRDZ50%  H1 EE R L BHEAE
EZ@”‘HEW% BoE_RE-HEHERBZB% BARERLAN
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Share awards
TRipeEE
Unvested Unvested
Awards Forfeited/ Awards
asat Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled asat
Date of Purchase 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantee/Category grant Vesting period price 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
RI%Z=
RIE_Z% +28
-A-82 FRRN Z+-82
REA/ER RHAE HEH BEE £5E%D EREY EREE gs: ERE  FHEEE
(Note 1&2) (Note 3)
(H&1R2) (Hi3t3)
Eighth Awards 1 April 2023 Eighth Awards granted to Selected Participants are di-vided into 3 lots: (1) 2,747800 Awarded NIA - 33777800 - 4,479,000 - 2929800
Shares will fully vest on 31 March 2024; (2) Another 12,131,000 Awarded Shares are
divided into 4 tranches. The first and second tranche each represent 20% of the awards
shall vest when the Selected Participant completing 1 year of continuous service to the
Group from the date of grant. The third and fourth tranches each repre-sent 30% of the
awards shall vest in the third and fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respective-ly;
(3) The remaining 18,899,000 Awarded Shares are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards shall vest when the Selected Participant completing 1
year of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second, third and
fourth tranches each represent 25% of the awards shall vest in the second, third and fourth
anniversary from the date of grant, respectively.
F1\REE “F2ZkmR-H RPERSEAZENRRBAAINS (1) 2 MI800REBRHKN _F_0E=F TR
Z+-HR2EE; (25512,131,000REBRAD At E-RE-HEREREHZ
0% BREESEABREAERNARERAAS - FLEERBRER E2RE
M &{HLE230% BARIERE REEE=REDEREBE (35718899000
REBRAN A E-1IERDZ25% ARERSRABRLAEERALARA
AE-EZERBRRER -3 FRENLARRD220% BANERL AR
£ B-RENEEEASRE.
Ninth Awards 1 July 2023 Ninth Awards granted to employess are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche representing N/A - 3,071,000 - - - 3,071,000
25% of the awards would be vested when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date of grant. The second, third and fourth
tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and would be vested in the second, third and
fourth anniversary from the date of grant, respectively.
FNRER “2_-Fth-A RPREZENTEBI AU F-1HIERE200% BINERSRABRE BHEREE TER
Bxnal-F7RERREEE -3 FoREMMEERD225% #HREET
RERE_ $-REDERENRR.
23846400 42176288 15473100 6,999,516 - 43850072
Note =
1. The Awarded Shares were granted at nil consideration. The 1. HEROMILEEREE -R_2Z=5—A8

fair value of
2023, 1 April

the Awarded Shares granted on 15 January
2023 and 1 July 2023 were HK$0.27 HK$0.208

and HK$0.14 per Awarded Share, respectively, which was
determined based on the market price of the Shares as at the

date of grant.

2. The closing price of Shares immediately before the date of
grant of the Awarded Shares of 15 January 2023, 1 April 2023
and 1 July 2023 were HK$0.3, HK$0.19 and HK$0.14 per
Awarded Share, respectively.
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3. The weighted average closing price of the Awarded Shares
immediately before the dates on which the Awarded Shares
were vested during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
HK$0.24.

4. The numbers of share awards available for grant under the
Share Award Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023 were 139,734,843 Shares and 104,558,071 Shares,
respectively.

5. There is no performance target attached to the Awarded Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee has made recommendation to the Board in relation
to the grant of award shares to the grantees who were the
employees of the Company (the “Grantees”).

Grant of award Shares under the Share Award Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 42,176,288
Awarded Shares were granted to the Grantees (non of whom is
a Director or five highest paid individual) under the Share Award
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Award Scheme was
148,108,143 Shares, representing 0.45% of the total number of
issued Shares. The total number of Shares that may be issued
in respect of options and awards granted under all schemes of
the Company during the year divided by the weighted average
number of the Shares in issue during the year is 0.23%.
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Major Terms of the Share Award Scheme
The major terms of the Share Award Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(1)

2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Eligible participants
Eligible participants include employee participants of
any member of the Group, service providers and related
entity participants.

Vesting Period

The rules of the Share Award Scheme do not prescribe
any uniform or specific vesting period for share awards
granted thereunder. Subject to the terms and conditions
of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfillment of all
relevant vesting conditions (if any), the awarded shares
shall vest in the selected grantee in accordance with
a vesting schedule determined at the discretion of the
Board.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
award and the period within which payment or calls must
or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

None. Selected grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept award shares.

The basis of determining the purchase price of Shares
awarded

Not applicable as there is no purchase price under the
Share Award Scheme.

The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme

Subject to any early termination determined by the Board
in accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme,
the Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on its adoption date (i.e. from
31 May 2018 to 30 May 2028). The remaining life of the
Share Award Scheme shall be approximately 4 years and
2 months, as at the date of this report.
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Youzan Technology Share Award Plan A

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6
May 2021, the Company adopted the Youzan Technology Share
Award Plan A (the “Plan A") on 6 May 2021.

(1)

2)

(3)

4)

(5)

040

Purpose of the Plan A

To recognize the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to give incentives thereto in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries
("Youzan Technology Group”).

Eligible participants

Eligible participants include any employee (including
directors and members of senior management) of any
member of Youzan Technology Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Plan
A

As of 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023,
106,428,391 shares of Youzan Technology were available
for being granted to eligible participants.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under
the Plan A

No maximum entitlement of each eligible participant was
set.

Exercisable period under the Plan A
No exercise period for the awarded shares under the Plan
A was set.
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(6) Vesting Period under the Plan A
The rules of the Plan A do not prescribe any uniform
or specific vesting period for share awards granted
thereunder.

(7)  Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
award under the Plan A and the period within which
payment or calls must or may be made or loans for such
purposes must be repaid
None. Selected grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept award shares.

(8) The basis of determining the purchase price of shares
awarded
Not applicable as there is no purchase price under the
Plan A.

(9)  Remaining life of the Plan A
No expiration date for the awarded shares under the Plan
A was set.

No share awards have been granted by the Board under the
Plan A since its adoption date.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 47 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 147 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders. However,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately RMB8,195,234,000 (2022: approximately
RMB6,420,355,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

ISSUE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES AND
FEE SHARES

On 29 December 2023, the Company (i) issued 14,549,999,989
Consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$0.18 per Share
to the Sellers as the consideration for the Acquisition; and (i)
issued 6,666,666 Fee Shares at the issue price of HK$0.18 per
Share to Oriental Patron Asia Limited as remuneration for its
financial advisory services to the Company in connection with
the Acquisition.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Bye-Laws and the laws in Bermuda in relation to the
issue of new shares by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries and associates are
set out in notes 23 and 24 respectively to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Details of the Group's Share Option Schemes and Share
Award Scheme are set out in note 49 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

042

BBE - hENBE EihEsF

FRRAABDNEFEAMNBEBADHERE
HERBERIERNERT LHES-

BITRERMRERRG

ATBC=F+"RB+AH EAFHL
E1TESMR0.188 T8 1714,549,999,989%
RERBFER  FARBEEZRE, &
(iU BT EEPR0.188 7T 3176,666,666%
ERAROTFRAETMBRAR  EAHET
WREEER AL BIREMEE B RS 2 3k
B o

BrchEER

FAT AT R E R R EA R
7% 2 B 847 IR B0 48 5 B B M B0 (R 1 1
X o

M8 AT K Hi= AT
AARBMBADRME AR BB
FOBEMY AR & B RS B R M 2824 0

ESEH
7 52 B 0 B8 B 18 1 80 e AR 4 5% B 5t 1 31
WHBEM AR & B RS R R M aR40 o

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTRSS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 54 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, other than the
continuing connected transactions of the Group set out below
which should be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules,
no related party transactions disclosed in note 54 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022

On 27 April 2022, the Company entered into a
supplemental loan agreement 2022 with Youzan
Technology Inc. (“Youzan Technology”), pursuant to which
the parties have agreed to revise the previous annual
caps for an unsecured loan facility from HK$480 million
to HK$900 million, HK$900 million and HK$I00 million
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2024,
respectively. The above transaction has been approved
by the independent shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2022. For
further details of the above transaction, please refer to
the announcement and circular of the Company dated 27
April 2022 and 20 May 2022, respectively.
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Major terms

The principal terms of the Supplemental Loan Agreement
2022 are as follows:

Date

Lender
Borrower
Revised Loan

amount

Proposed Revised
Annual Caps

Conditions
precedent

27 April 2022

The Company
Youzan Technology

Not exceeding HK$900 million at
any time every year, inclusive of the
principal loan amount and interest.

The proposed Revised Annual
Caps in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Supplemental
Loan Agreement 2022 for each of
the three financial years ended 31
December 2024 is HK$900 million,
HK$900 million and HK$900 million,
respectively.

The abovementioned Revised Annual
Caps are determined with reference
to, among others, the current
business plan of Youzan Technology
Group.

The Supplemental Loan Agreement
2022 shall be effective upon the
obtaining of the approval from
the Independent Shareholders by
the Company in relation to the
transactions contemplated under the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022
in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Reasons for and benefits of entering into the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that the loan facility to be provided
to Youzan Technology is a mark of the continuous
support the Company given to Youzan Technology, being
a subsidiary of the Group which provides significant
revenue contribution to the Group and is crucial to
the Group’s business operations. To facilitate Youzan
Technology Group’'s business expansion, the Company
expects that a proposed Revised Annual Cap for the
Supplemental Loan Agreement 2022 of HK$900 million
is appropriate, after having considered the business
development plan of Youzan Technology which mainly
focusing on research and development and marketing,
in order to maintain its competitiveness coping with
the challenging market competition of ecommerce
platform industry and the continuing impact brought
by the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic. For research
and development, Youzan Technology Group plans to
(i) widen product range of ecommerce applications, (ii)
expand and strengthen construction of new system
functions and (iii) enhance in infrastructure construction,
with an aggregate estimated spending of approximately
RMB620 million. For its marketing plan, it plans to spend
an estimated RMB260 million approximately, mainly for
advertising through various online channels and engaging
more distribution agents by the Youzan Technology
Group. Youzan Technology Group plans to execute the
abovementioned business development plan by utilising
the loan amount from the Loan Agreement 2022 (as
supplemented) throughout the three years ending 31
December 2024.
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HEEREE
2. The 2023 Services Framework Agreement

On 30 December 2022, Hangzhou Youzan entered
into the 2023 Services Framework Agreement with
Hangzhou Aiguang Network Information Service Co.,
Ltd. ("Hangzhou Aiguang Network”), pursuant to which
Hangzhou Youzan shall provide various services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network, including but not limited
to workplace leasing, computer and server leasing,
customer service advisory, administrative management
consulting and other services. The major terms of the
2023 Services Framework Agreement are as follows:

Date: 30 December 2022

Parties: (i) Hangzhou Youzan; and

(i) Hangzhou Aiguang Network

Terms: The 2023 Services Framework Agreement
is of a term commencing from 1 January
2023 and ending on 31 December 2025
(both days inclusive).

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
the following types of services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network subject
to the terms and conditions of the 2023
Services Framework Agreement:

Scope of
services:

1. Workplace leasing services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
office space and equipment for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network's staff
to carry out its day-to-day business
activities;
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it £35S

Computer and server leasing
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
computer and server facilities for
Hangzhou Aiguang Network to
carry out its day-to-day business
activities;

Customer service advisory
services

Hangzhou Youzan shall assist
Hangzhou Aiguang Network in
resolving customer enquiries;

Administrative management
consulting services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
consultation services to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network concerning
administrative management issues;

Other services

Hangzhou Youzan shall provide
other miscellaneous services to
Hangzhou Aiguang Network pert
aining to its day-to-day operations.
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Pricing policy and
payment terms:

Proposed annual
caps:

Workplace leasing services

The service fee was determined principally
by arm’s length commercial negotiations
between the parties with reference to
and shall not be lower than the quotations
obtained (from time to time) from
Independent Third Parties in relation to
similar services provided by them.

Computer and server leasing services,
customer service advisory services,
administrative management consulting
services and other service.

The service fees was determined
principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations between the parties with
reference to (i) the operating costs
incurred in relation to the provision of the
services by Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou
Aiguang Network and (ii) the service
fees of similar services provided by the
Group (including Hangzhou Youzan) to
Independent Third Parties (if any).

The service fees shall not be lower than (i)
the service fees charged to Independent
Third Parties for similar services provided
by the Group (including Hangzhou Youzan)
and (i) the operating costs incurred in
relation to the provision of the services by
Hangzhou Youzan to Hangzhou Aiguang
Network plus a markup of 5%.

The proposed annual caps in respect of
the transactions contemplated under the
2023 Services Framework Agreement
for each of the three years ending 31
December 2025 is RMB2,500,000,
RMB2,500,000 and RMB2,500,000
respectively.
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Confirmation from Auditor of the Company and the
Independent Non-executive Directors in relation to the
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 "Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group as mentioned above in accordance with Rule
20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined

in the Listing Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing the transactions on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company'’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions
involve the provision of goods or services by the
Group;

3. were entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreement governing

the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap.
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Use of Net Proceeds Raised from the Placing
of New Shares Under General Mandate on 18

January 2022

On 18 January 2022, a total of 810,792,000 Shares have been
placed by the placing agents to not fewer than six placees at
the placing price of HK$0.385 per Share under general mandate
(the "Placing of New Shares”). The following table sets forth the
Company'’s use of the proceeds from the Placing of New Shares
as of 31 December 2023. The net proceeds from the Placing
received by the Company, after deducting all related costs,
fees, expenses and commission, amount to approximately

HK$309.01 million.

Original allocation of the

net proceeds as disclosed in

the announcement dated

11 January 2022 and 18 January 2022
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Remaining balance of net
proceeds as at

31 December 2023
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() Approximately HK$247.21 million
will be used for system upgrade, product
development and marketing expenses
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(1) Approximately HK$30.90 million will be used
for additional funding for potential strategic
investments and acquisitions

(I #930,900,0008 TAFETBREER
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(1) Approximately HK$30.90 million will be used for

general working capital of the Group
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Approximately HK$24721 million was used for Nil

the original purpose
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Approximately HK$30.90 million was used for  Nil

the original purpose

£930,900,0008 TR R AEENA i

Approximately HK$30.9 million was used for  Nil

the original purpose

#930,900,0008 T R BAEN H i

051



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEERSS

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to bye-law 178 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
the directors, managing directors, alternate director, auditors,
secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own willful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty
respectively, and none of them shall be answerable for the
acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other of them, or
for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for any
bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or
for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which
any moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or
for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation
thereto, except as the same shall happen by or through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

Such provision was in force during the year. In addition, the
Company has also maintained directors and officers liability
insurance during the year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events occurred after the reporting
period.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Ning

Mr. Cui Yusong

Mr. Yu Tao

Ms. Ying Hangyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Fong Chi Wah

Mr. Deng Tao

Mr. Li Shaojie

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Ning, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Mr. Cui Yusong, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Mr. Yu Tao, an executive director, has renewed a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 May 2021.

Ms. Ying Hangyan, an executive director, has renewed a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 May 2021.

Dr. Fong Chi Wah, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 19 December 2021. Dr. Fong has
served on the Board for more than 10 years but he has never
held any executive or management position in our Group nor
has he throughout such period been under the employment of
any member of our Group. Dr. Fong has demonstrated his ability
to provide an independent view to the Company’s matters. The
Directors noted the positive contributions Dr. Fong made to the
development of the Company. Dr. Fong Chi Wah has given the
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules to the Company.
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The nomination committee of the Company has assessed and is
satisfied of the independence of Dr. Fong. The Board considers
that the long services of Dr. Fong would not affect his exercises
of independent judgments, notwithstanding his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the
Board is of the view that Dr. Fong is able to continue to fulfill his
roles as required.

Mr. Deng Tao, an independent non-executive director, has
renewed letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 8 May 2021.

Mr. Li Shaojie, an independent non-executive director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with Company for a term of
three years commencing from 18 March 2022.

In accordance with bye-laws 99 and 102(B) of the Bye-Laws,
Dr. Fong Chi Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and Mr. Li Shaojie will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
"AGM") and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company which is not determinable by
our Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Company to which the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")) which (i) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (iii) were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

EERESITHRAERATARHH
ARk AR BIAR(S ~ 1BRARR (D K fRHE

gAY R

RIEZ=F+ZHB=+—H ' FEAR
NERBITBABR AR BN E A8 H
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&5 (13825 R HRE &) SEXVER) Z Bg15 ~
RN REEE T A ()RS5 &
E&BEXVEBFET R8N WA G AT K
MRz Em I ke (B1ERESE S K
ERABRBXHIERRATEZER
KRB ; WiNRIEFE RIS FEH 5352
& FRE A 50 A BZ IR P all & 50 it 2 A 2 T3k
B iR EGEM MR AI555.46 5.6 71%
ERESETESIZZIREENEEAR
Bl R 2 R BX BT ¢

Long Position in Shares

RRRZES
Interest in Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares | underlying shares in shares Shareholding
5% MRz | RMERERMN 2R &R 2 et RHET DL
Mr. Zhu Ning 28,000,000 100,000,000 7433,5632,082 22.54
ABRE 1,440,601,703 (('\ﬁ'{fjf“;f))
(Note 1) i
(P93E1)
363,170,101 1,000,000
(Note 2) (Note 6)
(MFzE2) (MI5E6)
4,303,604,065
(Note 1)(Note 7)
(Py5E1) (F5E7)
1,197156,213
(Note 2)(Note 7)
(MF5E2) (MI5E7)
Mr. Cui Yusong 8,900,000 20,000,000 740,453,962 2.25
AN
EERMAE 241,885,127 ((hglé)ﬁ;))
(Note 3) ;
(MI5E3)
468,668,835 1,000,000
(Note 3)(Note 7) (Note 6)
(MF5E3) (PMI5E7) (MF5E6)
FEAEARAT —E_-E£7 055
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Long Position in Shares
RRHBZEE

Interest in Total interest %
Directors Interest in shares | underlying shares in shares Shareholding
5% RRz ¥z | AR 2= i A Y B SLE
Mr. Yu Tao 13,848,000 15,000,000 29,848,000 0.09
AT (Note 5)
(MF5E5)
1,000,000
(Note 6)
(Ffy5E6)
Ms. Ying Hangyan 852,000 15,000,000 16,852,000 0.05
RSt 22 £ (Note 5)
(F$5E5)
1,000,000
(Note 6)
(yzE6)
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.003
FEERLT
Mr. Li Shaojie 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.003
S
Note 1: The shares are held by Whitecrow Investment Ltd. st i EZZERH HWhitecrow Investment Ltd.

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:
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(“Whitecrow"). Whitecrow is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Ning.

The shares are held by Youzan Teamwork Inc. (“Youzan
Teamwork”). Youzan Teamwork is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. As at 31
December 2023, Youzan Teamwork was owned as to 8% by
Mr. Zhu Ning, and 18% by Whitecrow.

The shares are held by V5.Cui Investment Ltd. (“V5.Cui”).
V5.Cui is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and is 100% beneficially owned by Mr.
CuiYusong.

The Company granted the share options under New Share
Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options are valid until 30 June 2024 and have an exercise
price of HK$1.00.

The Company granted the share options under New Share
Option Scheme on 9 September 2019, and was approved at
the special general meeting on 14 October 2019. The share
options are valid until 30 June 2024 and have an exercise
price of HK$0.90.
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Note 6: The Company granted the share options under Share Option
Scheme on 20 January 2023. The share options are valid until
19 January 2028 and have an exercise price of HK$0.385.

Note 7: The shares are issued by the Company on 29 December 2023

upon completion of the acquisition of approximately 48.10%
equity interest in Youzan Technology. Details are set forth in
the Company's announcement dated on 29 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS I ZRRIRAATE R ARG
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, SRR R
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2023, there was R FXFIREEIN R _TE_=F+_H

no other person (other than a director or chief executive of the =-+—H »#EZAKXATREFEF KAGHAG

Company) who had any interests and short positions in the 336fF%‘BHFHIECMPTCER > B EH M

shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in AL (RABEFHESITHAERIN K

the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO. KRB RABRERRD PR T m
Y=

Long Position in Shares

R ZEE
Name of Number of interest %
substantial shareholders Capacity in shares Shareholding
IERFAE 5% REHzEZHE %R HEE AL
ZHU NING Beneficial owner Em A A 7433,532,082 22.54
Whitecrow Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner B #E A 5,744,205,768 1742
(Note 1) (Bf5E1)
Double Peace Limited Interests of controlled corporation b,744,205,768 1742
(Note 1) (H5E1) REHIEREDR
Tricor Equity Trustee Limited Trustee 5,744,205,768 1742
(Note 1) (FffE1) ZEEA
Qima Teamwork Inc. Beneficial owner B #E A 1,906,330,379 5.78
Tembusu HZ Il Limited Beneficial owner Em A A 1,716,882,271 5.21
Zuo Lingye Beneficial owner Bz # A A 1,716,882,271 5.21
Shanghai Jingwei Equity Investment Beneficial owner B #E A 1,716,882,271 5.21

Management Co., Ltd.
HARAREREERERAG

Hangzhou Jingwei Tengchuang Beneficial owner Em#HEA A 1,716,882,271 5.21
Investment Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

MMEREAREEERREE
(BREH)

Jingwei Chuangda (Huangzhou) Venture | Beneficial owner Em# A A 1,716,882,271 5.21
Investment Limited Partnership
RBEIE (N BIERERBE

(BRE®)

Note 1: Whitecrow is a company incorporated in the British Virgin  FizE1 : WhitecrowA R EBREZHESHEMKAIIZE
Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Double [RAE] HDouble Peace Limited2 & #
Peace Limited. Mr. Zhu Ning is the settlor of a discretionary BoRELEAFBDouble Peace Limited
trust which holds the entire issued share capital of Double 2EHMEBITRANNEELENEFE A
Peace Limited. Tricor Equity Trustee Limited holds the entire Tricor Equity Trustee Limited/E&E)IEE5E
issued share capital of Double Peace Limited as trustee of the BIZ 5L A3FEDouble Peace Limitedpy & Zf
discretionary trust. BT
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year.

FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of financial position of our
Group is set out on pages 351 and 352 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
RSM Hong Kong, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Mr. Zhu Ning
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2023. This report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company's
corporate governance and makes necessary changes at an
appropriate time.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Youzan is a proud career,

In this journey, work and life affect each other, and we have
invested our energy and time. Everyone here is smart enough,
resilient and aggressive. Let us know each other, understand each
other, and achieve mutually. We are partners, friends, and family.
They both pursue their goals and appreciate the scenery along the
way. Enjoy together!

Our mission is:

To help every merchant who values products and services
succeed.

In order to achieve this goal, we will always pay more attention to
“creating long-term value and pursuing sustained growth”; such
a group of people with common temperament will enjoy it, grow
together and enjoy it, Enjoy!

The realization of “long-term value” requires continuous
“creation and acquisition of value”.

On business: Leading more customers to success and gaining their
trust; meanwhile, we also get business returns ourselves.

On Career: Create value for customers, contribute value to the
organization, and enjoy it; at the same time gain personal growth
and generous rewards.

Our vision:

Our vision is to become the most trusted leader in commerce
services and a flourishing organization for outstanding talents.
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This also requires us to do:
Professional

Be skilled, understand business, be good at innovation, and
constantly ask yourself to be more professional

Ownership

Think of everything as your own, full of commitment, courage to
take responsibility, and timely replenishment

Service

Think from the customer's point of view, win word of mouth with
service, and win trust with service

Execution

Direct communication in case of problems, conclusions are
implemented efficiently, and the process is fully synchronized and
coordinated

Result

Continue to create and capture value and pay for results

We believe that human nature is good, respect everyone and strive
to help them to maximize their energy, to use the most energy and

resources to give more incentives to people with positive energy,
and to be true in every principled little matter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The Company’'s corporate
governance practices are based on principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Code during
the year ended 31 December 2023, except for the deviation
from code provision C.2.1 of the Code, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the standard of dealings set out in rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions in securities of the
Company. Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each director
has confirmed that during the year ended 31 December 2023,
he/she had complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board’s fundamental responsibility is to exercise its best
judgment and to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Board is responsible for overseeing the
management’s efforts to promote the Company’s success while
operating in an effective and responsible manner. The Board is
able to delegate and confer on any executive director any of its
powers, authorities and discretions for such time and on such
terms as it thinks fit.

The Board may at any time appoint any person who is willing to
act as a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board. The total number of directors shall not be less
than two nor should it exceed fifteen. Newly-appointed directors
shall retire at the general meeting following the appointment
and shall be eligible for election. The Board may appoint any
director to hold any employment or executive office and may
revoke or terminate any such appointment. Shareholders may,
by ordinary resolution, appoint a person as a director or remove
any director before the expiration of his or her period of office.
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The Board regularly formulates our Group's overall business
strategies and monitors management’s execution of such
strategies.

By discharging its responsibilities, the Board has defined the
business and governance issues for which it needs to be
responsible, and these matters reserved for the Board have
been separately defined, and are reviewed periodically, to
ensure that our Group maintains the proper level of corporate
governance and to ensure they are up to date. In this regard,
the Board:

o determines our Group’s mission, provides its strategic
direction and is responsible for the approval of strategic
plans;

o approves the annual business plan and budget proposed

by management;

o retains full and effective control over our Group and
monitors management with regard to the implementation
of the approved annual budget and business plan;

o appoints the Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the
Board, and ensures that succession is planned;

° approves our Group’s consolidated financial statements,
interim and annual reports;

° determines our Group’s communication policy;
o determines director selection, orientation and evaluation;
o ensures that our Group has appropriate risk

management, internal control, internal audit and
regulatory compliance procedures;

° procedures in place and that it communicates adequately
with shareholders and stakeholders;
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° establishes Board sub-committees with clear terms of

reference and responsibilities as appropriate;

° defines levels of delegation in respect of specific matters,
with required authority to Board sub-committees and
management;

o monitors non-financial aspects pertaining to the business

of our Group;

o considers and, if appropriate, declares the payment of
dividends to shareholders; and

o regularly evaluates our Group's performance and
effectiveness.

To better serve the long-term interests of our stakeholders,
the Board dedicates certain matters which require particular
time, attention and expertise to be devoted to its committee.
The Board has determined that these matters are better dealt
with by the committees as they require independent oversight
and specialist input. As such, the Board has established
five committees to assist the Board: Audit Committee, Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Inside Information Committee. Each of the committees
has a terms of reference which clearly specifies its powers and
authorities. All committees report back to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board should the need arise.
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The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited
to entitling the Directors and Committee members to seek
independent professional advice on matters relating to the
Company where appropriate at the Company’s expense, to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
These mechanisms in place are subject to annual review by the
Board that underpins a strong independent Board.

Biographical Details of Directors

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, consisting of four executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhu Ning, Mr. CuiYusong, Mr. Yu Tao and Ms. Ying Hangyan, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi
Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and Mr. Li Shaojie. Biographical details of
the directors are set out on pages 26 to 29 of this annual report.
The Board complies with the minimum requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has the
appropriate professional qualifications required under Rule 5.05
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Meetings

The Board has adopted good corporate governance practices
and procedures, formal notice of at least 14 days will be given
in respect of a regular meeting. For special board meeting,
reasonable notice will be given. Directors participated, either
in person or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board meets regularly at least
four times every year. The directors participated in person or
through electronic means of communication. All notices of
board meetings were given to all directors, who were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
finalized agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to
all directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting.
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All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group's businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company's expense, if necessary. The Company Secretary
records the proceedings of each board meeting in detail by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed
(if any). All minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on request by any director.

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance of each director at Board, committee meetings,
annual general meeting and special general meeting, whether in
person or by means of electronic communication, is detailed in
the table below:

FIBESEN S BRNENTERERERE
BHEXES)  SIEH AR ERGE
S BEENAREERSREILIEXRR
METHEERE EFRBEAABKIE-
REIMENEBRESTEZNERIFHEF
MM ERLR BEMBESIATKRE
FREMREARENEZ WA) - FW[
EFNERMNAENREERMAYET
480

EEHECE

REFHFEEFE ZETT2 RREBEF
RERRRRFHIARE (MmRSHUB TR
MBI NIBEREFEHN TR

Annual Special
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk General General
Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
BZZEE RAZET 2 HMEET 2 ARZET RREFAT RREIAE
Mr. Zhu Ning 4/4 N/A 17 4/4 N/A 11 0N
REBRE TEH B
Mr. Cui Yusong 4l4 N/A N/A N/A i 17 0/1
ERMEE FEA AEH FEH
Mr. YuTao 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1N 1N 11
AERE TER FEA AEA
Ms. Ying Hangyan 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A n 01
fEmnsti - TEA AR AEH TEA
Dr. Fong Chi Wah 4/4 4/4 1N 4/4 N/A 1 1N
AEERL TER
Mr. Deng Tao 4/4 4/4 1N 4/4 1N il on
WuksE
Mr. Li Shaojie 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 7 0N
FOEESE TEHR TEH TEH
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An annual general meeting was held on 29 June 2023 and
a special general meeting was held on 27 December 2023,
except for the above annual general meeting and special
general meeting, the Company did not hold any other general
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the Board meetings, the Board discussed on a wide range
of matters, including the Group’s overall strategies, financial
and operational performances, approved the annual, interim and
quarterly results of the Group, the appointment of directors,
business prospects, regulatory compliance and corporate
governance, and other significant matters. The company
secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and the senior
management team, prepares the agendas for each meeting
and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary also
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in relation to
the Board meetings are followed. The company secretary sends
notice of the Board meeting to each of the directors at least 14
days in advance of each regular Board meeting. The company
secretary also sends the agendas, board papers and relevant
information relating to the Group to each of the directors at
least three days in advance of each regular Board meeting
and committee meeting, and keeps the directors updated on
the Group's financial performance and latest developments. If
any director raises any queries, steps will be taken to respond
to such queries as promptly and fully as possible. If there is
potential or actual conflict of interests involving a substantial
shareholder or a director, such director would declare his
interest and will abstain from voting on such matters. The
directors may approach the Company's senior management
team when necessary. The directors may also seek independent
professional advice at the Company’'s expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Since 19 February 2021, Mr. Zhu Ning, who has been an
executive director and the chief executive officer of the
Company since May 2018, has also been appointed as the
chairman of the Board. Such practice deviates from the code
provision C.2.1 of the Code.

Mr. Zhu Ning has been the key leadership figure since joining
the Group who has primarily participated in formulation of
business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group,
and has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the
implementation of our business plans, the Directors consider
Mr. Zhu is the best candidate for both positions and this
arrangement is beneficial and in the interests of our Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Board
considers the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the
Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of the
Company are entered into a service contract and letter of
appointment with the Company for a term as stated in pages
53 to b4 of this report. Besides, the procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company's Bye-Laws. According to the Bye-Laws, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election
at annual general meetings of the Company. Any new director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall be eligible
for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting and
any new director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
Board shall be eligible for re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to the factors set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.

Directors’ Training

All directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as
a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, the Company
has put in place training and development programmes for
the directors including: an on-going training and professional
development programmes for directors. The Company regularly
organizes seminars for the directors. In addition, individual
Directors also participated in other courses relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director or further
enhancement of their professional development by way of
online aids or reading relevant materials.
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The following table set out the training records for each director
during the year ended 31 December 2023:

TR EENBE_ZT_=F+28
=+—BHiIFEREIEE :

Reading

training

materials

relating

to the Company'’s

business,

duties and

responsibilities

of being

a Director and

Attendance of regulatory

training sessions requirements

RBEARNTER

EREENHERN

BEUREEENX

Name of Directors EEN4Y IR M RARYIZ AN A

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zhu Ning KELE v v

Mr. Cui Yusong R N e 4 v

Mr. Yu Tao BIEES A 4 v

Ms. Ying Hangyan FEtSE Lz + v v
Independent Non-executive Directors  JEIIJE#MITEE

Dr. Fong Chi Wah HEFL v v

Mr. Deng Tao iy v v

Mr. Li Shaojie =RS e v v
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company's policy and structure of remuneration of
Directors and the senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; (b) to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, provident/retirement benefits and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors; (c) to review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time; (d) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors, senior management in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company; (e) to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual terms and
that any compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and (f) to review and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive
director, namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-
executive directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao. Mr.
Deng Tao is the chairman of the committee. Details of the
remuneration of Directors are set out in note 16(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held four meetings to review and make
recommendations on grants of share option to employees and
directors, to determine the remuneration packages of Directors
and senior management of the Group; to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the adoption of new share
option scheme and amendments to the share award scheme
of the Company; and to review and make recommendations on
grants of Youzan Technology Share Award Plan A to employees
of Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the
remuneration of the members of the Board and the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out below:

BE_Z_=#+_RA=+—HLEE"
FNEZEERTOHXER BREMNEE
EREERLERERHER EELE
BEEREREEASNFHINTSE B6H
S B) BT B B R 5 B BY ER AN K B 15 B2 B
FrEMES TRt mEE S RHER ; KB
REREEERNEERARKENREB AT
NEEREEERERMDZETEAKRG
1RENIE KB o

RETRHNTAMEXEENF B#E_F
“=HF+ZR=+—HIEFE RHEESD
PHEFETHERSREEASRNHFMU
T

Number of
Individuals
Remuneration Band BT | A¥
Nil to RMB2,000,000 T ZF ARK1&2,000,0007T -
RMB2,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR #2,000,0017cE A E14,000,0007T 4
Over RMB4,000,001 H8i A R 14,000,0017T 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 June
2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.3.1 of
the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
mainly include, (a) reviewing and monitoring the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board in light of the Group’s
strategy; (b) identifying qualified individuals to be new Board
members; (c) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors; (d) reviewing and monitoring the
implementation of the board diversity policies of the Group; and
(e) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of Directors and the senior management personnel with
reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the Nomination
Committee members.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive director,
namely Mr. Zhu Ning, and two independent non-executive
directors, Dr. Fong Chi Wah and Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Deng Tao is
the chairman of the committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; and to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspective of the board is maintained.

NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to nomination policy, when considering the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors, the Nomination
Committee will consider various factors including the
background, experience and qualification of the proposed
candidate to ensure that he/she possesses the requisite
experience, characters and integrity to act as a Director, and
other criteria with regard to the benefits of diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, skill, knowledge, or professional/business
experience and taking into account the Group's business model
and specific needs.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
supervising annually the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the board of directors according to the Group
strategy, identifying qualified individuals to become new board
members, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors, reviewing and supervising the diversity
policy of the board of directors of the Group implementation.
The Board currently comprises of seven Directors, one of which
is female. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender
Board.

The Nomination Committee considered that the Group achieved
the objectives of its board diversity policy and shall review the
policy and measurable objective at least annually to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.
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Workforce Diversity

The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced, at 46.11%,
representing 807 females out of 1,750 employees (including
senior management), with a slightly higher female employee
base driven by the Organisational Growth division. To support
diversity across all facets, the Group is enhancing diversity
and inclusion efforts through employee networks, mentoring
programmes, equitable hiring practices, policies and awareness
raising events and training for all employees to support inclusive
behaviours.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 30 June 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
mainly include, (a) overseeing the relationship with the external
auditors (b) meeting with the external auditor regularly to
discuss any area of concern during the audit; (c) reviewing
the Group's financial data and information, quarterly results,
interim results and annual consolidated financial statements; (d)
monitoring compliance with statutory and listing requirements;
(e) engaging independent legal or other advisers as it
determines is necessary and to perform any investigations; (f)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures; and (g) reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. Fong Chi Wah, Mr. Deng Tao and
Mr. Li Shaojie. Dr. Fong Chi Wah, who possess the appropriate
processional qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2)
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules, is the chairman of the
committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit
Committee held four meetings to discuss the Group's
announcements and reports for quarterly results, interim results
and annual results. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
the management’s reports and representations with a view to
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
has provided advice and comments thereon.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the external
auditors.

External Auditor

The Group engaged RSM Hong Kong to provide services in
connection with the audit of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and other professional services.

There was no change in auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding three years.

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company's auditors, RSM Hong Kong, is set out as follows:
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Fees paid/
payables
Services rendered RERIRTE et/ EHER
HK$'000
FET

Audit services ZE RS
— Annual audit —FEEET 2,200
— Reporting accountants — ARG 5HED 3,350
Other assurance services HMIZE R 730
Other non-audit services HMIEZBRF 500
6,780
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DIRECTOR’S AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FORTHE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
in accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and the auditors’
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report
in this annual report.

RISK COMMITTEE

The Risk Committee was established on 30 May 2016. The
primary duties of the Risk Committee are to review the
responsibilities of risk management and internal control
system and internal audit function, and effectively fulfills other
responsibilities set out in the Code.

The Risk Committee consist of two executive directors, namely
Mr. Cui Yusong and Mr. Yu Tao, and one independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Deng Tao. Mr. Yu Tao is the chairman of
the committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Committee
held one meeting to review and make recommendation to the
Board on the current risk exposures and future risk strategy of
the Company, and the effectiveness of the risk management
system and internal control system of the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company's internal audit department reviews the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group's internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate. And then provides
independent opinion to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management concerning the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. To further strengthening the
supervision of related work, the internal audit department
conducted special internal audits on the security of anti-
money laundering, payment sensitive information, and personal
financial information in 2023.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of
meetings with management of business groups, internal control
department, legal, and the external auditor, reviewing the
relevant work reports, information of key performance indicators
and the management self-assessment on internal control and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company.

Risk Management Report

Risk management is an integral part of the Group's business
planning, implementation and review process. Apart from
traditional management of operational risks such as safety
and plant integrity, the Group’s risk management universe
encompasses a broader scope of risks that include risks
associated with strategies, policies, financial, human resources,
intellectual properties, techniques and network management.

Principal Risks

The Group’s business operations and financial conditions may
be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to the Group's
businesses, which mainly include the operational risks, financial
risks, market risks and regulatory risks.
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Operational risks are those relating to the Group's internal
processes, including but not limited to potential misconduct
of employees and fraud, which may bring significant adverse
impact on the Group's business operations and reputation.
Failures of information technology systems will result in
interruption of the operation of the Group and potential leakage
of confidential information. Operational risks may also result
from emergencies and unexpected events such as natural
hazards. In view of such risks, relevant operation policies and
procedures have been adopted and are in place to ensure
that the daily operation of the Group is in compliance with the
relevant requirements of laws and regulations. Internal reporting
procedures have been established and when any suspected
case of employee misconduct and/or fraud arises, any staff can
report directly to the management. The staff handbook has also
stipulated that employee misconduct and fraud are prohibited.
The Group places considerable value on data security and
data privacy. The computer systems are secured with access
controls, while maintenance and update are conducted regularly
by the information technology services providers.

Financial risks include liquidity risk in the Group’s normal
course of business. Liquidity risk refers to the Group's ability in
maintaining sufficient fund to meet the liquidity requirements.
To ensure the Group maintains sufficient capital and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements, the cash flows projection
of the Group is reviewed on a regular basis. For the business
of the Group, the financial resources are regularly reviewed
to ensure that the financial reserve of the Group can meet
the liquid capital requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations.

Market risks relate to the change in macroeconomic conditions
and fluctuation of market variables such as gross domestic
product, exchange rates, equity prices and property prices in
China. These risks may generally affect market and merchants’
demands which may lead to adverse impact on the Group’s
revenue. The Group would from time to time fine-tune the
Group’s business strategies, policies and procedures according
to the market situation.
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Regulatory risks may arise from potential default of the Group in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group’s business and any future
changes in the relevant laws and regulations. Non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations may bring various
consequences to the Group.

The Board is of the view that for the year ended 31 December
2023, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by
staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and
that such staff receives appropriate and sufficient training
and development. Based on the result of work of the Risk
Committee, the Board also believes that sufficient resources
have been obtained for the Company’s internal audit function
and that its staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budgets are sufficient.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of
the Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had
reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company'’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of GEM Listing Rules on
Securities Transaction, Code of Conduct, and the Company’s
compliance with the Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

FTEEEARAT —T_=FFH

%%@@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%@%%?ﬁ%%@&
%%ﬁ*ﬁ_“%ﬁi%ﬁ HEEREBAE

)&E%&@&&ﬁz&ﬁ%kgﬁﬁé
FoABTHEMERRERAENAER
BQEBER-

RBE-S-_—E+-A=+—OLEE
Me EEARAAATNEAREERA
METABERRAER

o EFEEM ARG RMBR
SHECHRANEEEBEESERER
WETET BEZFETEEIGHEMRE
DHEIIRER - ERAREEEHNIF
RO EBFGNEM AATNABEFZH

ERHNER HETERF &R 15
st RBESE TR ES

>
=p

ES=P
Ef=

AyEE

it
s BATFRIBSFRMESCEA 2. 1{&
£ ERBAE ©

=
=}

mwﬁw
jn]

i
-HIEEW]]]H’f

BE_Z_=#+"_A=+—HILEE>
BEEEBERTARENEEEABRERE
R ESNohEEBNEIINFEE:
BENARBETEEREERTE LT
GEM_EM#RBISE5.48E5 671X 5

%\ﬁ%?%&ﬁﬁﬂL*?WMﬁ%&
B TERAEEERREARE-

079



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
The joint company secretaries of the Company are Ms. Han Xia
and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit is an assistant
vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
corporate services. Mr. Cheng Ching Kit's primary corporate
contact person at the Company is Ms. Han Xia.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Han Xia and
Mr. Cheng Ching Kit have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting and putting
forward proposals

Pursuant section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
shareholders shall have a right to request the Board to
convene a special general meeting of the Company (“SGM").
Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth
(10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company may send a written
requisition to the Board to request for convening a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the SGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and must be deposited at the
Company'’s principal place of business at Unit 1511, 15/F, Shui
On Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three (3) months from the said date.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATIONS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Company’s performance to shareholders through
the publication of quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
report. In addition to publishing circulars, notices and financial
reports to shareholders, additional information is also available
to shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.
hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.chinayouzan.com), which
is updated regularly. The annual general meeting provides a
useful forum for shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
annual general meetings for which the Company gives at
least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman, Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company’s
businesses at the meeting. The Company values feedback from
shareholders on its effort to promote transparencies and foster
investor relationships.

The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Company and believes that it was effective during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or
requisitions to bring to the attention of the Board through the
following methods:

Address: Unit 1511, 15/F

Shui On Centre

No. 6-8 Harbour Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Email: investor@youzan.com
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Shareholders, investors and members of the public should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's Hong Kong Share Registrar. The contact details for
the Hong Kong Share Registrar are as follows:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers cash or other methods deemed
appropriate by the Board to declare and pay dividends
to shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). In
recommending dividends to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company's profits, the Board would also
ensure the Company has adequate reserves for future growth.
The Board's decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of Shareholders. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to
any applicable restrictions under the laws of the Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye Laws and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Bye-laws of the Company have been amended and restated
on 29 June 2023, and the updated versions are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Save for
the aforesaid, there had been no change in the Bye-laws of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Youzan Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to
as the “Group” or “we") are pleased to publish our 2023
environmental, social and governance report (hereinafter
referred to as “"ESG Report” or this “Report”) to disclose
the environmental, social and governance (hereinafter
referred to as "ESG") endeavour of the Group as well as
its efforts in practising sustainable development.

Reporting Standard

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(hereinafter referred to as the “Guide”) as contained
in Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
It aims to disclose material ESG issues. This Report
is in strict compliance with the mandatory disclosure
requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guide,
the “"Comply or Explain” provisions and four reporting
principles, including:

Materiality: We have identified and disclosed the process
and criteria for material ESG issues in the Report. We
have also identified and disclosed key stakeholders, the
process and results of stakeholder engagement in the
ESG Report.

Quantitative: The statistical criteria, methods,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used in the ESG
Report for reporting emissions, and the sources of
conversion factors are defined in the Report.
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Balance: The ESG Report presents the Group's
performance during the reporting period in an impartial
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation
formats that may unduly influence the decisions or
judgments of readers.

Consistency: The statistical methods used to disclose
data in the ESG Report are consistent with those of last
year. If there is any change, it will be clearly stated in the
Report for stakeholders’ reference.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, this Report focuses on the
performance of the core business of the Group from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (this “Year”). The
environmental key performance indicators during this
Year cover Hangzhou, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen, Chengdu and Hong Kong.

Reporting Language

This Report is published in traditional Chinese and English
versions. In case of discrepancies, the traditional Chinese
version shall prevail.

Approval and Confirmation

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Group is
fully responsible for what is reported in this Report.
The internal control and formal review procedures of
the Group have been established to ensure that all data
presented in this Report are as accurate and reliable
as possible, and the identified ESG material issues are
covered. This Report has already been reviewed and
approved by the Board on 21 March 2024.

Feedback Mechanism

We attach great importance to your views and
suggestions on this Report, and you are welcome to
contact us via email (investor@youzan.com).

T ESGRE MR 2RALE
E¥HREHANRE BRI EE NG
EMPERERRYFERIERE B
2 mET

— Bl (ESGHRS HEBIEFTEA
G R A RIS — B A
T BRBETBERRD HEHE

HREEE

BRIESERA AREFERERN
EI-F—HA—HEZIZZ=
+ZB=+—8 (I&RFE)) B9z
EB 2 RIF - AFENIRIZHIESER
ERIERHRERM bR BB
PN SRS BB~ B A&

WERES

AREUEREP XA E M- UAE
8 IER P X R A 732

B s
FEENEFE (EFT) HER
EFMERNABEELHET K&

B SRS R IE B R F R
KRIREFTET NPT A SRS ] SE2E
e 5 B REFTH A NESGEE
MERE ARECHESTGBERLN
_E_ME=ZA_+—HEEZEEg
% o

R eET%
BMEBER BTHARENE
Bz vl BTINUBI;HE
=, (EBFE investor@youzan.com) EAE;
PIEk A% o

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS g kERRS

2. ESG MANAGEMENT

2.1

2.2

PEEEHERAT

Board Statement

The Board believes that sound ESG governance
is critical to the success of the Group. We have
established an ESG management structure and the
Board has overall responsibility for the Group's ESG
issues and is responsible for reviewing our ESG
performance by determining the Group’s overall
ESG strategy and understanding the associated
risks. The Board determines our ESG management
policies, strategies, priorities and objectives and
supervises the management and performance
of these ESG issues by approving the content
of the annual ESG Report. This Year, the Board
reviewed the prioritization of ESG issues and
the management of ESG issues. To continuously
improve the work of sustainable development, we
have reviewed the environmental objectives and
their progress during this Year.

ESG Governance Structure

The Board is the highest level in the Group's
governance structure for ESG issues. It is
ultimately responsible for overseeing the Group's
ESG-related issues, with the ESG Task Force acting
at the organizational level and representatives
from various departments acting at the execution
level. We have established a top-down ESG
governance structure with dedicated authority
and responsibility, which effectively facilitates the
engagement of all departments in ESG work.
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The ESG Task Force consists of representatives
from various functional departments, including
the Administration Department, Organisational
Growth Department, Supervision Department,
Product Centre, Marketing Department (Public
Welfare Line) and Legal Department. The
ESG Task Force is responsible for identifying,
evaluating, reviewing and managing the risks
and opportunities of material ESG issues;
formulating ESG management policies and
ensuring that the Group's operations comply with
the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.
It also reviews and evaluates the Group's ESG
performance and makes recommendations on
areas for improvement. Moreover, the ESG Task
Force actively engages with various stakeholders
to understand and respond to their opinions on
material ESG issues, participates in the preparation
of the annual ESG Report and maintains
communication with the ESG consultant team. The
Task Force continues to coordinate and promote
the implementation of each ESG policy by each
department, monitor the ESG-related work of each
functional department and put forward ESG-related
suggestions to the Board at an appropriate time.

ESG Task Force
ESGEE/H

Person in charge of ESG of each
functional department in every region
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement 23 FpESHE
The Group attaches great importance to FEBRSEERSEERMD
the opinions and concerns of various major ENEBERKBEIEERE BBR
stakeholders. It engages in active communication ENEERIBEAEER FA
with each stakeholder through various channels Tﬁ@%?ﬂﬁ%ﬂ’]%%ﬁ—iﬁ@
to gain a thorough understanding of their opinions Do BMBIINIZAESGRE
and values. We are committed to improving our o UERFEFMNENRE
ESG performance in response to the feedback and RREE

expectations of our major stakeholders.

Major Stakeholders Communication Channels
FTERFNHE BBERE
Customers ° Customer advisory group/customer service
Y center
%‘)5 ain uﬁj/J\ /%_“)E' H&%%EP’D
° Customer satisfaction survey and comment form
ERRRERBHNRRE
o Daily operations/communication
HEEE i
° Online service platform
LR TS
o Telephone
° Mailbox
Bilpe]
Employees ° Staff opinion survey (forms, suggestion boxes, etc.)
BT BTERAE EE 2REH
° Work performance evaluation and interview
T ERIZFTAZ A BE 3¢
o Group discussion
/J\ Eﬂ.nﬂﬂ
o Conference meeting
BE M
° Volunteering activities
ELEE
° Special advisory committee/thematic discussion
group
BB e g EEsTm/NAE
o Staff communication meeting
BTEBRE
o Staff intranet
BTN
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Communication Channels

Major Stakeholders

Annual general meeting and other general meetings

TEFRE BERE
Shareholders/Investors
RE/KBEE

of shareholders

RRBFASEHAMKRREAS

Interim report and annual report
FREAR & B R

Corporate communications, such as shareholder
letters/circulars and meeting notices

B MBRREHBRRGHBH
Results announcement

ES YN il
Investor meeting
BEEGZ
Business partners Meeting
EBBH 25
Visit
sk
Report
W&
Suppliers Supplier/contractor evaluation system
HrER g, AT E I E
Meeting
EE
Regulatory authority Meeting
BEHE 2%
Media Press release
B A
Results announcement
ES YN il
Community/Non-governmental Volunteering activities
organisation ETEH
e JEBATE S Donation
E7=]1
Peers Group announcement
EIES EEBES
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24

Materiality Assessment

We recognise that maintaining communication
with our stakeholders is the key to improving
the Group's ESG performance. We attach great
importance to the opinions and concerns of our
major stakeholders. We identified and assessed
the materiality issues with reference to the
Guide of the Stock Exchange and the materiality
map issued by the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB), in consultation with our
professional advisors, and taking into account the
expectations and opinions of major internal and
external stakeholders. We identified a total of 23
material issues for the reporting year, which were
categorized into three levels: high materiality
issues, moderate materiality issues and general
materiality issues. The Board, the management and
the ESG Task Force confirmed that the results of
the materiality assessment in the previous year are
still applicable to this Year, and therefore decided to
carry forward the results of materiality issues from
the previous year for this Report.
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High materiality issues

SEEEEE

Anti-corruption, supply chain
management, intellectual
property protection, customer
satisfaction, product
responsibility, user privacy,
data security, employee
training and development,
employee safety and

health, diversity and equal
opportunities, attracting and
retaining talents, rights and
interests of employees, and
energy management

Moderate materiality issues
hEEEERSE

Waste management,
greenhouse gas (GHG)
management, employment
management, compensation
and benefits
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General materiality issues
—REEZE

Water resources
management, climate change,
community investment,
responsible marketing,
product health and safety and
compliance operation
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COMPLIANCE OPERATION

3.1

Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude towards
any form of bribery, corruption, extortion and
fraud. We operate with the highest standards
of integrity, and ensure that all our employees
are in strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Company Law of the
People's Republic of China, Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People’'s Republic of China, Supervision
Law of the People’'s Republic of China and Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China. We have
formulated a series of rules and regulations such
as the Anti-Corruption Regulations, Youzan Code of
Work Conduct, Youzan Code of Business Conduct
and Youzan Reimbursement Manual to eliminate
all acts of bribery and acceptance of bribes. For
example, employees are not allowed to solicit or
accept any personal benefits or gifts, nor to offer
or give any bribes, kickbacks, private commissions,
or payments or gifts of a private benefit, ensuring
that employees have integrity and abide by the
law and discipline in their work activities, and
are not permitted to take advantage of their
positions to infringe upon the Company's property,
misappropriate public funds, or accept bribes.
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The Group has incorporated disciplinary inspection
and monitoring into our production and operation
processes. We have established a Disciplinary
Committee led by our chief executive officer,
chief technology officer, and chief financial
officer. The Disciplinary Committee will conduct
a fair and impartial investigation of the reported
incident, and take corrective measures for the
discovered misconduct, such as taking advantage
of positions for personal gain, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering, and other cases of
indiscipline, misconduct or violations of the law.
We will receive reports reflecting the integrity and
discipline problems of employees promptly. In
the face of problems of a serious nature and their
clues, the Supervisory Committee will, in addition
to registering them for the record, report the
same to the general manager in a timely manner.
The Disciplinary Committee is responsible for
overseeing the development and implementation
of corruption risk management measures and the
framework of the Group.

To ensure the smooth implementation of the
Company’s anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing and to protect the rights and
interests of our customers, we also provide safe
and confidential reporting channels and encourage
employees or other persons in the know to
report incidents suspected of violating business
ethics. The Disciplinary Committee will carefully
handle the reported information, conduct a fair
and impartial investigation, and take corrective
measures for the discovered misconduct.
Once the reported incident is substantiated
after investigation, the individual involved in the
violations will be sanctioned according to the law.
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We have a Youzan Code of Business Conduct that
requires employees to comply with anti-corruption
regulations, including those on gifts, gratuities and
entertainment. For example, employees are not
permitted to take advantage of their work, position
or status in Youzan to solicit or accept any personal
benefits or gifts, including bribes, kickbacks, private
commissions. Any gifts accepted should be handed
over to the Administration Department of Youzan
for handling. Gifts and hospitality offered should
be budgeted, approved, recorded and filed, and in
line with business etiquette. Anyone violating this
clause will be terminated from the labour contract
for cause.

The Group conducts an anti-money laundering
performance appraisal every six months, which
includes various aspects such as internal control
system establishment, customer identification,
business risk rating, co-operation with supervisory
work, monitoring and analysis, promotion and
training. The Directors conduct appraisal on the
senior management and Anti-money Laundering
Leading Group, while the Leading Group conducts
appraisal on the Compliance Management
Department, and other business departments and
branches and puts forward recommendations.
Based on the results of the performance appraisal,
the Compliance Management Department has
the right to recommend incentives and penalties
for the relevant departments and branches. For
employees who do not meet the assessment
criteria, we will require them to rectify the
problems.
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The Board has assumed responsibilities for anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing work
across the Group. To ensure the independence
and confidentiality in our anti-money laundering
and to uphold the principles of fairness and
justice, we have established an Anti-money
Laundering Leading Group, which is led by
senior management and is responsible for the
management of money laundering risks, and
reports directly to the Board. The Anti-money
Laundering Leading Group has been reviewed
by the Board. The Compliance Management
Department is a department under the Anti-money
Laundering Leading Group, comprising department
heads and anti-money laundering specialists, and
is responsible for the implementation of anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing.
The duties of the Anti-money Laundering Leading
Group cover reviewing and publishing anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing regulations
and implementation rules, responsible for the
overall planning of anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing work, building an anti-money
laundering organisational structure, recruiting
and dismissing anti-money laundering staff,
clarifying the specific responsibilities of each
anti-money laundering department and business
personnel, checking violations of the regulations
and working procedures and punishing relevant
personnel, coordinating and resolving major issues
in anti-money laundering work, and reporting
major money laundering risk to Directors in a
timely manner, designating departments for
implementation of anti-money laundering and
anti-terrorist financing work, and supervising and
urging the implementation of relevant policies
and procedures, and performing other anti-money
laundering duties required by the Board. In order
to raise employees’ awareness of ethical business
operations, the Group has provided anti-corruption
training to the Directors, and anti-corruption
training and assessment to new employees this
Year to promote a culture of integrity.
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This Year, the Group did not have any lawsuits
related to corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud,
money laundering and terrorist financing against
the Group or its employees.

Protection of Intellectual Property
Rights

The Group complies with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Advertising Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, Patent Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, Detailed Rules for
the Implementation of the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the
People's Republic of China, Law on Intellectual
Property Rights of the People's Republic of China,
and Copyright Law of the People's Republic of
China. We protect our intellectual property rights,
enhance the management of the protection of our
intellectual property rights, and prevent any form of
infringement.

Our Guidelines on the Use of Intellectual Property
Rights for Youzan Employees outlines a series
of principles regarding intellectual property
rights, legal liabilities, and the use of logos of
the Company. We emphasise compliance with
copyright laws and non-infringement of other
people’'s copyrights in the business environment.
For commercial uses such as official accounts,
mini apps and product details pages, we pay
attention to copyright issues and prohibit
unauthorised disclosure of the trademarks and
licence information of the Company to merchants
or partners. The guidelines include possible legal
liabilities for copyright infringement, including
compensation based on actual damages suffered
by the right holder, as well as possible fines and
criminal liabilities for violations of the law.

When it involves the compliant use of the
Company's intellectual property assets and
necessary resources, we have adopted a
structured process for managing applications
for the use of software copyrights, trademarks
and patent certificates. This process involves
initiating applications through official mailings that
are approved to ensure compliance with legal
guidelines. At the same time, the procurement
of resources such as fonts, images, background
music and software tools are also subject to a
rigorous process.
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To establish the brand image of Youzan and
accurately convey its brand value, the Group has
implemented the Youzan Brand Use Specification
which mainly regulates the use of the Youzan brand
logo by Youzan's agents and protects its brand
image. This specification applies to all agents of
Youzan. It stipulates that agents must strictly follow
the specification when using the logo, and can only
use the logo after obtaining written approval or
approval by email from the marketing department
of Youzan, and are prohibited from sub-licensing
to third parties. It also specifies the penalty
mechanism for violating the specification, which
is supplemental to the Youzan Regional Agency
Agreement and enjoys the same legal effect. We
require our agents to strictly abide by the Youzan
Brand Use Specification. All marketing materials
related to the brand image of Youzan (including but
not limited to the use of the logo of Youzan and the
use of the product image of Youzan), such as event
posters, event details pages, brochures, leaflets
display racks, display boards, three-dimensional
models, employee uniforms, customized gifts, etc.,
must be reviewed and approved by the marketing
department of Youzan before they can be released
to the outside world. If any entity or individual is
found to be using or releasing marketing materials
that have not been approved by the marketing
department of Youzan, and if there is any misuse
of the brand and logo of Youzan or if they are
not made according to the Youzan Brand Use
Specification, the legal department of Youzan wiill
intervene and take legal action accordingly.
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3.3

Our Youzan Intellectual Property Protection Centre
regulates the complaint process and infringement
complaints against trademarks, copyrights,
patents, and so on. Holders of rights can submit
relevant materials to our Youzan Intellectual
Property Protection Centre, including personal
information, infringing links, proof of copyright,
trademark and patent infringement. Youzan will
inspect the content of the complaint and accept
it if it meets the requirements, otherwise, it will
require additional information.

This Year, the Group had a total of 20 registered
patents and 2 new patents.

Information Security

The Group is committed to maintaining
mutual trust with its customers and protecting
their privacy with the highest standards of
confidentiality. We comply with related laws such
as Regulations of the People’'s Republic of China
for Safety Protection of Computer Information
Systems, Cybersecurity Law of the People's
Republic of China, Provisions on the Technical
Measures for the Protection of the Security of the
Internet and Administrative Measures on Internet
Information Services. Also, we formulated relevant
company systems such as the Youzan Business
Code of Conduct, Youzan Information Security
and Privacy Protection Management Manual,
Youzan Information Security and Privacy Protection
Strategy, Youzan Product Privacy Protection
Design Guidelines, Youzan Information Security
Risk Assessment Management Regulations,
Youzan Data Security Specification and Youzan
Cryptography Use Security Management
Regulations for guiding the management of
information security and risk assessment.
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We have established the Youzan Information Asset
Security Management Regulations for identifying,
managing and protecting the information assets
of the Company, including computer hardware
and software, communication facilities, application
systems, databases and document information,
etc., to prevent the risks of unauthorised access
and information leakage. We require employees
to understand and strictly comply with the
security requirements of the Company. The Group
emphasises the proper storage and standardized
use of different types of confidential information.
Information asset management covers severa
categories, including documents and data
software and systems, hardware and facilities, staff
resources and services. Of which, we categorised
information assets into four levels according
to their importance in three aspects, namely
confidentiality, integrity and availability, with higher
levels indicating more important assets. We set
out clearly the responsibilities of various roles in
information asset management and co-ordinate
the implementation of protection measures. The
IT department is responsible for the management
of information assets and daily affairs, including
determining the level of information assets,
maintenance operations, management checklists,
and security controls, etc. Different departments
take different duties in information asset
management to ensure that information assets are
properly protected and used in compliance.
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The Group requires the signing of confidentiality
agreements for the use of equipment and
restricts the scope of access to confidential
information. Electronic information is stored in
specific spaces with access controlled by specific
departments. We protect technical confidentiality
and in respect of this, we developed principles on
the awareness of confidentiality and document
management to guide those who prepare the
technical confidentiality. The principles require that
output documents and results must be submitted
for centralised management and are not allowed
to be passed on to others for reading. We have
obtained various certifications, including CSA
C-STAR Certification (BEstHZ2514zEE), 1SO
27001-Information Security Management System
Certification ((EEZ2EEEBANVFEHFSE) and
ISO 27701-Privacy Information Management
System Certification (EFAE EEIERE RVEE
2£), which are solid proofs of the comprehensive
security of our system. For merchants and users,
the Group will sign the Personal Information User
Authorization, User Authorization Agreement,
Information User Authorization Form and Youzan
Authorization Service Agreement with them to
ensure that both parties have a clear understanding
of the types and purposes of the personal
information collected, as well as the rights of the
parties before using our products and services.

We have also established a personal information
protection department. If customers have any
doubts, suggestions or complaints about the
privacy policy or the use of personal data, they can
contact us by email (privacy@youzan.com), and we
will investigate as soon as possible and reply to
customers.
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Service Quality

As a merchant services company, we focus
on seizing the opportunities brought about by
technology and keeping pace with customers’
needs and market changes. We constantly strive
to provide more efficient and diversified products
and services, with the mission of “helping every
merchant who values products and services
success in commerce” We strictly comply with
the laws, regulations and industry standards
related to the products and services we provide,
and our corporate value "POSER"” embodies
our professionalism, ownership, sincere service,
collaborative execution and adherence to system
stability. Based on SaaS services, we provide
a full range of system services, traffic orders,
business recommendations and talent services
to solve the practical needs of merchants and
bring them long-term value. We will continue to
improve the quality of our services, provide more
efficient transaction processes, quality consumer
experience and a healthy ecological environment,
and insist on providing the best quality products to
our customers.
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We have formulated the Regulations on the
Supervision and Management of Youzan Agents,
pursuant to which the Group has the right to
impose different levels of penalties depending
on the severity of the circumstances, including
the deduction of commissions, cancellation of
appraisal qualifications, to name a few, and even
co-operation termination. This regulation aims to
maintain the order and reputation of co-operating
with Youzan, and take stringent measures against
misconduct to ensure compliance and legal
operation. Moreover, the document clearly defines
the responsibilities and obligations of the agents,
including behaviours that may be violated by the
agents in the cooperation agreement and the
corresponding ways to deal with the violations. We
only co-operate with merchants who comply with
local laws and regulations, have stable resources,
possess excellent service capabilities, are honest
and attach importance to aftersales service and
consumer reputation.

We have established a comprehensive customer
complaint mechanism to handle all complaints
and disputes efficiently and properly. Customers
can give their advice to us through various
channels such as email, complaint hotlines or
online platforms. To ensure that complaints are
handled appropriately, we record the content of
the complaint and analyse the cause, then propose
a specific solution, implement a handling plan
and communicate promptly with the complainant.
At the same time, we also co-operate with the
relevant business departments to continuously
improve and adjust our service processes. All
grievances and complaints will be handled by the
Group seriously. This Year, the Group received a
total of 26 complaints, with a conclusion rate of
100%.
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Supplier Management

The Group understands that responsible supply
chain management is crucial to our sustainable
development, thus formulating the Youzan Supplier
Safety Management Regulation. We continue
to optimize the assessment standards and
systems relating to the selection, assessment
and management of the suppliers of the Group,
and regulate the standards and processes
of our supplier management. The document
covers various aspects of supplier admission,
assessment, withdrawal and information
management to enhance the overall service
quality of the suppliers of the Group. The supplier
management department has set up a supplier
information database to, among others, centralize
the management of supplier information. We
conduct an annual assessment of our major co-
operative suppliers, with contents including the
quality, prices, delivery status, etc. of services
or products. The assessment results serve as
important references for the admission of suppliers
for next year. Upon the completion of the contract,
the supplier management department will carry
out an acceptance assessment of the services. The
Group has a well-defined supplier management
mechanism to ensure that the co-operation
with suppliers follows certain standards, hence
promoting the long-term stable development of
both parties.
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The Group has formulated the Youzan Procurement
Process to provide clear guidelines and regulations
for the procurement activities within the Company,
which include detailed steps in various aspects
such as market research, approval process,
supplier selection, contract signing and approval.
At the same time, it also sets out the approval
authority of each level of the decision-making
team, as well as the approval procedures required
for different purchase amounts. With respect to
the processes of open tender and invitation tender,
the document details the specific steps required
to be carried out by the business party, such as
the publication of tender notices, pre-qualification,
tender opening and evaluation, and detailed
negotiation, etc., ensuring the compliance and
transparency of the procurement process of the
Group.

To effectively identify and continuously monitor
the environmental and social risks in the supply
chain, we prioritise the environmental impact of
the production process of such suppliers, health
and safety of employees, compliance and ethical
business practices in the procurement process to
reduce the carbon footprint of our purchases.

This Year, we had approximately 29 suppliers, the
service categories provided by them were mainly
server, payment and SMS services, hardware
and lecturer services, all of which were located in
China, including Zhejiang, Beijing, Shanghai and
Shenzhen.
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Employees who play key roles in our success and growth
are our most valuable assets, thus we are committed to
creating a safe, equal and inclusive work environment.
We recognise that the well-being of our employees is
crucial to the long-term development of the Company. To
this end, we endeavour to offer competitive remuneration
and benefits packages, as well as rich training and
development opportunities. At the same time, we
adhere to local employment laws and regulations to
ensure that the rights and interests of all employees
are fully protected. We hope to always join hands with
our employees to work and grow together. The Group
strictly abides by laws and regulations such as Labour
Law of the People's Republic of China, Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation on
the Implementation of the Labour Contract Law of the
People's Republic of China, Law of the People's Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors, and Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour.

4.1 Employee Management

Our human resources department has a planned
expansion of business requirements based on
quarterly recruitment plans. We attract talents
from a variety of perspectives and take educational
background, work experience and relevant
qualifications into consideration when recruiting
employees. Each candidate is rigorously scrutinised
by the Human Resources Department to ensure
compliance with legal requirements and, in
particular, avoid child labour as defined by laws.
We recruit by signing legally binding contracts
that emphasise mutual consent, equality and
compliance. Both the Company and employees
reserve the right to terminate the employment
relationship. The person in charge of the human
resources department arranges exit interviews
with employees who tender resignation requests
to understand the reasons for leaving.
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We firmly oppose forced labour. Considering
the special industry nature, we have formulated
a policy of Attendance Management to provide
standard working hours and irregular working hours
for different positions. We have also implemented
flexible working time management to respect
each employee’s rest habits. Employees who
work overtime can apply for compensation leave
if necessary. We uphold the principle of fair
and equitable employment management in the
recruitment, training and promotion processes,
and strictly prevent all forms of discrimination,
regardless of age, sex, race, nationality, religion,
or any other legally protected characteristics, to
protect the diversity of our employees.

This Year, the Group did not have any case of non-
compliance concerning the employment of child
labour or forced labour.
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4.2

PEEEHERAT

Employee Health and Safety

Employees are an important part of the Group.
We pay full attention to the physical and mental
health of our employees and endeavour to provide
them with a healthy and safe working environment,
making every employee work happily and at ease.
The Group strictly complies with the requirements
of laws and regulations such as the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases, Production
Safety Law of the People’'s Republic of China,
Provisions on the Supervision and Administration
of Occupational Health at Work Sites and
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances,
as well as measures to safeguard the safety of
our workplaces, which include setting access
system for managing the access into or out of
the work area, conducting fire safety inspections
to our workplaces regularly and implementing
remediation work concerning the potential hazards
identified. Further, stringent safety regulations
and emergency response measures are also in
place and reviewed by us regularly. We focus on
providing specialised training for our employees,
detailing the hazards they may face at work and
instructing them on how to protect themselves
effectively, and conducting regular rescue drills
and fire evacuation exercises. We are also
equipped with fitness and leisure places, hoping
that employees can relieve stress through sports
and entertainment, and protect their physical and
mental health. We have established an online
medical care platform “Youzan Doctor’ so that
employees can have timely access to professional
medical guidance when they are not feeling well.
At the same time, in order to give employees more
relief, we allow them to bring a family member for
free physical examination each year.

In the past three years including this Year, the
Group had no work-related fatalities. This Year, the
lost days due to work injury of the Group was 55
days.
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4.3

Employees Benefits

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law
of the People’'s Republic of China and Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. We
follow the Performance Evaluation Score rules and
Salary Concept, and conduct regular reviews and
adjustments based on the remuneration standards
of similar positions in the industry and internal
remuneration structure strategies to ensure that
the remuneration system is competitive in the
market. Employees can enjoy incentives such as
sales bonuses, daily performance bonuses and
yearend bonuses, as well as long-term incentives
such as options and equity to motivate employees
to grow together with the Company. We are
committed to providing employees with a welfare
system that includes not only statutory holidays
but also paid holidays, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave and other special holidays. We
set every Wednesday as “Family Day’ allowing
employees to spend more time with their families.
In addition, the Company also provides transport
subsidies and additional shopping subsidies, as
well as gifts for employees’ birthdays, holidays and
company anniversaries, and even congratulatory
gifts for newborn children.

The Group pays close attention to the health of
its employees by providing an exclusive “Youzan
Doctor” service platform and offering employees
and their family members the opportunity of free
medical check-ups every year. Meanwhile, the
Group also provides fitness and leisure facilities, as
well as regular team building and club activities, so
that employees can relax after work and enhance
communication and co-operation among them.
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4.4

PEEEHERAT

Nurturing Talents

The Group firmly believes that the personal growth
of employees is inseparable from the progress
of the enterprise. We continue to improve the
sound talent cultivation mechanism, cultivate
outstanding multi-disciplinary teams for each
business segment, continuously enhance the core
competitiveness of each business, consolidate the
capacity building of our employees and expand the
path of their career development. We have set up
two growth paths, namely the professional path
and the management path, to meet the different
development needs of employees. The professional
path focuses on professional skills, influence
and the ability to solve complex problems,
while the management path emphasizes on the
competencies required for team management.
The Group has been encouraging employees to
develop their abilities on both the professional path
and the management path.

We believe that success comes from the skills
and dedication of our team, and therefore we
have been providing a wide range of training
programmes to enhance industry knowledge
and skills of employees. To continuously optimise
the effectiveness of training, we conduct regular
reviews based on the needs of employees and
plan future training programmes. We actively
cultivate senior management talents, who will be
responsible for leading most of our business units,
as well as young talents who will play key roles in
important positions. For new managers, we have
set up a “talented management growth camp”
to provide them with 3 to 4 months of training to
help them master and improve their management
skills. In addition, we have created a “talented
mini training” to help mature managers who have
recently joined the Group quickly understand our
management requirements and methods.
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While our rich and colorful training system, we
also fully consider employee needs by engaging
external training institutions to ensure the
effectiveness of training through methods such as
problem diagnosis, telephone interviews, focused
lectures, example guidance, learning applications,
reporting results and evaluation of outcome.

This Year, the percentage of male employees
of the Group received training was 58.5%, and
the average training hour was 28.9 hours. The
percentage of female employees received training
was 41.5% and the average training hour was 26.7
hours.

GREEN AND LOW-CARBON
DEVELOPMENT

We strictly abide by laws and regulations such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’'s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, Law of the People's Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Pollution from Environmental
Noise and Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste. We try our best to reduce the environmental
impact caused by operation and management activities.

The Group strives to enhance the performance of
environmental management in its daily operations. The
ESG Task Force ensures the effective promotion of
environmental protection-related issues. This Year, the
Group did not violate any environmental protection laws
or cause major accidents affecting the environment
and natural resources and did not receive any notice
of penalties or litigation in the area of environmental
protection.
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5.1

PEAEEHRAT

Energy Saving and Consumption
Reduction

This Year, we continued to look for scope for
energy conservation. Our office proactively
implemented a series of energy-saving measures
involving lighting systems, airconditioning systems
and other electronic equipment and appliances.
For example, we emphasised turning off lights
when offices are not in use, maximising the use
of daylighting and improving energy efficiency by
maintaining clean lighting fixtures and lamps and
using energy-efficient lamps. For air conditioning
systems, we avoided installing airconditioners
in locations exposed to direct sunlight, regularly
cleaning filters, and sealing doors and window
gaps. In addition, we adopted measures for other
electronic equipment and electrical appliances,
such as automatic standby/sleep mode and
setting printers to switch off when computers
are idle. These energy-saving measures not only
help reduce energy consumption and the burden
on the environment but also reflect our practica
actions and impact on sustainable development.
We also conduct monthly electricity statistics
to monitor electricity consumption and make
necessary improvements. This Year, the tota
power consumption of the Group during operation
was 2,939,171.35 kWh, the per capita power
consumption was 1,679.53 kWh, and the power
consumption per square meter was 90.14 kWh.
In the coming year, we will continue to monitor
the power consumption of the Group’s business
operations and review power-saving measures to
reduce the power density more effectively.
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5.2

We reviewed the power consumption target that
was set last year and reduced power consumption,
and will continue to review and optimize power
saving measures based on the 2021 target to
achieve the target of maintaining or reducing
power consumption.

Greenhouse Gas Management

We focus on promoting the implementation of
emission-reduction strategies among employees.
We encourage employees to choose direct flights
and promote the use of video conferencing as an
alternative to non-essential overseas business trips
to reduce our carbon footprint. For technological
innovation, we are committed to promoting
the development and innovation of low-carbon
technologies and actively promoting the application
of new low-carbon technologies and products.

To ensure transparency and traceability, we follow
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol developed by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development and the
ISO14064-1 standard issued by the International
Organization for Standardization, and conduct
investigations on greenhouse gas in our seven
offices in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Chengdu, Hangzhou and Hong Kong. This action
demonstrates our commitment to environmental
sustainability and presents our specific
performance in greenhouse gas management
through documentation.
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! Since we did not use motor vehicles, there was no scope 1

GHG Emissions Unit 2023
i E RASHE B —EIZHEE
Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions Tonnes of COz2-equivalent 0
#EN BEREREREBIN NEZFEREE
Scope 2 Energy indirect GHG Tonnes of COz-equivalent 1,67745
emissions
#[F2 fEAERERZ I RB_FIEHREE
aE RARPER
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz2-equivalent 1,67745
AERBEIREE (EE1/2) NE"FEREE
GHG Emissions Intensity
AERBHREE
GHG emissions per employee Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.96
employee
A REREHRE ArE_EGtmREE BT
GHG emissions per square metre Tonnes of COz-equivalent/ 0.05

BYHARKRERBEHFNE

This Year, to reduce GHG emissions, we reviewed
the target of reducing GHG emissions that was
set last year, achieved a decrease in emissions, DRESR
and we will continue to maintain and reduce GHG
emissions level based on the 2021 target.

GHG emissions this Year.

PEEEHERAT
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5.3

Conservation of water resources

Our water consumption data is managed by an
independent property company, thus we are
unable to disclose the relevant data and water
consumption targets. \We adhere to the concepts
of rational water use and water conservation,
and continue to strengthen water resources
management. The Group is still taking measures
to control water consumption in the office. We
have affixed water conservation reminder labels
in pantries and restrooms to remind employees to
turn off the taps after use. We also prioritise the
selection of products with water efficiency labels
and reduce water pressure to the lowest practical
level. We conduct regular inspections to ensure
that all energy-saving measures are implemented
effectively. The water used by the Group comes
from the municipal water supply, and there is no
problem in obtaining suitable water.

53

BlakEIR
HPNBKEBEZEUYE
m—EE FItEANER R
BERAKEER - HFIRE
T EEAK A RKEYE
B MFEMBKEREE
7 £ B 175 SR B3 B 2 A i
ERFEKE - RPIBEFRKE
KA FER LR KIERE
Sa IRBEB TE AR
KEERR - RPN EEBITEESR
FK e AR B B EE 4 > MR 7K
BB RENERKF -
MERETKRRE  RES
EREIE A WHET - AEEE
MK R GEUK  FEKER
BRAKR LA FEERRERE

CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS -t g RERRE

54

PEEEHERAT

Waste Management

The Group actively promotes employees to
participate in the recycling and recovery of office
supplies, and enhances the classification and
recycling of garbage to reduce waste generation.
This Year, we implemented several resource
optimisation measures. In addition, as the non-
hazardous waste is recycled collectively by the
property management company, it is difficult to
record and monitor waste generation data, and
therefore the waste generation data and waste
reduction targets are not publicly disclosed.
Nevertheless, we will continue to improve our
resource utilisation and waste management
measures to minimise waste generation. We
actively promote paperless office, make full use of
the online office system and endeavour to transfer
documents electronically to reduce the frequency
of paper data printing and using facsimiles. For
necessary paper data, we advocate the use
of recycled paper and double-sided printing to
improve paper usage efficiency. In addition, we
try our best to avoid using disposable and non-
recyclable products by reusing envelopes, binders,
file cards and other stationery items, and reusing
pen barrels through using refills. We also try our
best to recycle and minimize disposal to reduce the
burden on the environment.
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5.5

Mitigation of Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change is one
of the greatest global environmental challenges
in recent years and may pose potential risks and
disruptions to our business operations. We also
try to seize the opportunities to increase the
competitiveness of our business. We identified
climate change risks such as physical risks and
transition risks, as well as related policies of
mitigation measures and responsive actions.

We believe that physical risks do not have a
significant impact on us, because our geographical
location is unlikely exposed to extreme weather
(such as hurricanes, heavy rainfall and flooding,
etc.) or chronic risks (such as the rise of sea level).
The Group ensures the safety of its employees and
assets by following the local laws and regulations
of the operations and in conjunction with the
extreme weather guidelines issued by local
meteorological authorities.

We believe that our stakeholders may have higher
requirements for business in terms of response
to climate change. We understand that failure to
meet stakeholders’ expectations may prejudice
our reputation. The Group will continue to review
policies, regulatory updates and market trends
globally and in the regions where it operates to
minimise the related risks.
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6.

PUBLIC WELFARE ACTIVITIES

Through participation in community affairs, we
established close ties with the community and
jointly promoted the sustainable development of the
community. This Year, we established sustainable
community relationships through active community
interactions and jointly created a better future.

To support the affected book merchants in Zhuozhou,
we launched an assistance programme on 5 August
2023 to help them tide over the difficulties and resume
normal business operations as soon as possible. Our
assistance programme consists of three main measures:
affected book merchants will enjoy a one-month waiver
of the software service fee. In addition, we will provide
matrix promotions on official media for the affected
merchants’ shops to increase their exposure and visibility.
Finally, the assistance programme also includes special
recommendations through Youzan Distribution market
for the affected book merchants’ products in their shops
to help them expand sales channels. The programme
provided multi-faceted support to help affected book
merchants to resume normal business operations as
soon as possible.

On the occasion of Children's Day, Youzan Public Welfare
Foundation brought warmth and care to the orphans
of Hangzhou Children’'s Welfare Institute, so that the
children can feel the care from all sectors of society, and
feel the enjoyment of helping others, thereby creating a
favourable environment in which they are willing to make
contributions and care for others. Youzan Public Welfare
Foundation proactively promotes the spirit of dedication
and commitment to social responsibility, and devotes
itself to public welfare causes by donating 20 HUAWEI
tablets with a value of RMB45,000.

We donated RMB200,000 to Hangzhou Westlake
Education Foundation during this Year for supporting the
development of education public welfare causes.
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APPENDIX 1: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY [itk— : OlFHEERBIFRHEE
INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the environmental sustainability M TNEAFENREHEIFELERESE
information for this Year: BE:

Environmental

IRIGEEE
GHG emissions?
mERBEHRE?
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) Tonnes of CO2- 1,677.45
equivalent
EfER=E R (EE2) NE—FEREE
GHG emissions in total (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of CO2- 1,67745
equivalent
BERBHREE EE1K2) NE—HEREE
GHG emissions per employee (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz- 0.96
equivalent/employee
ANTRERBINEZ (#HE1K2) NE—FEHREE
8T
2 The GHG emissions are inspected with reference to the 2 RERBIHNEETEZZ2EZHAE RN
Greenhouse Gas Protocol published by World Resources RATEHR I FEEZETIHEEZEH
Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable BENCEERBETZTE) KEIRIE
Development, and the ISO14064-1 standard by International E1EARAET ERIISO14064- 112251 & o

Organization for Standardization.
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Environmental

IRIGEEER
GHG emissions per square metre (scopes 1 and 2) Tonnes of COz2- 0.05
equivalent/
square metre
STHKEERBENE HE1R2) RBE_FIEREESE
T K
Waste
BEEY
Hazardous waste
BEEEY
Battery Quantity 468
BEEE; (G5
Ink and toner cartridges Quantity 16
BEEEBERME (G2
Paper consumption
HRAE
Paper consumption Kilogram 9,834.81
MRAE T
Paper consumption per employee Kilogram/employee 5.62
ANBHRRAE Fr/8T
Energy consumption
REIRIHFE
Total power consumption kWh 2,939,171.35
Total power consumption intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 1,679,53
MEEEE (B%REI) FERE /8T
Total power consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/square metre 90.14
MEBEE (BTHK FRETFHK
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The following is a summary of the Group's social sustainability U TRAFEREENHGHIETIFER

information for this Year:

REREE -

Social
a4
Number of employees?®
BT AR
Total number of employees Number of people 1,750
BT N
Number of employees by gender
RIERE| 7898 TN #
Female Number of people 807
g N -
Male Number of people 943
sM N
Number of employees by employee type
RIESHEDE| IS T ANE
Full-time junior employees Number of people 1,620
EHORET N
Full-time middle management Number of people 104
EHPREERE N
Full-time senior management Number of people 26
EHEREERE N
Number of employees by age group
RELAAFE| 7 IS TN B
Aged under 30 Number of people 947
30T N
Aged 30-50 Number of people 802
30-507% Nt
Aged over 50 Number of people 1
50 A £ N 4

3 Number of employees as of 31 December 2023. 3 EBARFEEEIE12BE31HHNE T A
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Social

=

HE

Number of employees by geographical region

e &7 898 TN #

Hangzhou Number of people 1,112
TN N
Beijing Number of people 186
bR N
Shenzhen Number of people 127
el N
Shanghai Number of people 127
b= N
Guangzhou Number of people 126
&N N
Chengdu Number of people 71
PRED N
Hong Kong Number of people 1
BB N ¢
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Social

HEHE
Employee turnover rate*

BIRmKkbxe

Employee turnover rate by gender

IERE| 7898 Tk EE

Female % 16.7
pegid
Male % 215
sM

Employee turnover rate by age group

RFEAAFE 7 BB T A I

Aged under 30 % 28.5

30RR AT

Aged 30-50 % 9.7

30-50%%

Aged over 50 % 0

5058 A

4 Employee turnover rate (the number of turnover employees  * EIHRAEX BEBASTREERER

does not include those who have not passed the internship EEH) = REEEAE - CREEER
period) = number of turnover employees =+ (number of turnover AB+FREE AZ) X100%
employees + number of employees at the end of the year) X
100%
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Social

HEHE
Employee turnover rate by geographical region

S E RS9 E T E

Northern China % 5.7
EitEE
North-eastern China % 0
Rit&EE
Eastern China % 18.1
EREE
Central China % 34
FElE
North-western China % 0
EiEpinERE
Southern China % 10.9
Eapaptael
Other regions % 0
Hih& 1
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Social
a1
Occupational health and safety
HERRARZZ
Number of work-related fatalities (2021, 2022 and 2023) Number of people 0
AIRCAM(CE—FE-ZZ_"_FEK N
“ETCFE)
Lost days due to work injury Number of days 55
HITEEAIERH HE
Development and training
Z R A

Percentage of employees trained by gender®

ILF &7 BIZ A ES 577 L

Female % 415
gl
Male % 58.5
sM

Percentage of employees trained by employee type®

RIEELRFE| 78I Z 5 1S B 77 LE°

Full-time junior employees % 934
ERARET

Full-time middle management % 2.8
EHPREERE

Full-time senior management % 3.9
EHeREERE

5 The percentage of employees trained for this Year is calculated 5 AEENEBTIXRIIETEHDLFERS
as the number of employees trained by each category = the FEAZEHIRERIINE-REEZI
total number of employees trained x 100%. HANEX100% ©
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Social

=

Average training hours of employees trained by gender ©

L5 &) 77 BY 2 A 1 S F 1515 3 20

Male Hour 28.9
B JIN:=
Female Hour 26.7
pegid 2\

Average training hours of employees trained by employment type

RIEIBLE &) 77 89 = 5| 1E S F 17155/ 2

Average training hours per full-time junior employee Hour 27
SEZBEARE T FHEIRH TN
Average training hours per full-time middle employee Hour 24
SEZBPRE T FHEINRFH TN
Average training hours per full-time senior employee Hour 31
SEZHSRE T FHEINIRFH TN

6 The average training hours of employees for this Year is ¢ REENBE T FHEINREAE S A

calculated as the total number of training hours of employees AEBEREENBZIIHE 2585
by each category =+ the number of employees by each HES A
category.
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Ptex—  BESFR (IR E R ER
St R DEG]

APPENDIX II: INDEXTO THE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental

Related chapters

RIGEER MR &
A1 ‘Emissions General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 5. Green and Low
Al Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | Carbon Development
—RRE relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into b A BEIREE
water and land, and generation of hazardous and nonhazardous
waste.
BRBERMREREHR MRS BERESE
EYNELESEN (@BCR ; ROBTFTHETABEAXENE
BEERRAINER
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix 1: Summary
PR BB AR B - of sustainability
information
figx— : PIFEERE
KHEE
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | 5.2 Greenhouse Gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | Management
unit of production volume, per facility). Appendix 1: Summary
B (BEN) REREE @E2) RERBINE CUEstE) K& | of sustainability
WER) EBE MUSESEN SBEREHE) ° information
5.2RERBEE
figr—: IREBERE
rHEZ
A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Appendix 1: Summary
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per of sustainability
facility). information
FMESASREMMEE QUEE) k WBR) B8 MMUEE | Mr— IREEEE
28 §BERMHHE) ° KHEE
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGEE HmREE
A4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where The non-hazardous
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per waste is recycled
facility). collectively by the
FELEZEZYEE LIS &k WER) 2E MLUEE | property management
EEQ BERMHE) o company. The Group
has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEEREVHAMEERE
REMF—E REE
EARRA2E FIEAME
RE
A15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | 5.2 Greenhouse Gas
them. Management
WP I HI B B R R AERELEE RTINS o .2RERBERE
A16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are The waste is managed
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps collectively by the
taken to achieve them. property management
BIREEENBEEEENNA X RERFEIINEEBRZ | company. The Group
K BERELEE RPN TER has no relevant data
and therefore does not
disclose it
BEYHYEEELT
R—BE AEEREM
MEE AL ERE
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 5.1 Energy Saving and
Resources Disclosure water and other raw materials. Consumption Reduction
A2 ERER | —RIKE BUERER (BEER  KREMEME) BEE 5. 16 AEPEFE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 5.1 Energy Saving and

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REVANNERR/ FERER B fI0m 8FE UT
BFEFEE KBE WUSESE( - §ERNAE)

Consumption Reduction
5. 180 AEMERE

Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information

figk—: PIREERE
EHEE

FTEEEARAT —T_=FFH
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Environmental

faNAN

B /a8

R

Wiater consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
REKEREE WASEEEM BEBERMFSE)

Related chapters
M=

The water consumption
is managed collectively
by the property
management company.
The Group has no
relevant data and
therefore does not
disclose it
EKERNEEEAT
R—EIE AEEREM
e FIL AR E

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

WP NS RER N G B R R AENELEERMEIAY
o

5.1 Energy Saving and
Consumption Reduction
5.1HI5EEFE

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

HICKEE B ACR LRI A R EE > U] LA KM@ B
BRAHEIEEERMENNT R

The water consumption
is managed collectively
by the property
management
company. The Group
has no relevant data,
and therefore it is
impossible to set a
target
EKERNEEEAT
h—EE AEEREM
BEE FAtEERE
B2

R HE
A2.2
A2.3
A24
A25

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, per unit produced.

Sk mPr A SSRGS I E) &k WER SE£ES
fhEo

The Group's business
does not involve
packaging material
FEBEBRSREE
P}
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Environmental

HE

Related chapters

RIGEE HmREE
A3: Environment | General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 5. Green and Low
and Natural Disclosure environment and natural resources. Carbon Development
Resources —RIRE HEZTAHRBERAAEREREAT EZHNERK bABERER
_AS\: BIERAN A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 5. Green and Low
=R environment and natural resources and the actions taken to Carbon Development
manage them. b BERER
W EREHHRERRAERNEATERCHENEEEGHA
% el
Ad4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- 5.5 Mitigation of Climate
Change Disclosure related issues which have impacted, and those which may Change
A4 RIREAE — i E impact, the issuer. 5.5 AR RIEEE
KR ELRAEEHETAELXENEARBERS
ENHE
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have | 5.5 Mitigation of Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Change
actions taken to manage them. 5. 5REREE
HMEERAIEEHETAELFENEAREEMEE &
FEH1TH
B. Social
BitE
B1: General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 4. People-oriented
Employment Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 4UUNBTE
B1: (&8 —RIRE issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRHNRERE BRREA TERE B TEHE %
ot RIEGRUREMEBREN (@QBER ; RO)EBTHET
ANBERZENEBEERRANER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Appendix 1: Summary
or part- time), age group and geographical region. of sustainability
BUR N BEEE 2B ER)  FRANKMERISHE | information
B figr— : AIFEERE
KHEZ
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Appendix 1: Summary
region. of sustainability
BIER Fl AR BB DI EERALLE information
figx— : IFHEERE
KHEE
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Environmental
IRIGHE
B2: Health and

Safety
B2 : %S

Related chapters

M=
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 4.2 Employee Health
Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | and Safety
—RRE relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting | 428 TBREEZ 2
employees from occupational hazards.
BRRUZE2THRERREESBEBELLEN (@BR;
ROBETHETABERZENERAZRRANER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 4.2 Employee Health
the past three years including the reporting year. and Safety
BE=F (BREERFE) SFRTTHNABKILEX. 428TREREZS
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
figr— : IFEERE
rHEE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 4.2 Employee Health
ATHBRTIERZC and Safety
42BTRERZS
Appendix 1: Summary
of sustainability
information
figx— : IFEERE
KB E
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 4.2 Employee Health

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HRFRGNBERRAZ 28N URBARTRERR
o

and Safety
428TREHRZS
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Environmental

B

/B

HE

Related chapters

RIGEE HmREE
B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 4.4 Nurturing Talents
Development Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. 4ABFANT
and Training —fRiE BRRAREET TERE NS RS MEER g E
B3 : #RERIE o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Appendix 1: Summary
category (e.g. senior management and middle management). of sustainability
BHRAIRETHE MEhEERE FREERES) BDMZF | information
BIBDtE- figx— : PIFEERE
KHEE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Appendix 1: Summary
and employee category. of sustainability
BURRETERNS D BRE TR N TIRH- information
figr—: IFEBERE
rHEZ
B4: Labour General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 4.1 Employee
Standards Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | Management
B4 HTHE| | —RIKE relating to preventing child and forced labour. LIETERE
BREFBIEETHAEIETH (@BK; RbBTHETAES
T ENERAERRANER
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 4.1 Employee
avoid child and forced labour. Management
T REEANERLUSRE T Raass o 4IBTER
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 4.1 Employee
discovered. Management
WA ERERBEREERERERMERA Lo 4IBTER
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Environmental
IRIGHE

Bb: Supply
Chain

Management
BS : IEREIR

Related chapters

M=
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 3.5 Supplier
Disclosure supply chain. Management
—MIKE BIEMRENIRG KT ERRER JotERERE
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.5 Supplier
BB E DR REmEE o Management
IoHEEHEE
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | 3.5 Supplier
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and Management
how they are implemented and monitored. SSHERER
HhBERERERENES mENTERENNEREH
B URBRABANITRERA
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 3.5 Supplier
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored. 35t ERE
W AMA MRS ERNNRERT ERKRNER MUk
MBERTRERR £
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 3.5 Supplier
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored. SEHERERE

HAREMR BRI 2 BIRFERRRFBIES LU
BATRERGE
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGEE HmREE
B6: Product General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 3.2 Protection of
Responsibility Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | Intellectual Property
B6: EMEME | —RIKE relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy Rights
matters relating to products and services provided and methods | 3.2{R BRI E
of redress. 3.3 Information Security
BRREERNRBNRERZE BES BERMEEE | 33EELE
LUK AR ED (@QEER ; RbETFHETABEAZENE | 3.4 Customer Service
BEERRAINER Quality
SARFIRBEER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls The Group's business
for safety and health reasons. does not involve selling
BENEEXEREHTRZEEEBEEAMABRIKNE D or shipping products
tbo FEBEBRIRER
HEHEX
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 3.4 Customer Service
and how they are dealt with. Quality
BEMNERRRBNEHBEUREE 5o SARFIRBEER
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 3.2 Protection of
intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property
MR E R REN B EERRNIER o Rights
S2MREH A ERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | The Group's business
BB ERTERENERBIKER - does not involve selling
or shipping products
FEBEBASRER
HEFEX
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 3.3 Information Security
and how they are implemented and monitored. 33EEZ2E
Wi EE S RRERADRER  LURBARTRER R %
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Environmental

Related chapters

RIGEE HmREE
B7: Anti- General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | 3.1 Policy on Anti-
Corruption Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer | bribery and Anti-
B7: R&S —RIRE relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money | corruption
laundering. IR RN ESHER
BRAM AR 315 lEF RO BEERY [(Q)BUR ; R(b)ETH
TABERZENEBEERRANER
B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 3.1 Policy on Anti-
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | bribery and Anti-
period and the outcomes of the cases. corruption
RERAAHETASHEESRELEEENESHRARHN | SIRBEBERETER
HERFDER
B72 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 3.1 Policy on Anti-
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. bribery and Anti-
SRR R R RER  URERHNTRER G Eo corruption
IRBRBEREBER
B73 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.
HEEmEERETIRUENRESE
B8: Community | General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of | 6. Public Welfare
Investment Disclosure the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its Activities
BS: HEBIKE —Mi e activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. N
BRMUHE2ERTREEMTHEEENRAEER LIS
ZRABHENHE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 6. Public Welfare
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Activities
EIEREE WHE BEEE - FIER BRIt 8 6. A EE)
B) e
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6. Public Welfare

EEIEEMDHER MEEAKR)

Activities
(RN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA YOUZAN LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 142 to 350 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Conta)

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life

Key Audit Matter
RSB EZEIR

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

2RGEMBRRMNEE21

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill, amounting to approximately RMB341 million,
has been allocated to the third party payment services
CGU ("CGU A"). This CGU is tested for impairment
at least annually or whenever there is an impairment
indicator.

N_E_=Z=F+__A=+—H REBENARTE
341,000,000tz HEE DR EF = A MIRBREES
B ((REELBAA) ZREELFBENUELVEFNT
HIRRE RERETRER R o

In addition, the Group has material balances of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets, which includes trademarks with indefinite useful
lives, with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB644 million, that are related to the merchant
services CGU ("CGU B") and which recorded operating
losses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

o, BEEBREZYME -BERIREB -TRAEEERK
BRTLEEREARGE HPOFEBRRBETES
BA(MREELBMB)) AMZEEEBENARE
644,000,000z BB ERPIEAFIRz @R RBEZ
B =HF+A=T—HIEFERFLEHE-

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

HREZEE @

ReEEEl (REELEN) (BESAS
RRTEREHZSERRL AR 24
i

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
BB NAEEMAREZEE

Our procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessments included:

EENEEREZRENEREFERE

- Understanding and evaluating the
management’s process and controls
in respect of the impairment
assessment of CGUs and assessing
the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors including
subjectivity;

—  TEREMHEEERREELBAR
B A EZ AR RES LRBE
BAEEMREEREMER REREER
(BEFEM) 2 KEFHEKRER
PRt > EH BB

- Evaluating the outcome of prior
period impairment assessment of the
CGU to assess the effectiveness of
management'’s estimation process;

- SEIREEE BB BRERET G
%ﬁ%’u#ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ZE
RBUE S

- Obtaining and evaluating
management’s approved cash flow
forecasts, testing the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying value in
use calculations and agreeing them to
the approved cash flow forecasts;

- EERkIEEEER EZIRSMNET
Al A ERACRAEESE B E
s wEHEREZIRERETER

—;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Contd)

Impairment assessment of Cash Generating Units
(“CGUs"”) containing goodwill and intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life

Key Audit Matter
RSB EZEIR

Management has engaged an independent valuer to
determine the recoverable amount of the CGUs, being
the value-in-use. Such assessment involved judgements
and assumptions, such as revenue, terminal growth rate,
budgeted gross margin and discount rate.

EEECZEE U EMETREESL BNz JKEE
2 BIERBEE - BRI LIS R lm  RIK IR RETRE

FER R AL IR R E H| B K (R o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group conducted
impairment assessments for CGU A and CGU B and
determined that their respective recoverable amounts
exceed their carrying amounts. Therefore, the Group
concluded that no impairment charge was necessary.

N _E_=F+"RA=+—H> EEEHRETESES
IARREELBUBEITREN L BEREZE 20
%@%%ﬁﬁ BHEREE HIL SEERBEFGRE

We identified the impairment assessment of CGUs as a
key audit matter because the impairment assessment of
CGUs requires the management to exercise significant
judgements relating to the estimation of key assumptions
and the recoverable amounts of these CGUs are
subject to high degree of uncertainty. The inherent
risk is considered significant due to the subjectivity of
assumptions used.

AR EEBUZ BB AP BRRELZSIE
RAaReELBUZRETLHEESEEHARRR
5 EH B R H & E&Eﬁﬁ%éiﬁuzmﬁz@iéﬁ
FEEETEEE -BIRFrARRZERY BB AR
Db%ﬁ%j(o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
BB NAEEMAREZEE

- Reviewing the valuation report from

independent qualified valuer and
holding discussion with management
and independent qualified valuer
to understand the valuation basis,
methodology used and underlying
assumptions applied,

- EBRBUSERMGHEMZEERS

W ELEIEE RIB Y S B EMETT
MU TREEREE - ERZHER
FER Z AERIRER ;

- Evaluating the competence,

capabilities and objectivity of
independent external valuers

— FMEBIINERMLERZERE BB &
BRI

- Assessing the integrity of the

valuation models;

— HEEEREZZRN

- Challenging the reasonableness of
key assumptions, including revenue,
terminal growth rate, and budgeted
gross margin used in the cash flow
forecasts based on our knowledge of
the business and industry; and

— BREBEEZFEHEBRITE=NRH B
Eirﬁx (Lly"‘leﬁﬁiiﬁ_z&fﬁi/m
ﬁ AR ERAZBEENE) 2518

)4

- Assessing the appropriateness of
the discount rates used with the
assistance of our internal valuation
specialists.

— TEANGEERNHENT > sTEHPTER
BZzWIRENEE M-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FORTHE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENER S S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Conta)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Szeto Tai Shun.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

21 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

ImAEmR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

2023 2022
ey S —
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE ARBFT AR®BFTT
(Restated)
C=pl)
Revenue Wz 8 1,448,376 1,496,977
Cost of sales H & A AS (446,231) (535,055)
Gross profit EH 1,002,145 961,922
Investment and other income KEREMEA 9 52,546 49,517
Other gains and losses, net Hh e & E518 0 JF 58 10 17,472 36,100
Selling expenses HERMX (657,038) (830,816)
Administrative expenses TH R (154,949) (293,043)
Equity-settled share-based payments A ERDZIRIE (10,619) (88,068)
Amortisation of intangible assets W B EH#E 22 (81,126) (81,648)
Other operating expenses HMEM (189,754) (312,268)
Loss from operations REEEE (21,323) (558,304)
Finance costs G {p%:N 11 (27.612) (25,631)
Share of losses of associates, net LI E QB 2 B8
RER - (1,135)
Fair value change in financial assets BN EFFATEERR
at fair value through profit or loss (M2 AFEEA
(“FVTPL") EERIR)) 2%
BEZATEED 7(b) (3,690) (73,337)
Loss before tax PRI AIESIE (52,625) (658,407)
Income tax credit FTiSiRig e 13 2,150 13,009
Loss for the year TEFEERE 14 (50,475) (645,398)
Attributable to: LA :
Owners of the Company KABHEB AN 7429 (302,727)
Non-controlling interests JEIER (57,904) (342,671)
(50,475) (645,398)
Earnings/(loss) per share SRERN, (518)
(expressed in RMB per share) UERAREZS) 18
Basic =N 0.000 (0.017)
Diluted P 0.000 N/A RFEMA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reEmREMEERAR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC=HF —E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Tr AR®TT
(Restated)
(B2 E5))
Loss for the year TFEERE (50,475) (645,398)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEmUWA :
Itemn that will not be reclassified to FEEM D EEEm B .
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair BATEFATHEHMEE
value through other comprehensive income Wik (EAFESA
(“"FVTOCI") FEHMEEEZER) 2
MHBEEEZ ATEES (4,870) (729)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BIFEE# FEEE a2 HH -
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEBINER 2 BERERE
operations 8,533 14,130
Other comprehensive income for the year, FRHEMZEUA
net of tax NpRIRE 3,663 13,401
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAZEKALLE (46,812) (631,997)
Attributable to: MTFALRE:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ TN 18,366 (272,938)
Non-controlling interests JEFER R (65,178) (359,059)
(46,812) (631,997)
FEEMARAR — S -EE% 143



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR
AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 A _E_=F+_"_FB=+—H
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARETr ARETT
(Restated)
C=pl)
Non-current assets JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E 19 8,553 18,739
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 10,227 13,742
Long term deposits RiiEE 30 647 361
Goodwill EES 21 341,326 341,326
Intangible assets mEEE 22 692,819 773,945
Capitalised contract costs BRMEEAMAE 31 35,482 34,503
Deferred tax assets RIEIRIEE EE 44 70,257 71,349
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EFFATEEBRIEY
MBEE 25 282,374 285,642
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFESFATHEHMEZE
Wbk B EE 26 66,298 70,993
1,507,983 1,610,600
Current assets TRENE E
Inventories =8 27 670 1,246
Trade receivables FEULBRFR 28 21,549 13,120
Factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE 29 49,422 31,468
Prepayments, deposits and FBNME TR
other receivables Hh R IE 30 212,315 283,286
Capitalised contract costs BRMEEAMAE 31 120,771 134,600
Indemnification asset HEEE 32 179,797 -
Amounts due from non-controlling UL B~ E)
shareholders of subsidiaries FEVERR B R FRIE 33(a) - 260
Amounts due from related companies  FEURRARE A B F0IE 33(b) 338 1,287
Current tax assets BNERRIBE & - 174
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIIRITAARR 34 5,930 8,13
Balances with central bank FRARRIBITRIE 35 2,371,241 3,592,688
Bank and cash balances R1T R IRE A BR 36 924,998 885,460
3,887031 4,951,702
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

RIZ2E=%+"A=+—H

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREBFTT AR®TFT
(Restated)
C<S==x 1))
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables FEATBRFR 37 2,571 2,641
Accruals and other payables TEiR & A R AR FIE 38 380,664 420,787
Amounts due to non-controlling FET I B A )
shareholders of subsidiaries JEIE AR R R =R I8 39 1,200 69
Amount due to a related company FE—REIE A BB 39 127 -
Contract liabilities =LV ENE 40 585,578 620,136
Borrowings RN 41 - 480,986
Lease liabilities HEaE 42 16,360 20,506
Settlement obligations EEEME 43 2,495,726 3,702,560
Current tax liabilities BNEAMRIE &1 2,080 4,212
Withholding tax payable PSRN 32 179,797 -
3,664,103 5,251,897
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE () FHE 222,928 (300,195)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTEAR 1,730,911 1,310,405
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Contract liabilities sHaE 40 59,488 49,351
Lease liabilities HEaE 42 64,369 73,413
Borrowings A 41 470,444 -
Deferred tax liabilities IR IEE 1R 44 127,720 142,558
722,021 265,322
NET ASSETS BERE 1,008,890 1,045,083
TEAEEERAT — T —EHH 145



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEIFEIRR
AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 A BT =F+"B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=f T
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bzt ARBFT ARETT
(Restated)
Ceq==pl)
Capital and reserves B K #iE
Equity attributable to owners of KNBVHEB ANEL#ER
the Company
Share capital %N 45 286,938 154,484
Reserves =X 48 734,392 1,258,782
1,021,330 1,413,266
Non-controlling interests JEIERE = (12,440) (368,183)
TOTAL EQUITY HEsazE 1,008,890 1,045,083

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2024 and are
signed on its behalf by:
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Mr. Zhu Ning
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oM NIEERREE

Mr. Yu Tao
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
EIIES

Al L
o5 HER

n‘7|' I:I

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BHEZ

=—=

Attributable to owners of the Company

—F+TR=t—HIEE

EINGE 2PN
Shares held Share
Share Share for Share Award Other Non-
Share premium option Award Scheme reserves Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve Scheme reserve (note 46) losses Total interests equity
ER R
2t R17 52 R HithfkfE

ke RMEEER BREHE SEZRG sEfRE (Ff5t46) RBR At R [ gl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARBTn ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARBTn ARBTR

At 1 January 2022 (as restated) i Sy = Rl =
(= E5) 145036 6,098,424 45,615 (43,128) 57364 (745,795)  (4,211,324) 1,346,192 (9643 1,336,549

Total comprehensive income ER2EWRARE

for the year (as restated) (=5) - - - - - 29,789 (302,727) (272,938) (359,059) (631,997)
Issuance of placing shares (note 45(al) S {TEE R (H15¥45(a)) 6,611 245,333 - - - - - 251,944 - 251,944
Allotment of Awarded Shares to Trustee B3¢ A B & S BAR 17 2,837 76,598 - (79,435) - - - - - -
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E—SWE-HHRERAR

without change of control (It FE I R 2 E)) - - - - - - - - 519 519
Equity-settled share-based payments  IRAEAE B D X (TFIE - - 6,195 - 81,873 - - 88,068 - 88,068
Release upon lapse of share options A EERRAEL A EF#R % - - (3,002) - - - 3,002 - - -
Fully-vested Awarded Shares transfer to 6% % AR MR E

awardees SRR - - - 97884 (97:884) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year ERRRETH (CFT)

(as restated) 9,448 321,931 3,193 18,449 (16,011) 29,789 (299,725) 67074 (358,540) (291,466)
At 31 December 2022 (as restated) RIZZZ&

+ZA=+-H

(=5 164,484 6,420,355 48,808 (24,679) 41,353 (716,006) (4,511,049) 1,413,266 (368,183) 1,045,083
At 1 January 2023 (as restated) RIZZ=5—-F—H

(251 154,484 6,420,355 48,808 (24,679) 41,353 (716,006)  (4,511,049) 1,413,266 (368,183) 1,045,083
Total comprehensive income ER2ERALE

for the year - - - - - 10,937 7429 18,366 (65,178) 46,812)
Issuance of Consideration BITRER (F545(0)

Shares (note 45(b)) 132,393 1,774,067 - - - (2,326,139) - (419,679) 419,679 -
Issuance of Fee Shares (note 45(c))  ETE AR (15245(c)) 61 812 - - - (873) - - - -
Further acquisition of a subsidiary E—F B AT

without change in control (sl 1)l - - - - - (1,242) - (1,242) 1,242 -
Equity-settled share-based payments R RRGEERHZ (B - - 3,470 - 7149 - - 10,619 - 10,619
Release upon lapse of share options A BERR1E 46 R B R T4 - - (5,509) - - - 5,509 - - -
Release of financial assets at REERERIRATE

FVTOCI reserve upon disposal SFAEMRERRERZ

MHEERRE - - - - - 5,000 (5,000) - - -
Fully-vested Awarded BERANGRTYER

Shares transfer to awardees L) - - - 9,463 (9,463) - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FRREHEEE 132,454 1,774,879 (2,039) 9,463 (2,314) (2,312,317) 7938 (391,936) 355,743 (36,193)
At 31 December 2023 =

+ZB=+—-H 286,938 8,195,234 46,769 (15,216) 39,039 (3,028,323 (4,503,111 1,021,330 (12,440) 1,008,890
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAREMERRE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_Z_=—F+"A=+—HIEFE
2023 2022
kS SR —
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBETr ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFBHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRIG ARS8 (52,625) (658,407)
Adjustments for: AU TRIEHE .
Allowance for trade receivables, net FEW AR R > VR 5 28 2,656 3,678
Written off of trade receivable 31 55 8 LU AR =R 28 2,173 6,025
Reversal for inventories FE#D 14 (734) (3,642)
Allowance for other receivables, net HAE R IE B %
JRRE 1,566 3,065
Amortisation of intangible assets mE RSN 22 81,126 81,648
Amortisation of capitalised BEXREELI A
contract costs 31 180,460 215,699
Depreciation of property, ME- BB RREITE
plant and equipment 19 9,848 13,818
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 20 12,077 28,639
Equity-settled share-based payments R SR NE O] 10,619 88,068
Finance cost RS A 11 27,612 25,631
Impairment of investment in R—EBEA AT Z’E
an associate B - 1,289
Interest income from bank deposits IRITERHI B WA 9 (23,332) (12,158)
Interest income from central bank FROERITH] B UA 9 (11,660) (10,862)
Interest income from loan to other EEMALEHZ
] BIA 9 - (171)
Net gain on disposals of property, HEYE BEKRKRE
plant and equipment Z W ER 10 (220) (2,968)
Gain on early termination and RERIERENRBEZ
modification of leases U & 10 - (29,682)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BERBARZ
& 50(b) - (4,603)
Gain on derecognition of R TR E A FE T FRIE
other payables Z Wi 10 (20,719) (16,910)
Loss on redemption of financial asset B AFESTA
at FVTPL T mIR 2 B
BEZ B - 5,384
Gain on redemption of an associate BBo—Ek=E ARz
W - (471)
Fair value change on financial asset BT EF ATERR
at FVTPL ZHBEEZ ANTFE
B3 7(b) 3,690 73,337
Share of loss of associates, net FELEE QB 2 518
PR 24 - 1,135
Property, plant and equipment I R K sk i
written off 10 195 19,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt sE ARBTFT ARBTT
Operating profit/(loss) before working SEBTEHEIZ
capital changes & EF (B518) 222,732 (173,452)
Decrease in inventories EF8RD 1,310 3,317
Increase in trade receivables & U BR R N (13,258) (18,531)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits FBNMIE TR
and other receivables exclude H i fE s =i 18
other receivables restricted for (FBEIEERRA
settling settlement obligations BREEEZHEHM
FEWSRRIE) k> 37,050 82,746
Decrease in other receivables ERREBRGEEET
restricted for settling settlement H fih & S =R I8 R
obligations 32,355 28,317
Increase in factoring loan receivables FEWRIEE FRIE NN (17,954) (31,468)
Increase in capitalised contract costs BEARMEEAIRAIE N (167,610) (178,252)
Increase in restricted bank balances ZIRBIIRIT A ERIE 10 (1,034) (2,522)
Decrease in balances with central ERARIBITRIE R D
bank 1,221,447 20,549
Increase in amounts due from FEW BB A B 7B
related companies A0 - (408)
Decrease in settlement obligations HE ST (1,206,834) (100,098)
Decrease in trade payables FEAT AR R /D (70) (121)
Decrease in accruals and TEIRE B R EMEN
other payables FRIE R D (19,535) (119,921)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due FET T B~ B JEHE AR
to non-controlling shareholders of A& ERFRIE
subsidiaries w@hn, CRisb) 260 (237)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHa®ER (24,421) (69,451)
Cash generated from/(used in) &R, () Re
operations 64,438 (559,532)
Interest income received from BUERTTIERF 2 U A
bank deposits 9 23,332 12,158
Interest income received from B U RERITH E WA
central bank 9 11,660 10,862
Interest income received from BWREEMALIEHZ
loan to other BRI EWA 9 - 171
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESEHNERX 11 (8,880) (15,707)
Income tax paid ETER (13,552) (2,077)
Net cash generated from/(used in) 1 EBNER1S, (FRA)
operating activities IHe %58 76,998 (554,125)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mAREMERRE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

2023 2022
—EC=HF —E
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz ARBT ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Additions of financial assets at FVTPL ~ HREBIEAFEFT A
TEARZMBEE 7(b) - (20,000)
Redemption of an associate BBl —fEE=E AR - 3,000
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERBAT 50(b) - (188)
Redemption from financial assets BB AT ESTATE
at FVTPL B UBEE - 30,000
(Increase)/decrease in long RHEE agm
term deposits (286) 6,776
Decrease in amount due from FEUWLHI B~ Bl IE R #E i
non-controlling interest shareholders A% R AR IR >
of subsidiaries 1,131 1,012
Decrease in amount due FE WK R B 2 B FRIE R L
from related companies 949 -
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to FE{S — R BB A Bl R I8
a related company 1@, Ceizb 127 (79)
Repayment from loan to other mEMATIEHZ
BREM - 5,000
Repayment from loans to employees mEEFHZ BEFUEN - 3,150
Purchase of property, plant and BAYIZE BB &
equipment 19 (509) (2,962)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYZE BEKR
plant and equipment RABPT1ERIE 877 3,112
Net cash generated from investing KREEHMSIREFRE
activities 2,289 28,821
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREREK

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC=F —E-
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AREBFTT AR®TFT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEEIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Contribution from a non-controlling —REINEAE]
shareholder of a subsidiary JEERREIE - 519
Issuance of placing shares BT E R D - 251,944
Repayment of borrowings BEBM (491,309) (481)
Interest expenses paid on borrowings ~ BfIfERFI B (19,051) (9,360)
Principal elements of lease payments  FAE{t A2 (21,624) (32,008)
Raised from borrowings EREEE® 480,848 481,420
Net cash (used in)/generated from RECEE) (FTA) Frig
financing activities H& 358 (51,136) 692,034
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HERIREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS R 28,151 166,730
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [BEXEE)FE 8,170 11,687
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS m—A—Hz
AT 1 JANUARY HERIREEEY 889,944 711,527
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS mw+=-—B=+—Hz
AT 31 DECEMBER HERREEEY 926,265 889,944
ANALYSIS OF THE CASH AND HERIREEEWMDIR
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Restricted bank balances = IREIIRIT 4L ER 34 1,267 4,484
Bank and cash balances IR1T MIREEER 924,998 885,460
926,265 889,944
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

152

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Youzan Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Unit 1511, 15/F Shui On
Centre, No. 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company's shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

—RRE

FEEBAERLE (A28 AR
BRESMMIIZBRAE - HeE
=5 g X Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermudac HF BE £ MBHUNEH
AT BB 6-858 I % 0\ 156181511
E ARBRNESEMERZME
FRAB) (THtAZPr1) GEM BT o

RABRREERAE HNE AT
ZEEZEBHNESMBRKRMEE
23°

ZEGEEVMBREDRBEEAES
fiAg (EBGSMAS)) Bz
PREEREBMBREER (IEE
PHRELER]) FHR-BBYHRE
HABREEBYHRESER ((HE
R EER)) ; EAGEHER (&
BEER) ; kB RFRGH
BERERITT M ZFAGEME S L
RAZ BRBKBERX BB QTR
(55622%) ZIRBERE °

BEEESHMASERME TREE
EAgst B E REMIAHIER
RN Z 5] RSB EBUBRS
ER - ERFHREMBRERARBZ
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SIMEI N2 AFERBEEStHH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Contd)

The Group has incurred a loss of approximately
RMB50,475,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023 and RMB645,398,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, management have given careful
consideration to the current and anticipated future
liquidity of the Group and the ability of the Group to
continue to attain positive cash flows from operations in
the immediate and longer term.

Management have prepared cash flow forecasts for
a period of twelve months from the reporting date,
having considered the Group's historical and expected
future performance, and the expected development
of the markets in which the Group operates, which
demonstrate that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall
due for the foreseeable future. The forecasts incorporate
management'’s plans to control operating costs such as
staff costs, promotion and advertising expenses, capital
expenditures etc. The directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

BE_Z-_="F+ZHA=+—H
tEERBE_E__&#+_A4

—t+—BLEFE AEBEDRELE
BH AR HE50,475,00070 K AR #E
645,398,000t - MR HZE LG
BlRxF EEECBEEERAER
B RTERRRRZ REBES > URA
ERTEMHARPEEERCEER
FIREREME

KEBXAERZBERBHARKE
T U AEBEEFRET S 2R
¥R EBEEERRERSAHE
+ERHEZRERETRA > BH
RAXRBEERRE EHUBER
RAEERARKBITHIEE-RA
BaEERBEFEENET WEIRK
A ERESHERERRAZS)
Zst8 A EFERR - BIFEK
EEERNEEMBRROBIGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

154

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
— Amendments to

HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

PEAEARAH

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Contd)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of

Accounting Policies "

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure
of Accounting Policies” for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information
included in an entity's financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial

statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of the
nature of the related transactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material

accounting policy information.

it £35S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

156

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Contd)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of

Accounting Policies” (Contd)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information
about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are

added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance but has affected the disclosure of
the Group's accounting policies set out in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS
12 "Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction” for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exemption to
exclude transactions that give rise to equal and

offsetting temporary differences — e.g. leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Contd)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements

The effects of the changes in accounting policies
as a result of application of Amendments of
HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction” and
the changes in other accounting policies on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and earnings/(loss) per
share, are as follows:

it £35S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. ERANERSI RIS T B BT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HRELED @)
STANDARDS (Conta)

N

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (@) FERME]REETERM
(Contad) HHEER @

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs [EF B FHIRE R 2 &

158

on the consolidated financial statements (Contd) 5{7 FHIREHBEIREZ FE
=}
Before the adoption Effects of adoption After the adoption
of Amendments to of Amendments to of Amendments to
HKAS 12 HKAS 12 HKAS 12
RIRMER SRR RAEEEHEN  RRMEREHEN
BR2EIRE PR BIAEE EAVEwA HE S
BE-ZC-= RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended 31 December 2023 +ZA=t-BLEE AREFR ARETR ARETT
Impact on loss for the year HEEERBEZFE
Revenue Wi 1,448,376 - 1,448,376
Cost of sales HEMA (446,231) - (446,231)
Investment and other income REREMBA 52,546 - 52,546
Other gains and losses, net Bt m ke 3 17472 - 17472
Selling expenses HERS (657,038) - (657,038)
Administrative expenses THA% (154,949) - (154,949)
Equity-settled share-hased payment REGERDZATIE (10,619) - (10,619)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (81,126) - (81,126)
Other operating expenses EfiTERs (189,754) (189,754)
Finance costs MEMRA (27612) - (27612)
Fair value change in financial assets at BATEHATERER
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL) (MRAT(ES AR
ZABEEZ AT ESE (3,690) - (3,690)
Income tax credit ik 2,238 (88) 2,150
Loss for the year TEERE (50,387) (88) (50,475)
Attributable to: WMT AR
Owners of the Company LVASE 2PN 7517 (88) 7429
Non-controlling interests FERER (57.904) - (57.904)
(50,387) (88) (50,475)
Impact on other comprehensive income/  HAFEHMZEKE/
(expense) for the year AR e
Fair value changes of financial assets BRATEHAEEMZERRR
at fair value through other comprehensive (AT E AEEM
income (“FVTOCI") 2ENER) ZHBEEEZ
ATELE (4,870) - (4,870)
Exchange differences on BERN B ERER
translating foreign operations 8,533 - 8533
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ ER2EWALLE (46,724) (88) (46,812)
Attributable to: WF AL
Owners of the Company KAREERA 18,454 (88) 18,366
Non-controlling interests SRR (65,178) - (65,178)
(46,724) (88) (46,812)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

R TS e MY 5L

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a)

PEAEARAF

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Contd)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs

on the consolidated financial statements (Contd)

HE_Z "=

F+A=+—HLEFE

3. F.ﬂ#ﬁ‘?&ﬁ‘%ﬂé}% %5

w

(a)

HEER @)

R R &
6 (o

B & BRI SR Z
RGBT ZE

)

Before the adoption Effects of adoption After the adoption
of Amendments to of Amendments to of Amendments to
HKAS 12 HKAS 12 HKAS 12
REREMEEG FMEEEHEN PRGOS EGHEN
BIRZBIRE  B12R2EITEZEE BRI A
HEZD-CF RMB'000 RIMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended 31 December 2022 +ZB=+-HILLEE AREFT ARBFT NS
Impact on loss for the year HEEEBRZYE
Revenue i 1,496,977 - 1,496,977
Cost of sales fﬁﬁﬁ%zli (535,055) - (535,085)
Investment and other income REREMBA 49,517 - 49,517
Other gains and losses, net HtWnkEE 38 36,100 - 36,100
Selling expenses HERS (830,816) - (830,816)
Administrative expenses THES (293,043 - (293,043
Equity-settled share-based payment REEERNZARNE (88,068) - (88,068)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH (81,648) - (81,648)
Other operating expenses HtSems (312,268) - (312,268)
Finance costs B (25,631) - (25,631)
Share of losses of associates, net EEHEARZER F5 (1,135) - (1,135)
Fair value change in financial assets at BATEH AT BHE
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL') (MBATESAERRER)
ZHBEEZ ATEEE (73,337) - (73,337)
Income tax credit FishHER 12,647 362 13,009
Loss for the year TEESE (645,760) 362 (645,398
Attributable to: WMT AL
Owners of the Company EVASTE 2PN (303,089) 362 (302,727)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (342,671) - (342,671)
(645,760) 362 (645,398)
Impact on other comprehensive income/  HAFEHMEERA/ (%)
(expense) for the year a7
Fair value changes of financial assets BATEFATEEMZEANRER
at fair value through other comprehensive (MBATESAEEM
income (“FVTOCI) 2EMER) ZHBEE
ZATEES (729) - (729)
Exchange differences on BEBNEBZERER
translating foreign operations 14,130 - 14,130
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FRZ2EWALE (632,359) 362 (631,997
Attributable to: WTF AR
Owners of the Company LUNCTEZ=DN (273,300) 362 (272,938)
Non-controlling interests FiERRE (359,059) - (359,059
(632,359) 362 (631,997)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Contd)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements (Contd)

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

3. BRAETE] RAIEST R RS

HEER @

(a) FERMEIRAEESTERRM
BHREER @

B EBHFHIREZER 2 &
B ER BRI ZE

(4
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
8= BHE
—E-= =
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
IFE EFE
RMB RMB
AR AR
Impact on basic earnings/(loss) HEREXERN, (58
per share ZRE
Basic earnings/(loss) per share AEAERERRN
before adjustments (&518) 0.000 (0.017)
Net adjustments arising from changes B2\ FAHRARI & st R
in accounting policies in relation to: ~ BB)ES Z HEEFEE ©
— Amendments to HKAS 12 —BBgTER
FE1258 2 BFT A - -
Reported basic earnings/(loss) RESREREF
per share (&518) 0.000 (0.017)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Contd)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements (Contd)

The effects of the changes in accounting policies
as a result of application of Amendments of HKAS
12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction” and the changes
in other accounting policies on the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of
the immediately preceding financial year and
the beginning of the comparative period, are as
follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Yy A

I1\Y4 AN

AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_Z_=—F+"A=+—HIEFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3.  IRUIRETRAMEST B ARTE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING REER @)
STANDARDS (conta)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FERMEIRAETTE AR
(Contd) BIREER @
Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs JEAE B HIREHER 21
on the consolidated financial statements (Contd) PR B e EREK &
(&)
Effects of
adoption of
As previously  Amendments to As
stated __HKAS 12 restated
BagEEn
ER)E125% B
RHEF  zEhz¥E HEL]
BE_Z_=% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended 31 December 2023 +ZB=+-BLEE AREFTR AEEFTR AREFR
Property, plant and equipment ENEY B 8,553 - 8,553
Right-of-use assets TRESE 10,227 - 10,227
Long term deposits ke 647 - 647
Goodwill HBE 341,326 - 341,326
Intangible assets BREE 692,819 - 692,819
Capitalised contract costs BRIESHMA 156,253 - 156,253
Deferred tax assets BILEER 68,772 1,485 70,257
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES AEEREZ
WBEE 282,374 - 282,374
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEHAEAMEE
Wik HBEE 66,298 - 66,298
Inventories F5 670 - 670
Trade receivables TEUERR 21,549 - 21,549
Factoring loan receivables EWREST 49,422 - 49,422
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BB Be R EMERE 212,315 - 212,315
Indemnification asset REEE 179,797 179,797
Amounts due from related companies R AR 338 - 338
Restricted bank balances RIRHIRT e 5,930 - 5,930
Balances with central bank ERPRETIA 2,371,241 - 2,371,241
Bank and cash balances RITRREER 924,998 - 924,998
Trade payables TETIRT (2571) - (2571)
Accruals and other payables BREBRAMELTE (380,664) - (380,664)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries ~ FEfS M B /AR JHERRFE (1,200) - (1,200)
Amount due to a related company BB AFNE (127) - (127)
Contract liabilities alaE (645,066) - (645,066)
Borrowings B (470,444) - (470,444)
Lease liabilities f&aE (80,729) - (80,729)
Settlement obligations GBS (2,495,726) - (2,495,726)
Current tax liabilities HEREAE (2,080) - (2,080)
Withholding tax payable g (179,797) (179,797)
Deferred tax liabilities BEREAR (126,235) (1,485) (127720)
Net assets BEZE 1,008,890 - 1,008,890
Share Capital Rx 286,938 - 286,938
Reserves e 734,392 - 734,392
Non-controlling interests FEiERER (12,440) - (12,440)
Equity i 1,008,890 - 1,008,890
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

(a)

B

EE-F+_A=+—HLEEE

o > AL =
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3.  IRUIRETRAMEST B ARTE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING REER @)
STANDARDS (conta)
Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FER ﬁﬂ&ﬁféﬂ’é}%ﬂj
Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs E/@ j;ﬁﬁj iR %LE/E\UZ -4
on the consolidated financial statements (Contad) 5] Zfﬁ R BREZEE
(&
Effects of
adoption of
As previously  Amendments to As
stated HKAS 12 restated
FEEes
ER 2125
FHZS  z2BIAzEE &5
HE_Z_—E RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended 31 December 2022 +-A=t-HIEE ARETT ARETFT ARETT
Property, plant and equipment I ENE NG 18,739 - 18,739
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13,742 - 13,742
Long term deposits ke 361 - 361
Goodwill BE 341,326 - 341,326
Intangible assets BREE 773,945 - 773,945
Capitalised contract costs BREAAME 169,103 - 169,103
Deferred tax assets ELRBEE 68,772 2,577 71,349
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEFAEERRRY
WHEE 285,642 - 285,642
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEHAEEMZE
Wk HEEE 70,993 - 70,993
Inventories Fa 1,246 - 1,246
Trade receivables EIRERR 13,120 - 13,120
Factoring loan receivables EWREED 31,468 - 31,468
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BUTE REREMERE 283,286 - 283,286
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries ~ FEURH B AR JEER B EFIE 260 - 260
Amounts due from related companies kBB ABDTE 1,287 - 1,287
Current tax assets BEsimEEE 174 - 17
Restricted bank balances RIRGIRTA 8,113 - 8,113
Balances with central bank FHRRETHIE 3,592,688 - 3,592,688
Bank and cash balances BIMREER 885,460 - 885,460
Trade payables R (2,641) - (2,641)
Accruals and other payables HERERREMENTE (420,787) - (420,787
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries ~ TE(IHBAR JFERBEFIE (69) - (69)
Contract liahilities aHER (669,487) - (669,487)
Borrowings [ 480,986) - 480,986)
Lease liabilities MEER (93,919) - (93,919)
Settlement obligations HEER (3,702,560) - (3,702,560)
Current tax liabilities BERBEER (4,212) - (4.212)
Deferred tax liabilities ETRESE (140,069) 2,489) (142,558)
Net assets BESE 1,044,995 83 1,045,083
Share Capital R 154,484 - 154,484
Reserves [ 1,258,694 88 1258782
Non-controlling interests FEERER (368,183) - (368,183)
Equity s 1,044,995 88 1,045,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Contd)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements (Contd)

The abovementioned changes in accounting
policies does not have any impact to the
consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. IRNFRET BRI E AT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING wREZER @
STANDARDS (conta)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EIEMEEEKRERZME]

PEAEARAH

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to standards and interpretation that
have been issued but not yet effective:

éfj%&“f@ﬂéi%ﬂﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁ
I\I
AEEMFREEAUTE
98 12 14 o 25 34 2 2 B 2 4
SARRE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
PR BEAS A &R
ZEHREN

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
BEGHENE IR 2B A —REENEAMENTIERE

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
ARG EANE IR 2B A -NEZHEZIERTER

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback
BEARAMBREENF R BT A —ERALFZHEER

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)”)

BAEAREFRR (KEF]) UHEBRREI —ERAEEE
REREERFRRZEMER 2R (HEZEFELM 5] 1)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

BAEGERNETRREBMBRE ENETRZIETR—
HEEMEZH

Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability
BARAGTENB2IR BT A —RZ o Rk

Except for the amendments to standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE-T-=E+- AT+ QLEE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BRI RAEMES T B BT

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREER @

STANDARDS (Conta)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b)
not yet effective (Conta)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (the
“2020 Amendments ”) and Amendments to HKAS
1 “"Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be based
on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAH

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Conta)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (the
“2020 Amendments ”) and Amendments to HKAS
1 “"Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Contad)

For rights to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date which are
conditional on the compliance with covenants,
the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022
Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that
only covenants with which an entity is required to
comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to
comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify
the disclosure requirements about information
that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current
when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those
liabilities is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

168

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Conta)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Conta)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (the
“2020 Amendments ”) and Amendments to HKAS
1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Contad)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective
date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period
after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the
entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for
that period.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below
(e.g. financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

The material accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

(a)

PEAEARAF

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on

which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(a)

170

Consolidation (Conta)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company's share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Consolidation (Conta)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amounts
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment loss, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(c)

172

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Group’'s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum
of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary
is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added
to the sum of the consideration transferred in a
business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at the non-controlling
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and
liabilities at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(c)

(d)

PEAEARAF

Business combination and goodwill
(Contd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") or groups
of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(d)

Associates (Contad)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements by the
equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate'’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(d)

PEAEARAF

Associates (Contad)

The Group’'s share of an associate's post-
acquisition profits or losses and other
comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate
that results in a loss of significant influence
represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that associate
and (i) the Group's entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(d)

(e)

176

Associates (Contad)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(1) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in
RMB which is the Company’s presentation
currency. The functional currency of the
Company is HKS$. The directors consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency
best suit the needs of the shareholders and
investors.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity's

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(e)

PEAEARAH

Foreign currency translation (Contd)

(ii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements (Contd)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in the term of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Contd)

(i) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all
foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of hyperinflate history economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(e)

(f)

PEAEARAH

Foreign currency translation (Contd)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes.

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(f)

180

Property, plant and equipment (Contd)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
life on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of lease
and estimated useful life,
being no more than 20
years after the date of
completion

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and office  20% - 33%

equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
The residual values, useful life and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(9)

PEAEARAF

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops
and office furniture. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(9)

182

Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by its related subsidiaries,
which does not have recent third party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and security.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

4.

EXGER @

(9)

HE &

FEFHERABA (B
EHECERC  HEARY
THEEHANEMEERE
REMRS REELBEEDF
R B ZRAEIR > Bl AR
TEER 57 E - I A 1ERTIE
AR RRIR - IRA) T FERD
B -HEERRBHEMNAS
2> M ERXRAERR
KEsE

HEEENFETRAEESR
REIEHMNLEXRNTEEE
IR KL #EETRIER H
EENSGHHBEERTN
B

SETEEERIX, K&
I

. AATERT ERE
RIETAA BTG 5
SHRMEAL R
B LR B IS 5
= R E LR E
> 88 ;

. EREME BRmE
Ealicinl - WNSI SR =Ei|
EZFEERE (RO
BE-ZSRE) BAEE
RBRFE ; K

. HEBEFE 2 ER
B HIINFEH BxR-E
s R HE R o

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(9)

PEAEARAF

Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(9)

Leases (Contd)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether
the rent concessions are lease modifications,
are recognised the changes in consideration as
negative lease payment in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(h)

PEAEARAH

Other intangible assets

(1) Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group's
SaaS (Software as a Service) or third-party
payment services platform development
is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

it £35S

the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

management intends to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

there is ability to use or sell the
intangible asset;

it can be demonstrated how the
intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development can be reliably
measured.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(h) Other intangible assets (Contd)

(1)

(i)

186

Internally-generated intangible assets —
research and development expenditure
(Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years. Where
no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Intangible assets acquired through business
combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are identified and recognised
separately from goodwill where they satisfy
the definition of an intangible asset.

Trademarks assessed to have indefinite
useful life are not amortised. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is
indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life
assessment for that asset. If they do not,
the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and
amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated
remaining useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(h)

(i)

PEAEARAH

Other intangible assets (Conta)

(1) Intangible assets acquired through business

combination — trademarks, E-commerce
applications and distribution networks
(Contd)
Impairment reviews of intangible assets
with indefinite useful life are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment.

E-commerce applications and distribution
network are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful life of
6.7 years and 2.7 years since the date of
acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which
are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a customer that it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered,
unless the expected amortisation period is one
year or less from the date of initial recognition of
the asset, in which case the costs are expensed
when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract
are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used
to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because
the Group entered into the contract. Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(j)

(k)

PEAEARAH

Other contract costs (Conta)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL’) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(aa)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(k)

)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Contd)

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

)

(m)

PEAEARAF

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Conta)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(m) Financial assets (Contad)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective
interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(m)

(n)

PEAEARAF

Financial assets (Contad)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.
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AR E TR MR
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(n)

(o)

(p)

194

Trade and other receivables (Contd)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(a)

(r)

(s)

PEAEARAH

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Any equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an equity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

196

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Subscription solutions

The Group offers SaaS (Software as a Service)
which is a cloud-based software and related
services to paying merchants. The Group is
responsible for delivering the cloud-based
software, paying server hosting fees to external
cloud computing infrastructure providers to ensure
the SaaS running stably and accessible to all paying
merchants. Revenue of subscription solutions
includes fixed subscription fees and additional
cloud service fees. Fixed subscription fees are
generally recognised over time on a rateable basis
over the contract term beginning on the date
that the service is made available to merchant.
The Group charges the merchants variable cloud
service fees that is generally calculated based on
number of transactions processed through the
Saa$S products.

The Group's channel partners introduce merchants
to the Group and are remunerated by commission
based on certain percentage of the subscription
fee. The Group's channel partners are required to
follow the Group's pricing policy and the Group is
primarily responsible for the provision of service.
Commissions paid to channel partners are
incremental costs of obtaining contracts and are
recognised as “capitalised contract costs” followed
by charging into selling expenses on a rateable
basis which is in line with the revenue recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

PEAEARAH

Revenue and other income (Contd)

Subscription solutions (Contd)

Most paying merchants have signed contracts with
the Group with terms of one to three years and pay
full subscription fees in advance. Paying merchants
can choose to pay their cloud service fees in
advance or on demand. The portion that underlying
service not yet provided to paying merchants at
end of reporting period are recognised as “contract
liabilities”

The Group also provides paying merchants with
customisation services based on standardised
SaaS products. Revenue is recognised when
control over the customised SaaS products has
been transferred to the paying merchants. Paying
merchants cannot receive and consume the
benefits simultaneously from the Group or control
the customised SaaS products until the product
has been passed to them. The Group generally
has no alternative use on the customised SaaS
products due to contractual restrictions. However,
an enforceable right to payment does not arise
until the customised SaaS products are accepted
by paying merchants. Therefore, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customised
Saa$S products are received and accepted by paying
merchants.

Costs to fulfil performance obligation of
customisation services are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by charging
into cost of sales when the customised SaaS
products are received and accepted by paying
merchants which is in line with the revenue
recognition.

it £35S

B

4.

EoEC=

—_—<—

F+A=+—HLEFE

EXGER @

(t)

Waa K ELAtUA ()

TR AT 5 (H8)
REBNEBRREHELEER
BI—E=F28% BXEAE
EIANESEIERE: §— ERNE =]
KA EZRRANEFEM
HERBE -NEREARERK
A & B X IEHAEBRRESN
BoRERENERE -

AEBNTANVEIRREHE
MRIZ#1ESaaSE @ < Tl iR
75 o B E flSaaSE fh 2 12l 1
EE TR REED N o
NTEERRERTA T
BB B A B 15 ROHFER
@ NP BEERIE FlSaaSE
fh o R B AIPRE > E HlSaaS
Em—MEAERMNS L E
BARBA®E A IREHISaaS
EREMRAREMNG g
EE AR AER] o ALt
W am B2 AT B s S U I 4 A
TE FSaaSE m ST °

BOTESRBBEOEEZM
KSR ETEBHIRE -
B FESD — 2 0 I TEfISaaS
FE m & (T 7R 7 R UL B 3 12 A
Ry 5t A B & B s

197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

198

Revenue and other income (Contd)

Merchant solutions

The Group provides various value-added services
to address paying merchants’ online and/or offline
operation needs, including transaction services,
advertisement, online traffic monetisation,
merchandise sourcing and distribution, consumer
protection and sales of POS equipment.

(i)

Transaction services

The Group provides transaction services
to help payees accepting, processing and
settling payment transactions of payers in
various payment scenarios. Revenue of
transaction fees are recognised over the
time of delivering of transaction service as
paying merchants simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits of transaction
services. The Group charges the payee a
transaction fee that is generally calculated
as a percentage of the total transaction
amount processed and the Group has right
to decide the charging fee rate. Transaction
services are recognised as revenue on a
gross basis as the Group is the principal in
delivery of the transaction solutions to the
payees. The Group has concluded it is the
principal because it controls the services
before delivery to the payees, it is primarily
responsible for the delivery of the services
and has discretion in setting prices charged
to payees. The Group also has the unilateral
ability to accept or reject a transaction
based on criteria established by the Group.
The Group is also liable for the costs of
processing the transactions for the payees,
and records such costs within cost of sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

PEAEARAH

Revenue and other income (Contd)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(i)

(ii)

Transaction services (Contd)

Transaction costs paid to upstream payment
service providers to fulfil the performance
obligation of transaction services are costs
to fulfil contracts and are recognised as
“capitalised contract costs” followed by
charging into costs of sales which is in line
with the revenue recognition.

Advertisement

The Group arranges online marketing
service to advertisers. Advertisement charge
rate is prescribed by the social media.
Social media grant to the Group rebates
in the form of prepayments for the social
media’s services mainly based on the gross
spending of the advertisers. Advertisers are
usually required to pay in advance for the
online marketing services. Management
assessed that the arrangement suggests
the social media, rather than the Group, is
primarily responsible for providing the online
marketing services and control the specified
service before that service is transferred to
the advertisers. The Group is regarded as an
intermediary in executing these transactions
and therefore recognise agreed rebates from
social media as revenue.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t) Revenue and other income (Contad)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(ii)

Advertisement (Contd)

In some circumstances, the Group offers
discounts or rebates to the advertisers
as part of its promotion activities. When
determining whether the discounts or
rebates represent consideration payable to
customers, management assessed that (a)
the Group is an agent in the arrangement
(therefore the advertisers are not the
Group’s customers); and (b) the discounts
or rebates offered to the advertisers are
not contractually required in the agreement
between the Group and the social media
(therefore the Group is not offering
discounts or rebates on behalf of social
media). As a result, the discounts or rebates
offered by the Group are not considered
to represent consideration payable to
customers. Rather, the discounts or rebates
offered are promotion activities to attract
advertisers and are accounted for as selling
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

PEAEARAH

Revenue and other income (Contd)

Merchant solutions (Contd)

(iii)

Other value-added services

The Group collects service fees from other
value-added services, including online
traffic monetisation (Youzanke - BE%),
merchandise sourcing and distribution
(Youzan Distribution — B & 43#H), consumer
protection (Youzan Guarantee — B B1#E1R),
etc. The merchants are benefited from the
above services only when the consumers
accepted or received the underlying goods
or services purchased from merchants,
therefore revenue of these services are
recognised at the point in time when the
relevant orders settlement take place.

Revenue from the sale of point of sale
equipment is recognised when control of
the equipment has transferred, being when
the equipment has been shipped to the
merchants’ specific location. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the
equipment is delivered to the merchants
as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Others

Revenue from catering services is recognised

at the point of sale of food and beverages to
customers.

Revenue from management services provided to

a related party is recognised over the time when
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(t)

(u)

202

Revenue and other income (Contd)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Employee benefits

(1) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

(1) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(u)

(v)

PEAEARAF

Employee benefits (Contd)

(iir)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of the dates when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment
of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(w) Borrowing costs

204

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset is ready for
its intend use or sales is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowing.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(x)

(y)

PEAEARAH

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(y)

Taxation (Contd)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised all for deductible
temporary differences for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(y)

PEAEARAF

Taxation (Contd)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(z)

208

Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed
for impairment annually and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications
of impairment and where an asset is impaired,
it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating
unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating
unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit
and then pro rata amongst the other assets of
the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes
in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(aa)

PEAEARAF

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI, trade receivables and contract
assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
in e TR M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE-T-=E+- AT+ QLEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conto) 4. FREGER @

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and (aa) HBEERSHNEERE

contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group's debtors operate, obtained
from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group's
core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

PEAEARAH

Significant increase in credit risk (Contd)

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and

212

contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contd)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing” Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

4.

EXGER @

(aa) MBEEKRSGHVEERE

()

EERBEHEEEN (&
BEW LT HEMITAR
BEABMEBEERRBRER
ERBATERRRZERH
TENEERRBEY D ER
ORI R E G 0 o fi tHER T
IER eI AEERER
BIEEERR :

i) E=RMIEEARENE

2N
oo )
2

(i)  EHBAREHRNEFHR
EENHEBTHEHENRE

MEBEME K

(i)  REIEEREDRR
AR EE P BB —E
BB ERABITEGH
REMNEFENIE

EVBEENIEEETRS
MBI (REBEIKEMR
R  RIXERSHRZEM
HEENEERBRRE 5t
SNEBEFARA R ARAS c BIZ B B
BIPRERET ARk A TR AI AR A - FE
MmAIERZHFAHBIEE
BN AT mmEASEE o

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(aa)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Significant increase in credit risk (Contd)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
in e TR M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE-T-=E+- AT+ QLEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conto) 4. FREGER @

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and (aa) HBEERSHNEERE
contracts assets (Contad) #)
Definition of default (Contd) BAIHEZE (4B)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty's financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(aa)

PEAEARAH

Impairment of financial assets and
contracts assets (Contd)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE—S-=et-F=+—HLEE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conta) 4. EXEHR @

(aa) MBEEKRSGHVEERE

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and

contracts assets (Contd)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Contd)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the
expected loss allowance is the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)

(ab)

(ac)

PEAEARAH

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group's position
at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised
and to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
Details of the directors’ going concern assessment
are explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)  Intangible assets — Trademarks assessed to have

indefinite useful life

The Group regarded and assessed its trademarks
to have indefinite useful life as at end of reporting
period. Accounting policy of intangible assets
with indefinite useful life is set out in note 4(h)
to the consolidated financial statements. Details
of the trademarks and the reasons for the
Group’s assessment are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Contad)

(c)

()

PEAEARAF

Equity pick up of entity of less than 20% equity
interest

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the
voting power of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd., the directors considered that
the Group has significant influence over Nanjing
Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
Kuaizi Information Technology Co., Ltd. because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the
five directors of Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Kuaizi Information
Technology Co., Ltd.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets
depends on the results of the SPPI (i.e. Solely
Payments of Principal and Interest) test and the
business model test. The Group determines the
business model at a level that reflects how groups
of financial assets are managed together to achieve
a particular business objective. This assessment
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the
risks that affect the performance of the assets and
how these are managed and how the managers
of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to
their maturity to understand the reason for their
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent
with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s
continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are
held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to
the classification of those assets. No such changes
were required during the periods presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Contd)

(e)

(1)

220

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(aa), ECL are measured as
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.

Generally, periods covered by an extension
option in other properties leases have not been
included in the lease liability because the Group
could replace the assets without significant cost
or business disruption. See note 20 for further
information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group's control.
During the current financial year, no lease term has
been reassessed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)

PEAEARAF

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (Contd)

The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as
at 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB8,553,000 and RMB10,227.000 respectively
after impairment losses of RMB22,110,000 and
RMB80,393,000 were recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2022: RMB18,739,000
and RMB13,742,000 respectively after impairment
losses of RMB22,110,000 and RMB80,393,000
were recognised in the year ended 31 December
2021).

(b)  Intangible assets amortisation and impairment

The Group determines the estimated useful life
and related amortisation for the Group's intangible
assets. The useful life of intangible assets (except
RMB942,418,000 (2022: RMB942,418,000)
trademarks) (before any impairment) are assessed
to be finite, based on the expected usage and
technical obsolescence from the changes in the
market demands or services output from the
assets. Intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised over the expected useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible assets may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for the intangible assets with
a finite useful life are reviewed by the management
at least at the end of each reporting period. For the
trademarks with indefinite useful life are tested for
impairment annually and included in the CGU B
impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(b)

(c)

PEAEARAH

Intangible assets amortisation and impairment
(Contd)

The carrying amount of intangible assets as
at 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB692,819,000 (2022: RMB773,945,000 after
impairment losses of RMB459,553,000 were
recognised in the year ended 31 December 2021)
after impairment losses of RMB459,553,000 were
recognised in the year ended 31 December 2021.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
RMB11,596,000 (2022: RMB5,298,000) of income
tax expense was recognised in profit or loss,
RMB13,746,000 (2022: RMB18,307000) credit to
profit or loss were recorded which mainly related
to reversal of deferred tax liabilities on intangible
assets and deferred tax liabilities of capitalised
contract cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

()

(e)

224

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
RMB341,326,000 (2022: RMB341,326,000).

Details of goodwill are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being
revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB21,549,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB8,940,000)
(2022: RMB13,120,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of RMB8,428,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(7)

PEAEARAH

Impairment loss for deposits and other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss for bad
and doubtful debts based on assessments of
the recoverability of the deposits and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts, in particular of a loss event, requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the
prepayment, deposits and other receivables and
doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of prepayment, deposits and other receivables
is RMB212,962,000 (net of allowance of
RMB13,170,000) (2022: RMB283,647000 (net of
allowance of RMB11,604,000)).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(9)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOC/

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors
in assessing the fair value of the Group's
investments. The valuer estimated the fair value of
the Group’s major investments. The valuer using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investees,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount for lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions.

Apart from the above, the Group has certain
small investments. The Directors of the Group
have estimated the fair value of these smaller
investments mainly based on the latest financial
information and their understanding of the
operating environment of these investments.
These smaller investments have total carrying
amount of nil as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

The carrying amount of the investments as at
31 December 2023 was RMBG66,298,000 (2022:
RMB70,993,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Conta)

(h)

PEAEARAH

Investments in financial assets at FVTPL

In the absence of quoted market prices in an
active market, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist the Directors in
assessing the fair value of the Group’s investments
which classified as financial assets at FVTPL
as at 31 December 2023. The valuer estimated
the fair value of the Group's investments using
valuation technique by considering information of
the investees from a variety of sources, including
the latest financial information of the investees,
applicable market comparable financial ratios and
discount for lack of marketability. The Directors
have exercised their judgement to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique and
were satisfied that the method of valuation and
assumptions used were reflective of the market
conditions

The carrying amounts of the Group's investments
in financial assets measured at FVTPL as at 31
December 2023 was RMB282,374,000 (2022:
RMB285,642,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
entities had no significant assets or liabilities
denominated in currency other than respective
functional currencies.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with
banks and financial institutions, and other financial
instruments. The Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances and balances with central bank
is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAF

Credit risk (Conta)

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’'s established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. The Group usually
does not grant any credit term to customer unless
some special cases. For those special cases, the
Group will grant a credit period less than 120
days. Debtors with balances that are more than
3 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.
As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b) Credit risk (Conta) (b)
Trade receivables (contd)
The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

S8R @)
e AR (48)
TRIEMHA A £ EEUR
Mz IEE KO KA S

receivables: BEEEZEN
2023
—E=H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHAESIRE HREREE BEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARETFT
Current (not past due) BIHER (Riafh) 0 21,549 -
Up to 3 months past due BH=EAZR 100% 3,865 (3,865)
Over 6 months NMEB L E 100% 5,075 (5,075)
30,489 (8,940)
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b) Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERKE®
Trade receivables (contd) JEUGERZ (48)
2022

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TAHAEEEX BIREE iR
RMB'000 RMB'000
% AREF T AREF T
Current (not past due) Bl (Riash) 0% 13,120 -
Up to 3 months past due BH=EAZR 100% 1,569 (1,669)
Over 6 months NMEB L E 100% 6,859 (6,859)
21,548 (8,428)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 1 year. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected life of the receivables.
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6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(b)

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

6. HBERMREIER®

Credit risk (Contd) (b) EEREKE @
Trade receivables (contd) JEWAR ()
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect REERWERM 2 BEEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: IREEFHANT -
2023 2022
== .S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
At 1 January w—A—H 8,428 10,775
Allowance for the year FREE 9,177 11,425
Reversal of allowance for the year F (O] (6,521) (7,747)
Written-off of allowance £ (2,173) (6,025)
Exchange difference PE R =28 29 -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 8,940 8,428
Financial assets at amortised cost A G EZ I EE
All of the Group's financial assets at amortised KEBMMEBZBIHENATE

cost are considered to have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12-month expected losses.

Financial assets at amortised cost include deposits
and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholder of subsidiaries and
amounts due from related companies.

ZHBEEIRBRAEER
BREE - RIE R HA RSS2 5
BEBERK12E S B

Be

BB AT ENMBTEE
BIERE R EAthEWTRIE &
W B JBB A B JE I BR AR BR AR IR

R FE YR BB A B

TRIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(b)

PEAEARAH

Credit risk (Conta) (b) EERKE®
Financial assets at amortised cost (Contd) BRI E I EE
#
Movement in the loss allowance for financial KEERBIHNANGTEZ B
assets at amortised cost during the year is as BEEZBEEBEEEHNT .
follows:
Loans
and other
receivables
I=¢595-8=8ul
RMB'000
AREFIT
At 1 January 2022 W& - _F—H—H 8,539
Allowance for the year, net FRERE FEE 3,065
At December 2022 and 1 January 2023 NS "F+ "Bk
—E-F#—HF—H 11,604
Allowance for the year, net FREE R 1,566
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=%+"R=+—H 13,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6.

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group's non-
derivative financial liabilities is as follows:

MBERRER @

() REBEZEE
AEBZHERASTEMEER
BEREASETF R BR
HERFRRRTRE LURE
HIg AR RIARBETH K

rEEZIFTEMHERR
BEORTRF M Z EH
BoMfaT :

Less than Between More than
1year 2tob years 5 years Total
DR—F REERE AEME aF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARETR®
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=&
+ZB=+—-H
Trade payables FE{TERTR 2,571 - - 2,571
Accruals and other payables ~ FEIRER K
HARER B 375,042 - - 375,042
Lease liabilities HEER 23,996 75,983 - 99,979
Borrowings EEN - 497914 - 497914
At 31 December 2022 ==
+-R=+—H
Trade payables FE{TERAR 2,641 - - 2,641
Accruals and other payables ~ TEIREAK
HAtEATRRIE 408,016 - - 408,016
Lease liabilities HEafE 29,176 77197 14,350 120,723
Borrowings &M 489,704 - - 489,704

234

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta)

(d)

PEAEARAH

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s exposure to interest-rate risk arises
from its bank deposits. These deposits bear
interests at variable rate varied with the prevailing
market condition.

At 31 December 2023, if interest rates at that date
had been 100 basis points higher with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after
tax for the year would have been RMB7767000
(2022: RMB7481,000) lower, arising mainly as a
result of higher interest income on bank deposits.
If interest rates had been 100 basis points lower,
with all other variables held constant, consolidated
loss after tax for the year would have been
RMB7,767000 (2022: RMB7481,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of lower interest income
on bank deposits.

The Group’s bank deposits and borrowings bear
interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's balances with central bank bear
interest at fixed interest rates in accordance with
the regulations and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risks.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

6.

MBERRER @

(d)

FIEER
FEEBHZAXERERE
HIRITFEMR - ZEEMARIR
THREH FEHERGFTR -

RZIEZ=F+ZHA=+—
H>MEHZHMZELEF100ME
BHEL MPrAE HtESUIRE
g AFEFERRES
BrEgR D ARE7767,000
T (ZEZZHF AR
7,481,0007t) » FERHR
ZERITERZBSH B U
APRER o i F] K FE K 10018 &
25 M E MBS REFR
g8 HFERARNEEIRRE
218 A K177670007T (=
=T F ARM7481,000
o) EERHRZERTE
RZBIEF) SEUAPTE

REBZIRITTER KRB
BEEF KR ALLEERAT
BEFRER -

REBZHFRP RIBITRIE

BROILE EF RS ElIE
ERAFEMNEREE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Conta) 6. HMBRAKRERE®

(e) Categories of financial instruments at (e) M+ZHA=+—HZEm

31 December

TRLER
2023 2022
e —EC
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Financial assets: MBEE
Financial assets measured at BEHNR AT E S
amortised cost MHBEE 3,747,666 4,779,664
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESATERERZ
MBEE 282,374 285,642
Financial assets measured at BN EF AT
FVTOCI - unlisted equity securities ~ EM 2 EW &R Z 75
BE-—FLHRAFES 66,298 70,993
Financial liabilities: MBaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AT E 2
MBas 2,874,666 4,113,286
Borrowings (EEN 470,444 480,986
(f)  Fair values H AFE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial KEBRGEHBERRIRK

assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use
a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access at
the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

DNHEAEE

AT ERTS2RAENANERQRE
—SERRXS L E B ETWEEL
EEAEMN 2B TXERAR
TEERKEATEINEEL MAF
BEERREAEQAFEFMBMGER
gz w A BUE D 2 = AR A

mpEmA  AEEREAE B
2 BZzHEREEHER/RN
TEETIS 2 ME CRE

FREE) o

mpl2BmA  BREARBINREBZEAR
2R - &I BT E R AR
RS ZEENEER
UN ¢ 3

RBBHMA BENEBBZFAAHRE
R WA BUR

AEBZBERBRNEBESHAER

BREREF 2B BB ER=ER
BlZBA KRBT
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

7

[NHEANEZE @

(a) H+-A=+—HAFE

hierarchy at 31 December: 4R 2 4R AN B
Fair value measurements using: Tota
MATERNEE: a5
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
AN RA2 B®A3 —BZ=
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTR AR®BTRT ARETR
Recurring fair value BRATENEL .
measurements:
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES AT
BaRzHBEE
- unlisted preferred shares —FEEMELER - - 277125 277125
Financial assets at FVTPL BATERATE
BRaRzHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JEEMRAES - - 5,249 5,249
Financial assets at FVTOC| BATERA
FHMZ2ERER
ZHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JEEMRAES - - 66,298 66,298
- - 348,672 348,672
Fair value measurements using: Total
DAFERES =
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
Rl A2 HA3 B CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR
Recurring fair value BRATENZE:
measurements:
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATES AT
BREREZVBEE
- unlisted preferred shares —JEETELR - - 280,891 280,891
Financial assets at FVTPL BATERATE
BaRzHBEE
- unlisted equity securities —JFEmRERES - - 4,751 4,751
Financial assets at FVTOC| BATEst AT HEM
SENERZHH
- unlisted equity securities —JFEmRERES - - 70,993 70,993
- - 356,635 356,635
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BWE—E-_—g+-A=+—AILEE
7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta) 7 AFENEE®
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) BEBFBAFEAEZEE
fair value based on Level 3: ZHER :

Financial assets  Financial assets

at FVTOCI - at FVTPL-  Financial assets
unlisted equity  unlisted equity at FVTPL -
securities securities  preferred shares Total
ROPE

HAERM  BATE
sEAEE,  HAGAEE  #ATE
EEE  2BBEE  AEAEE

—JELH —-JELH ZHBEE .
BEES RAES -k &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT NS AT ANRETT
At 1 January 2022 WZE__F-A—H 71,490 8,935 363,740 444,165
Additions during the year ERAFE - - 20,000 20,000
Cash received from redemption BOFYERZRE - - (30,000) (30,000)
Loss on redemption of financial assetat ~ EEIRATE ATES
FVTPL ReHBEEZBR - - (5,384) (5,384)
Total gain or loss recognised [yl G b
= In profit or loss N - (4,184) (69,153) (73,337)
~ In other comprehensive income -REMZERA (729) - - (729)
Exchange difference ERER 232 - 1,688 1,920
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZZF
1 January 2023 +ZA=+-8k
_Z”_-F-A-H 70,993 4,751 280,891 356,635
Total gain or loss recognised =i e
— In profit or loss —RER - 498 (4,188) (3,690)
- In other comprehensive income -REMZAERA (4,870) - - (4,870)
Exchange difference ERER 175 - 422 597
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F
+-B=+-H 66,298 5,249 277125 348,672
Total gains or loss recognised in other E 2 U s S 2 I
comprehensive income are presented in the HEERENGREERARE
consolidation statement of profit or loss and other HMEEmWARPES o

comprehensive income.

Total gains or loss recognised in profit or loss are RiBm MR 2 N m 3 A Ia 4R
presented in fair value change in financial assets at BRiGeEarxP2EAF
FVTPL in the consolidation statement of profit or Bt A\TER R MBEE
loss. 2 AT EEHZT] o
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2023:

The Group's financial controller is responsible
for the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board
of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group
will normally engage independent external
valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

7

[NHEANEZE @

(c)

FERR_E_=F+"
A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K
& .
AEBEUBREEEEETY
BREMFEZEEREEZ
NEAEE BERFIBA
FTEASE MBREEER
EFERSHEFAFEANE
FoMBBEREFTEZHE
Fom—REEZREF MG
Ho

FLARBIBATFEREZEMES
AEBEBESIHEEERR
EXERBTPRAEGELR
ZEUNBSEEERETAH
B fE
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(c)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023:

(Contad)

Level 3 fair value measurements

BECT—F+A=-+t—HILFE

7 AFEAEE®

(c)

TERR_E_-=

4=

A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K

B @

RSB FER 2%

Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i3 YUt 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2023 2022
ZECZE TTCCE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTOCI - unlisted
equity securities
BRATEGAZEMRE
Wik MBEE
- EhREES
Company A Market multiples with an  Price-to-Book 0.43x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in P/B 63,420 64,840
("PB") (2022: 0.45x)  will increase the fair value would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
RMBG,341,000/RMB6,342,000
AFA =) 043 FOBEHAUNBZLMBER  WEREEM,/ HL10%$E
(CBZZ®: ATEEM PATEEN/AVAR
0.45(%) 6,341,007/ AE%
6,342,000
DLOM 3781% Increase in unobservable input ~ 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2022: 28.21%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB7711,000/RMB7710,000
BHSRBLTE 81% TARZEAUBEMEER SEngrEkiBLn/ W"‘
(CBZZ&:  ATERD %R EHATERD /S
28.21%) AR OOOE/AEW
7710,0007
Volatility ("VOL') 64.67% Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2022: 48.79%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB7271,000/RMB7734,000
) 64.67% FEIEEHABBREMAER ﬁmarmnu/mmm% REHAT
(CBZZF:  ATEAD B/ EMARE7271,000
48.79%) m//\ﬁmmmoo;u
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023:

(Contad)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

7 ATHEAEZE®

(c)

FERNR_E-=5+="
B=+—BEHAZGETRE
FRAFEINERFERZ
{{ERT R A BE 2 1%

EZ B

ARBYBA-FER 2% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i3 AR YUt 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2023 2022
ZECZE TTCCE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTOCI - unlisted
equity securities
BRATEGAZEMRE
Wik MBEE
- EhREES
Company B Market multiples with an  Enterprise value to 2.27x Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/S 2,878 6,153
adjustment of DLOM sales multiples (2022:2.02x)  will increase the fair value would result in fair value by
("EV/S") RMB432,000/RMB411,000
AFB LENERBLNES CEEEEHER 22718 FOBRGAMBENSESR CEEERHEBLEEN/ R
BRNTHER thx (hEEE (CZZZZE: ATEEM 0%RERATEEN/ B
BHEBILE)) 2.0218) AR 432,007/ AR
41,0008
DLOM 2857%  Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2022: 30.69%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB381,000/RMB400,000
BMERELNE 2857% FIBRHEARBENAER EnEREHELN/HL
(CB-ZE:  ATERD NHFERATFERD /B
30.69%) MARH381,0007/ ARE
400,0007%
\VOL 89.60% Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2022: 8722%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB676,000/RMB682,000
Pl 80.60% AABZHARBEMAER KRN/ HL0%FEHAT
(CBZZE: QTERD B, /S5 M A R 676,000
8722%) 7./ NE 682,000
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7.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023:

(Contad)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

BECT—F+A=-+t—HILFE

7 AFEANE

(c)

)

FERR_E_=F+"
A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K

B @

ARBYBA-FER 2% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i3 AR YUt 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2023 2022
ZECZE TTCCE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFR ARETRT
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BRATEG AERER
ZHBEE-BER
Group Companies C Market multiple with an ~ EV/S 2.78x6.22x  Increase in unobservable input  10%-20% increase/decrease 269,708 270,675
adjustment of DLOM (2022:2.65x-8.9x)  will increase the fair value in EV/S would result in
increase/decrease fair
value by RMB415,000 to
RMB8,521,000/RMB394,000
to RMB7948,000
£@AFC SEMFTELTEE CEEERNER 27856.22fF FABZHANBENAEE CEEAEHERLRLEN/ 5
BR2THER th® (ZBZZF: ATEEM 10%-20% RS A FEE
2.65(2-8.918) DU/W\AEMOOOM
AR8521,0007/ AR
394,00070 E A K #7948,000
T
DLOM 15.09%-28.44%  Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in
(2022:16.57%  will decrease the fair value DLOM would result in
-30.64%) decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB225,000 to
RMB7065,000/RMB232,000 to
RMB7514,000
EHBTBINE  15.00%2844% TARSHAKBENAER EnEREHTEENH)
(CBZZ&:  ATERD NHFERATFERD /B
16.57%-30.64% ) MARK225,000tEARE
7065,0007,/ A E1232,000
TEARE1514,0007
\VOL 45.41%-66.17% Increase in unobservable input  10%-20% increase/decrease
(2022: 4771%  will decrease the fair value in VOL would result in
-73.28%) decreasefincrease in fair
value by RMB101,000 to
RMB10,413,000/RMB303,000
to RMB9,845,000
g 45.41%-66.17% AAIREEARREMLER /&’maaiﬁﬂﬂ/ D 10%-20% 15
(CBZZF:  ATEHD RFERD/BMARE
4771%-73.28%) 10 1,00070E A K 10,413,000
7o/ ARH303,000TEAR
19,845,0007T
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023:

(Contad)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

7 AFEANE

(c)

)

FERR_E_=F+"
A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K

B @

ARBYBA-FER 2% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i3 AR YUt 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2023 2022
ZEIZE ZTICE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTRT ARETR
Financial assets at
FVTPL - preferred
shares
BATEG AERER
ZHBEE-BER
Company E Market multiples with an ~ EV/EBITDA 5.85x  Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/ 7417 10,216
adjustment of DLOM (2022:16.6x)  will increase the fair value EBITDA would result in
increase/decrease in fair value
by RMB305,000/RMB297,000
AFE LENSRBENER CEEEERA 585 TOREBAMBEMSER CEEEERNE RBNE
BRNTHER S REHE (CBZZ&: ATEEM REHART ttfimﬂﬂ/ﬁ
RESHHRAL 16.62) IO%RERATEEM,/ A
% D AR E305,0007/ AR
2970007%
DLOM 23.01% Increase in unobservable input  20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2022:18.23%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB166,000/RMB168,000
BHSRBLTE B01% TABEHATBENGER ENSRELRELN/ W"‘
(CBZZ&:  ATERD 0% REHATERD /S
18.23%) nummwseoom/m”&
168,0007T
\VOL 60.03% Increase in unobservable input - 20% increase/decrease in VOL
(2022: 49.25%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB28,000/RMB28,000
il 60.03% FEIEEHABBREMAER /&’mmimﬁﬂ/ AL ERAT
(C2ZZED AYERD BRI AR %28,0007T
49.25%) / Aﬁmzs 0007
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (conta)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process
used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023:

(Contd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Contd)

BECT—F+A=-+t—HILFE

7 AFEAEE®

(c)

FERR_E_=F+"
A=+—HfEAZ&{ERE
FRAFENERFERZ
HERMT R ARIRZ K

B @

ARBYBA-FER 2% (B)

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Sensitivity of fair value to
Description technique inputs Parameters increase of inputs the input Fair value
FEBEHA BAHEEM ATEHBABREN
i3 AR YUt 24 HATEZYE HRE ATE
2023 2022
ZEIZE ZTICE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTRT ARETR
Financial assets Market multiples with an ~ EV/S 6.02x Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in EV/S 5,249 4,751
measured at FVTPL adjustment of DLOM (2022: 703X will increase the fair value would result in increase/
- unlisted equity decrease in fair value by
securities RMB591,000/RMB591,000
RATEHACRER CEOSREBLNER CXEEEHER 6028 THEZHARREMGES CEEEEHEBLTEN/ A
ZHBEE-FLT  BENGHREH S (CBZZF: ATEEM 0% RERATEEN/ B
A 703f8) D ARH591,0007T,/ ARE
591,0007T
DLOM 1724% Increase in unobservable input ~ 20% increase/decrease in DLOM
(2022:19.17%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB219,000/RMB219,000
BRERBLNE 724% TIBREARBENAER  EnEREHELN AL
(CB--E:  ATERD NHFERAFERD
19.17%) MAEH219,0007 / A B
219,0007T
\VOL 46.59% Increase in unobservable input  10% increase/decrease in VOL
(2022:5191%)  will decrease the fair value would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB114,000/RMB 114,000
gl 4659% TRABRZHABRENRER &maimﬂﬂ/ HD0%REHAT
(CEZZE: ATERD A/ SEMAR 14,0007
5191%) / Aﬁﬁzm,oooﬁ

During the four years, there were no changes in
the valuation techniques used.

PEEEFARAT T -FEFH

ROUBEFEER FrfEA2fGE
) o
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8. REVENUE

(a)

246

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products or service line for the

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

8. W=

(a) SiFdEm

FRARIBZERVURBED

FzRBEREHZW@N

year is as follows: ™
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFIT
Revenue from contracts with EAMBREERNFE155E
customers within the scope of HEAKEERENZ
HKFRS 15 &=
Subscription Solutions ) Ve ES 838,725 890,223
Merchant Solutions KRR 2 605,929 597780
Others Hih 3,722 8,974
1,448,376 1,496,977

The Group derives revenue from the transfer
of goods and services over time and at a point
in time in the following major product lines and

AEBZW@HmARPKUTE
BEMGRMETE— M
NkFE—REEZ S m KRR

geographical regions: THEH
Third party payment
services Merchant services Others Total
BH%ARE BRIEH Hftr @3t
For the year ended 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
31 December HE+ZA=+-HLEE ZRI=§ 3TTE IRIZE ZITE IRIZE CZICE CBIZE CEICE
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETr ARETR ARETrn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Primary geographic market TEHENS
-PRC ~HE 310,521 328379 1130086 1165738 5497 1964 1446104 1496081
- Japan -B& - - 1,626 790 - - 1,626 790
- Canada -MEX - - 2,176 s - - 2,176 7
Segment revenue B 30521 08379 1133888 1,167302 5,497 1964 1449906 1497645
Intersegment revenue: AERENE
-PRC ~HE - - (1,530) (668) - - (1,530) (668)
Revenue from external customers REMNIEE 2 G 310,521 38379 1132358 1,166,634 5497 1964 1448376 1496977
Timing of revenue WD
recogniton
Ata point in time RE-EEE 1461 167 293,172 268,764 - - 294,633 268,931
Overtime T-BEER 309,060 328,212 839,186 897870 5,497 1964 1153743 1,008,046
Total 3t 310521 38379 1132358 1,166,634 5497 1964 1448376 1496977
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8. REVENUE (conta)

(b) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the year end and the expected
timing of recognising revenue as follows:

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

8. W=E®

(b) PEEEREBRGHZEFT
BHBEZRZE

REREDEEGHR TBHOEME

(REBTHEMHRERET)
ZRZBRER N 2 R
R T -

Subscription Solutions
HI): Y-S
2023 2022
S - S — S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT

Within 1 year —FRN 585,578 620,136

More than 1 year but not —F U EMEURN
more than 2 years 58,463 49,127
More than 2 years M 1,025 224
645,066 669,487

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH
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9.

248

INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

9. KREKRHEMKEA

2023 2022
—EC=HF =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Interest income on:
Bank deposits
Central bank
Loan to other
Financial assets at FVTPL

Total interest income
Government grants*
VAT super-credit
Compensation income
Others

FMEWA :

RITEN 23,332 12,158
FRIRTT 11,660 10,862
BHEMALIEHZER - 171

BATFEFAEERE
ZHBEE 182 1,584
) B WA LERE 35,174 24,775
B e B 7,866 7243
IEEMRNDET TR 2,792 3,519
mE’A - 4,187
Hith 6,714 9,793
52,546 49,517

The Group recognised government grants as follow:

* REERESD AT BB

2023 2022
== —Eq2-
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

Entity-specific financial support

High and New Technology Enterprise
subsidies

Research and development project
subsidies

HEBRERMESIR 7,860 6,954
BT R RS
- 200
B EE IR B ARG
6 89
7,866 7,243

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingent
attached of the receipts of all above government grants.

A3 4 i WAL B _E L P 75 T 468 B 1T 75
RE R Z R e ELAth S PR IR o
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

10. HftasRisis > F88

2023 2022
—E=F BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT
Allowance for trade receivables, net FEW AR FR 34 > /2 %8 (2,656) (3,678)
Allowance for deposits and & REMEWIIE
other receivables, net it PR (1,566) (3,065)
Impairment of investment in an associate P —RHE AT 28 E
A - (1,289)
Net gain on early termination and RERIERENHEZ
modification of leases W R 8 - 29,682
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains FER (B518) Nz /35 (1,633) 4,974
Gain on derecognition of other payables ISR E M RIE
g 20,719 16,910
Property, plant and equipment written off  HiEH¥) %« = K& E (195) (19,006)
Net gain of disposal of property, HEVE BERKEZ
plant and equipment W FRE 220 2,968
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BERBAR 2 W= - 4,603
Loss on redemption of financial assets at  BBLIIRAF{ET ATE
FVTPL Bk UBEEZ
518 - (5,384)
Others HAth 2,583 9,385
17472 36,100

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH
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1.

12.

250

FINANCE COSTS

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

FATE RS

Interest expenses on le
Interest on borrowings

ase liabilities
BERZEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three operating segments as follows:

Third party -
payment
services

Merchant services -

Other (Note) -

provision of third party payment
services and related consultancy
services in the People’'s Republic
of China (the "PRC")

provision of e-commerce
platform with a variety of SaaS
products and comprehensive
services in the PRC through
Youzan Technology Inc. and its
subsidiaries (“Youzan Group"),
which owns Youzan WeiMall,
Youzan Retail, Youzan Beauty and
other SaaS products

other business

Note: The Group's includes General Trading and Onecomm

segment into othe
segments meets

r operating segment. None of these
any of the quantitative thresholds

for determining reportable segments. The information
of these other operating segments is included in the

“"Others” column.

HEABRZHERX

2023 2022
—EC=HF =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREETFIT
8,880 15,707
18,732 9,924
27,612 25,631

DEER
AEEAUT = EEE D

F=HN — RPEARKME
AR5 (THhEl) BHE=
73 %A AR 75 e A8 R

BRI RTS

ARRE — FEEEAEAR
REREKERQE]
(TE8£E)) (H
EEBEMEE-
EEZE -BE®XE
*%SaaSEM) P
EiZ X EEmE T
B BSaaSE mMExR
EHRT

Hith (55 — HMES

et RERER—REZR—IEEM
DEREERHEMEZ DB H
ZEDNMATREEER 2K
DENERELEE ZFH
& D EBI B KL 5T A THE M
_*&ﬁo
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fe= A
17177 R

RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

12.

PEAEARAF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Conta)

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those described in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profits
or losses do not include equity-settled share-based
payments and impairment of goodwill. Segment assets
do not include investments in associates, indemnification
asset, goodwill, financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
assets at FVTPL and other corporate assets. Segment
non-current assets do not include financial instruments,
deferred tax assets and goodwill. Segment liabilities
(current and non-current) do not include current tax
liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, withholding tax payable
and corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers

as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

12.

SEER 69
AEEZAERDMARESEE
mR Rz RIEMEEFEM - ZEFD
BREEBRBRMRTISHEER
BE R RIS EIE o

KENBZETHREZFINES
fA 5 IR AR MY sEAPR A & AR (R o 70 BB i
MBEAEEREEERNDN
MIEREERE DA EENERER
BMEQRRAZKE - RESE -BE-
BAFEsfFATEMERNR@RZ
MHBEE B ATESFATERRRZ
MHEERHMBEBE - DHIFR
PEETCESMIA RIERES
EREE-DHAR CRBRIFRH)
FNEEHAREERE EERBES
B EMRINRKRATIEE.

AEERUEBTEEREESS
HENEEY BRSO BN R
AR o
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AATS AR MIEE
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12.

252

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 12. DEPER @
Information about operating segment profit BRKESS R REEE EE
or loss, assets and liabilities: RaEzEN :
Third party
payment Merchant
services services Others Total
B=H
L TERH GEQ 6 Hith CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETT AREFT ARETTR
Year ended 31 December 2023 BECT_=F
+ZA=+—-HUtEE
Revenue from external customers RENMDER Z G 310,521 1,132,358 5,497 1,448,376
Intersegment revenue naatle - 1,530 - 1,530
Segment profit/(loss) PEEF/ (BB 78,018 (75,550) 5,466 7,934
Interest income FEBA 15,466 17211 265 33,002
Finance costs BN 122 27423 - 27545
Depreciation and amortisation TERE#H 7,905 94,893 - 102,798
Other material items of non-cash items: EtEAFRELIER
- Allowance for trade receivables, net  —IEWUERTUEfE » B H
(note 10) (Mi%E10) - (2,656) - (2,656)
- Gain on derecognition of other — R FREREMENTIE W&
payables (note 10) (Mi%E10) - 20,719 - 20,719
Income tax expense/(credit) Fiisims/ (%) 10,593 (13,473) 730 (2,150)
Additions to segment non-current assets/RE 2 S3ETEN S E - 9,057 - 9,057
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=H%
+ZB=+—H
Segment assets NHEE 2,767423 1,574,813 74,793 4,417,029
Segment liabilities AR =L 2,504,885 1,550,915 3,588 4,059,388
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

HE_Z_=—F+"_A=1+—HIEFE
12. DEER @
BRAKE

Information about operating segment profit
or loss, assets and liabilities: (Contd)

RafRZzEH @

HEREFINEE - EE

Third party
payment Merchant
services services Others Total
£=Hh N \
IR EER b i At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(re-presented)
(=5
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E_C
+ZB=1+—-HULEE
Revenue from external customers RENPEEZ WG 328,379 1,166,634 1,964 1,496,977
Intersegment revenue HEUE R - 668 - 668
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF /(5538 90,069 (554,710) 6,095 (458,546)
Interest income FEBA 12,277 9,420 68 21,765
Finance costs MBMA (490) (25,084) - (25,574)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (9,026) (114,187) - (123,213)
Share of losses of associates ELBE AT 2 B8 (1,135) - - (1,135)
Impairment of investment in an Rl ARRERE
associate (1,289) - - (1,289)
Other material items of non-cash items: EMEAFREEE
- Allowance for trade receivables, net  —FEWERT B > 388
(note 10) (ftz£10) - (3,678) - (3,678)
— Gain on derecognition of other — R FREREMENTIE W&
payables (note 10) (M3£10) 9,913 6,997 - 16,910
Income tax expense/(credit) gk / (g% 5,845 (18,307) (547) (13,009
Additions to segment RENBIFRBDEE
non-current assets - 22,962 - 22,962
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%
+ZA=+—-H
Segment assets NHEE 3,930,096 1,749,503 42,321 5,721,920
Segment liabilities VARE=X 3,730,887 1,626,086 3,538 5,360,511
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AATS AR MIEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

254

BE_E-=—F+"A=+—HItFEE
12. DEER @&

Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or

S ER S A SRR EEZ

loss and assets: HER
2023 2022
—E=F BT
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®TT
(Restated)
(B &E3)
Revenue Yz
Total revenue of reportable segments 2RI 2 W zR4BER 1,449,906 1,497,645
Elimination of intersegment revenue I EB R U a3 3 (1,530) (668)
Consolidated revenue el 1,448,376 1,496,977
Profit or loss a3 518
Total profit/(loss) of reportable segments TE%E/\*BZ wmA)
(B518) 42 %E 7934 (458,546)
Equity-settled share-based payments Ao R4 B AR % (2R (10,619) (88,068)
Unallocated amounts: ROFCEEE . _
Corporate income and expenses, net PEWA KRS P58 (46,250) (38,456)
Fair value change of financial assets BAFEF ATERIR
at FVTPL ZHBEEZATE
= (3,690) (73,337)
Consolidated loss before income tax FRPTEMAIG SRR (52,625) (658,407)
Assets BE i
Total assets of reportable segments 2RI EELEER 4,417,029 5,721,920
Unallocated amounts: FOELERE
Goodwill BE 341,326 341,326
Deferred tax assets IR TAE 70,257 71,349
Indemnification asset MEBE 179,797 -
Financial assets as at FVTPL BAFEF ATER
Z2HBEE 282,374 285,642
Financial assets at FVTOCI ?E’AXFTE:‘I'KT\_HT&
2EHWmRZ
M EE 66,298 70,993
Other corporate assets HihibEEE 37,933 71,072
Consolidated total assets HEBEEMRE 5,395,014 6,562,302
Liabilities 81&
Total liabilities of reportable segments 2RIz BEHEER 4,059,388 5,360,511
Current tax liabilities BIHARIE & 18 2,080 4,212
Withholding tax payable FE(S AR 179,797 -
Deferred tax liabilities RLERIBEE 127,720 142,558
Other corporate liabilities HtARBIE 17,139 9,938
Consolidated total liabilities e B EBEEE 4,386,124 5,517.219
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fe= A
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

12.

13.

PEAEARAH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Conta)

Geographical information:

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are mainly generated
from the PRC. The Group also generated revenue and
non-current assets outside the PRC which are less than
1% of the Group total assets and non-current assets.

Revenue from major customers:
No customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the
Group's revenue for both years 2023 and 2022.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as
follows:

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

12.

13.

DERER =

WEE
MRAEEZ WS RIFRBEET
BELEBEPE FILIEZ25)3%HE&E
BB ZBIUDBER DN - &
B 7R P B R O B A Wi R IE R ED
BE GAEEBEERIFASEE
AE1% o

KEFERERZINE :
RIBZ=FKR_E__FmEF
B EER(hAERRE10%IL
J:O

Frigtiig s
SRR AR T

2023 2022
o= =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®TT
(Restated)
Ce==pl)
Current tax — the PRC BPHATR IE — R ]
Provision for the year KEFEEEHE 11,305 4,950
Underprovision for previous year BEFEREBETIE 185 -
Current tax — Hong Kong BIHAMRIE—&B A
Under-provision for previous year BEFEREHIE 106 348
Deferred tax (note 44) IRIEFRIA (MP5E44) (13,746) (18,307)
(2,150) (13,009)

PRC Enterprises Income Tax has been provided at a rate
of 25% (2022: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2022:
Nil).

it £35S

PR EFAERERREBY (T
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13.

256

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Conta)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hangzhou,
the PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (&# & M12%) on 30 November 2018 and
renewed on 16 December 2022 and were entitled to
enjoy an income tax concession at preferential rate of
15% effective from 1 January 2018 and from 1 January
2022 after the renewal for three years. In order to enjoy
the preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was required
to apply for renewal every three years from first year of
approval. The EIT rate was changed from 25% to 15%
since the year beginning 1 January 2018.

One of the Group's subsidiaries operating in Beijing, the
PRC, was recognised as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (@ EMTE2) on 21 October 2020 and
renewed on 26 October 2023 and were entitled to
enjoy an income tax concession at preferential rate of
15% effective from 1 January 2020 and 1 January 2023
after the renewal for three years. In order to enjoy the
preferential rate of 15%, the subsidiary was required to
apply for renewal every three years from first year of
approval. The preferential rate was 15% since the year
beginning 1 January 2020.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

13.

FRiSiiiE R @

LAt 4 8 FE SR AR ) 2 TR T 32 1 4
FEEEBAEAR ZRITRE
WIREARRE AR RIERIEG
Ho

AEBE R PEMNEE 2 — BB
REIRZE—N\F+—B=+HB%#%
R ASMEMEERKR-ZEZZ
F+ZA+ABEH BZIZE—N\F
—B—HEEREHNEBEZZZZ
F—HA—BE =ZFANEHZEEE
MEIS%ZMEMEZS - AZHEE
MEI15% ZB LB A AEEE
ES-—FHFEH BT —N\F—
B—HRBZFER CEFMERMK
EH25%E%515% ©

AREBRPREIERLE 2 — BB
RENRZEZEF+RAZ+—B#
R ASHMEMEERKR-IZEZ=
FTHAZ+ABEH BZIZEZZHF
—B—HEAREHEBEEZZ =
F—HA—BE - =ZFANEHZEEE
MEIS%ZMENEZS - AZHEE
ME15%  ZMEB AR EEHEEF
ES=FHFEM BT TF—
B—BHHBZFER EEREXSA
15% °
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17177 R
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13.

PEAEARAH

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Conta)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and
the product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

13. FRISMIER @

PR AR 4 2 B R AR A 5 2 e ML o
TEEMSMRMEAEER ZHIRT

Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows: T~
2023 2022
—E-= ="
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr AR®ETT
(Restated)
(#RE5))
Loss before tax FRIG ARS8 (52,625) (658,407)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax HBPERFEMERRE
rate of 25% (2022: 25%) 25% (B - &
25%) st EZIRIE (13,156) (164,602)
Tax effect of expenses that are AR 2 NBE T E
not deductible 17,080 38,766
Tax effect of income that are not taxable BARMMAZRBEEE (6,114) (22,808)
Underprovision for previous year tﬁﬂfgﬁ}iﬁTﬂ 291 348
Tax effect of temporary differences RHEED E%%QEZ
not recognised MIETE (1,095) 6,570
Tax effect of super deduction of qualified st EERFAE L H
research and development expenditure 2B E (24,172) (32,697)
Tax effect of unused tax losses FEBRERRIBEE
not recognised MBr 2 29,000 133,519
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not A UER B IRIER 1B
previously recognised ZIRBEE (2,162) (14,612)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B AT FREIMEZ g2 (1,822) 42,507
Income tax credit FRIRIE R (2,150) (13,009)
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

14.

258

LOSS FORTHE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

14. EEEIE

AEBAFEBBELNR (G
A) THEIERSIE

2023 2022
—_E_=HF =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 22) & E#H (izF22) 81,126 81,648
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs ~ BARILE XA A4
(note 31) (P$EE31) 180,460 215,699
Auditor's remuneration 1% B4 B 35 B
— annual audit —FEHBZ 1,991 1,894
— other assurance services —H Mz RS 4,146 172
Reversal for inventories FE#[D
(include in cost of sales) Gt AHERAE) (734) (3,642)
Allowance for trade receivables, FEU AR TR
net (note 28) 7 (F15E28) 2,656 3,678
Allowance for deposit and ¥ M EAM
other receivables, net (note 30) FEWRIE R 35
(F$5E30) 1,566 3,065
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEREK 1,941 3,972
Depreciation of property, plant and M=~ BERREITE
equipment (note 19) (M15E19) 9,848 13,818
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 20) AL ETE (FF:E20) 12,077 28,639
Impairment of investment in an associate P —MHE AT R ERE - 1,289
Loss on redemption of financial assets BBl A AFEST AT
at FVTPL BmkUBEEZ
518 - 5,384
Net gain on disposals of property, plant and HEY¥ - BELZEZ
equipment (note 10) Wem P58 (F5E10) (220) (2,968)
Net gain on early termination and RERIEREIEEZ
modification of leases (note 10) Weza 528 (FF5E10) - (29,682)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BENBEAR 2z W - (4,603)
Penalty of early termination of leases RERIEBEEZ SIS
(included in administrative expenses) Gt ATTERR) - 7788
Property, plant and equipment written off )2 « i = Kz 25 & Hif 5
(note 10) (M$5E10) 195 19,006
Research and development expenditure T KBS H GTA
(included in other operating expenses and  ELfth 4 & BH % K fG #iE
equity-settled share-based payments) EERMNZNRIE) 191,484 312,541
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AR e B ERARMYEE
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HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EERFAIMAX
2023 2022
—E=F BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®SFrT AR®ETT
Employee benefits expense (including EERHFEx
Directors’ emoluments): (BIEEZEMS) :
Salaries, bonuses and allowances TE ALK ERL 709,380 992,588
Termination benefits B IEEH
—Termination compensation — 4 fE1E 13,188 92,211
— Share Award for termination —BRAZIEmE
compensation Z B0 5LRD - 14,423
Equity-settled share-based payments A BRI I
— Share Option Scheme 5 3,470 7,830
— Share Award Scheme — IR EY 7149 65,815
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R REF] 5T B4k 44,960 70,154
778,147 1,243,021
Five highest paid individuals hamEHMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included four (2022: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
in note 16(a). The emoluments of the one (2022: two)

FR-AERELRESHFMALTE
EEa(CE—F ZR)ESFH
B <= B MY EE16(a) PR ZI AT » — %4
(CEZZHF i m) AL ZEHBE

individual is set out below: U
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR®TFIT
Basic salaries and allowances BEARTERZER 2,943 5,579
Equity-settled share-based payments RS ERD (T IB 227 1,137
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RREF 5T 2k 48 94
3,218 6,810
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Contd) 15. EERFIAZ ®

Five highest paid individuals (Conta) TREEHMAL @
The emoluments fell with the following band: BRGNP BEE -

Number of individuals

A

2023 2022

—_E”= S
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 23,500,000 7T 1 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 754,000,000/ 7T - 1
1 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FR AERSRERERESRENAS
to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals BREaATZAME  EAMAZ

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EENBE R REEN S BB E

compensation for loss of office.
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

(a)

PEAEARAH

Directors’ emoluments

B

ETET=

F+A=+—HLEFE

16. EFEF R

The remuneration of every director is set out

below:

(a)

EEME

KREFZMEHINT

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

WEATARGENBARNES ZAARE 2 EMHEKMNE

Employer's
(Note i)  contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit
Fees  allowances bonus benefits scheme Total
(B2 ExH
Hithigd BB
e IEREH BETEL fhtEE  fEHZMH s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFr ARETRT ARBTR ARETR ARETR®
Executive directors WIEE
Zhu Ning KB - 2,122 1,093 834 51 4,100
Cui Yusong EXN - 1,948 837 365 52 3,202
YuTao BE - 1,818 1,043 363 52 3,276
Ying Hangyan fEnEE - 1578 732 365 52 2,721
- 7466 3,705 1,927 207 13,305
Independent non-executive  BIUFRTES
directors
Fong ChiWah HEE 264 - - - - 264
Deng Tao s 264 - - - - 264
Li Shaojie (note (i) Z0 6 (RERGD) 264 - - - - 264
792 - - - - 792
Total for 2023 B - FEE 792 7466 3,705 1,927 207 14,097
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_Z_=—F+"A=+—HIEFE
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EEBFFIEFE @
DIRECTORS (conta)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Contd) (a) E=EiE @
The remuneration of every director is set out EEFZZNEEIIUWT
below:

Emoluments paid or receivables in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEERARHERBARNESZ ZEAARE 2N AERMNE

Employer's
(Note i) contribution
Estimated t0a
money value retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary of other benefit
Fees allowances bonus benefits scheme Total

) EEH

EfvER] BiETE
Be  TEREE  BBRL GHEE  FH2ER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ABETR ARETR ARBTR ABETR ARETR

Executive directors WIEE
Zhu Ning K= - 2,330 944 38,936 50 42,260
Cui Yusong EEMN - 2,140 825 516 51 3,532
YuTao A - 1,999 662 515 50 3,226
Ying Hangyan fEngE - 1,742 634 515 50 2,941
- 8,211 3,065 40,482 201 51,959
Independent non-executive  BUFRTES
directors
Fong ChiWah HEE 264 - - - - 264
Deng Tao s 264 - - - - 264
Li Shaojie (note (i) Z0 6 (ERGD) 208 - - - - 208
736 - - - - 736
Total for 2022 TR TFEB 736 8,211 3,065 40,482 201 52,695
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (conta)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Conta)
Notes:

(i) Estimated money values of other benefits
include equity-settled share-based payments.
Share-based payment represents amortisation
to the profit or loss of the fair value of share
options measured at the respective grant dates,
regardless the share options could be exercised
or not.

(ii) Li Shaojie appointed on 18 March 2022.

None of the directors waived any emoluments
during the year (2022: Nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in

transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

EoEC=

—_—<—

(a)

(b)

F+A=+—HLEFE

16. EFEFARME @

EEME @
MIsE -

(i) H M EstBESER
RSB IRAD ST FIR IR 1D
SARIRERAEARRE E

HtEzBREZAFE
AT EBE MAmE
PRAERTIEET

(ii) ZOMR B _F=18
+NBEEF-

FAMEESEHETAME

— %= — — /—)
TETTFIE) o

EENR 7 BHEHEHK
2 EA#EE
AEBEHEMEERITILR
RBB/EAPETOTH RERF
EFUARESEZHB T ER
SEEEEEARTMNE
RYIFREREBEDATE
ZERRG ZHREM
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AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

= 25
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 16. EFENEF=E @

DIRECTORS (contad)

(c) Information about loans, quasi- (c) HBRRAUES -ZEHER
loans and other dealings in favour of FERAEERAZEA
directors, controlled bodies corporate ZEM - EEMKREM
and connected entities SZEN
The information about loans, quasi-loans and other ERARBIHEN BRG]
dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiary UUERRBEEREREZ
undertaking of the Company in favour of certain HETHESRASTBAZE
connected entities of Mr. Zhu Ning, a director of MEERREMKZZ 2ERN
the Company, is as follows: o

Outstanding Outstanding ~ Maximum
amount amount outstanding
Total at the at the amount
Nature of amount  beginning end of during
Name of the borrower connection payable  of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
FR
FZHX FAZHX  RBHX
fERARHE MEHE EftEmE  BEME  BEWE  HEWE  BR filk:S i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETFR
As at 31 December 2023
RZBZ=F+-A=+-H
Quasi-loans or credit
transactions:
EERHEERS:
Related Company F Note (i 151 1,208 151 1,735 Repayable on demand ~ Nil No
BHATF HzE () ARERER & &
Related Company G Note (ii) 187 79 187 189 Repayable on demand ~ Nil No
BHARG BEEE G ARERHE & B
Outstanding ~ Outstanding Maximum
amount amount  outstanding
Total at the at the amount
Nature of amount beginning end of during
Name of the borrower connection payable of the year the year theyear  Term Interest rate Security
FR
FNzHEX FRZHEX  BBHE
BERALHE WELE EEmIE  EERE EERE EERE HR Gl il
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETR ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2022
RZB__#+-A=+-B
Quasi-oans or credit
transactions:
EEVNHEERS
Related Company F Note (i) 1,208 800 1,208 2,718 Repayable ondemand  Nil No
B AEF PEEE () ARERER i &
Related Company G Note (i) 79 - 79 203 Repayable on demand NIl No
BHAEG6 Mz i AREREE it &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (conta)

(c) Information about loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate

and connected entities (Contd)
Notes:

(i) 99% owned by Mr. Zhu Ning and Mr. Zhu Ning
being the common director.

(ii) Mr. Zhu Ning being the common director.

(d) Director’s termination benefits
None of the directors of the Company received
any termination benefits during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(e) Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2022: Nil).

17. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022:
Nil).

PEEEFARAT T -FEFH

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

16. EFEFARME @

17.

() FBERAUES -ZEFIER
ZERAEERAZEA
ZEM - EEMKREM
SZ2EF #@

B 5E

0] RARSTEHERIO%ER &
BERERHFES-

(ii REXEDBHRAES-

(d BFZHEIER
ME-S_=£+_-7
=+—BLEE AATEE
BRI A LR (CF
—oEime

(e) MENEHRFMAE=
HiRtz &
gz_=_=%+_A81
=+—HIEFE > RABME
MEREERBMEAEMAE
=FEARE(CEZ

) o

RRE

HE_ S _—_F#+_-_ABA=+—HL
FEEWEIRNMEAEKEMEKRE B
WEHRETREREKEARE (C=
T TEIE) o
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AATS AR MIEE

VA—TAN
777 N

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

18. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

266

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per
share is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB7429,000 (2022: loss of
approximately RMB302,727,000 (restated))
and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of approximately 18,466,825,000 (2022:
approximately 18,098,708,000) in issue during the
year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for
year ended 31 December 2023 did not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share
options since the exercise price of the share
options exceeds the average market price.

As exercising of the Company’s outstanding share
options for the year ended 31 December 2022
was anti-dilutive, no diluted loss per share was
presented for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BHE_ZT =

F+A=+—HLEE

18. HREF (E518)

(a)

(b)

SREXREF (5518
SREXRBHN (BB
BIERARBEBS ANELF
Eaf,/ (B8 9ARE
7,429,000 (ZEZ "4
BEHNAR302,727,000
T (RES)) RERNE &
TEBERZMEFHHD
18,466,825,0008% (&~ —
£ 1 4918,098,708,0000%) M5t
Ho

SREEER (518
AEEBEE_E_=—%+_H
—St+t—HIEFEZSR#EE
BAITERERITEEARATZ
h%ﬁ@%&%’l%%&%
ZITEEBRATEmE

HR8E_T__F+_1
—t+—HLEFEGTERRQE
ZHRTEEREEE RS
EWNE O WEBE_Z -

+ZBE=+—HBLEFEILHE
2y eRiEERmE

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fe= A
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

PEAEARAF

HEZZ =

F+A=+—HLEFE

19. Y- -BEKRSRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE HER
S MARE RE A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREBT ARETT
Cost %
At 1 January 2022 A_E-"E-A-—H 67757 63,314 2,238 133,309
Additions HE 1,337 1,625 - 2,962
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 50(b)) & —FEHE AT (Hizt50(0)) (1,389) (1,538) - (2,927)
Written off i34 (27939) 43) - (27982)
Disposals HE - (12,169) - (12,169)
Exchange differences [ERELE - 39 - 39
At 31 December 2022 and RIZEZZF+ZA=+—-HK
1 January 2023 2T -fF—-fA—H 39,766 51,228 2,238 93,232
Additions RE 423 86 - 509
Written off b 6! (2,076) (682) - (2,758)
Disposals HE - (4,586) (249) (4,835)
Exchange differences [ERELE - 19 - 19
At 31 December 2023 S 38,113 46,065 1,989 86,167
Accumulated depreciation and ERITERRESE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 A —— ey = R 38,695 42,848 1,613 83,156
Charge for the year AEERS 5,488 8,091 239 13,818
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 50(b) & —FEHIE AR (H5E50(b)) (474) (1,039) - (1,5613)
Written off i34 (8,942) (34) - (8,976)
Disposals HE - (12,025) - (12,025)
Exchange differences [ERELE - 33 - 33
At 31 December 2022 and W_E__&#+_"A=+—HK
1 January 2023 B =F—-A-H 34,767 37874 1,852 74,493
Charge for the year AFERY 2,641 6,968 239 9,848
Written off 6= (1,905) (658) - (2,563)
Disposals HE - (4,014) (164) (4,178)
Exchange differences ERELE - 14 - 14
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H 35,503 40,184 1,927 77614
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2023 AZEZ-F+ZA=+—H 2,610 5,881 62 8,553
At 31 December 2022 A2 F+ZA=1+—H 4,999 13,354 386 18,739
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20.

268

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. fEFREEE
Leased
properties
HEME
RMB'000
AR¥FTT
At 1 January 2022 AmE-—HE—B—H 160,424
Additions hE 623
Depreciation e (28,639)
Early termination and modification of leases IR R IERENHEE (118,717)
Exchange differences PE R E%R 51
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_ZE-_"H#+_H=+—H
“E=-%—HF—H 13,742
Additions RE 8,548
Depreciation e (12,077)
Exchange differences PE =28 14
At 31 December 2023 B =F+"A=+—H 10,227
2023 2022
—E=HF B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use FTREEETERS
assets 12,077 28,639
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMEEBHNEMZ
(included in finance cost) Gt AR A) 8,880 15,707
Net gain on early termination and REBRIERENHEEZ
modification of leases I %5 528 - 29,682
Penalty of early termination of leases RERIHEEZSiE
(included in administrative expenses) GtAfTHERES) - 7788
Expenses relating to short-term lease B HAME B 2 X 1,435 -~

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
50(c).

HEREMHEE ZFFHINHEE
50(c) ©
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fe= A
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RAFS IR AR MYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

20.

PEAEARAF

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Contd)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year
to 10 years. No extension options and termination
options are included in the lease contracts except for six
leases. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date that the Group will exercise the extension option
and consider will extend the lease term on one of the
leases, the related extension periods are included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

Certain lessors of the leased office premises and
staff quarters had not provided the Group with valid
title certificates or relevant authorisation documents
evidencing their rights to lease the property to the
Group. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets related to these premises
was amounted to RMB2,427000 and RMB2,985,000,
respectively.

“ETFER

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

20.

ERAERE @

RREFE AEBRESBHAR
RETHEEBIREEE AERN?
REBEBBERETHE BESBL
B e RR R 1 o OB T B PR R 27
NP UK EAIRES > A BB A4
2 TE B B E BB AT A 49 2
R

HESNZEEMRIFEEI0FE]
I e fRNIEEE SN HE G M ELE
SRR AR P B - AN E AR
ERB AT ERERRITRERE
ER TEBLERAP-IEHEEN
HEHR BTt A HE & &S

=
5-°

HEMAGRREIBEEZETH
HAXRREEBRREERERES
SIRRAIRE X M > LIFEBRE R ZE H
BFrEBZEN - RZT "=
R—EB2__F#+_RF=+—H"#
ZEMEABERAREERAEE
DAl AR E2,427000c AR ¥
2,985,0007T ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

GOODWILL 21. B#HE
Youzan Japan
Third party Kabushiki
payment Merchant Kaisha
services services (“Youzan
(“CGUA") (“CGU B") Japan”) Total
gt
EEyAD] H%KRE  Youzan Japan
BR#% (MR (ReEEE ("Youzan
ELEA]) E(iB)) Japan)]) CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETTT ARETTT
Cost (D%
At 1 January 2022 AZE-"F—F—H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403
Exchange difference [ERELE - - - -
At 31 December 2022, RZZ2ZZF+ZA=1+—8
1 January 2023 and "2 =F-A-HBER-E
31 December 2023 _=E+”-A=+—H 762,288 1,622,083 1,032 2,385,403
Accumulated impairment losses BRI {EEE
At 1 January 2022 A —— ey = R 420,962 1,622,083 1,032 2,044,077
Impairment loss recognised FNRRDZHERSE
in the year - - - -
At 31 December 2022 and RIZZZF+ZA=1+—Hk
1 January 2023 2 =fF—-fA-H 420,962 1,622,083 1,032 2,044,077
Impairment loss recognised FRBERZHESE
in the year - - - -
At 31 December 2023 A _E_=F+"A=+—H 420,962 1,622,083 1,032 2,044,077
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2023 RZE=F+"A=+—H 341,326 - - 341,326
At 31 December 2022 A _E__F+”_A=+—H 341,326 - - 341,326
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

21.

PEAEARAF

GOODWILL (Conta)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
are expected to benefit from that business combination.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets that
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill
are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions
for the discounted cash flow method include those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
determined on industry growth rate in forecast period
based on management experience and on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past practices
and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by the
directors for the next five years with the residual period
using terminal growth rate of 1.70% (2022: 2.08%). This
terminal growth rate does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant markets. The Group
has engaged independent external valuers to assist
management to estimate the recoverable amounts of
CGUs.

The Group has engaged independent external valuers to
assist management to estimate the recoverable amounts
of CGUs.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

21.

[SEAC,
REBEHNESZBHENRIKE
ROMEBHRRNZELREHPZ
BrREELBEN ((ReELS
fi) °

FURESHEENME R EN 4
X BEARFE ERAEEEREE
RenENHMETLEE ERER
BEITSASBREELE -

REEEBUZ I WEIZEETERE
RRBEERELFERAEER
BE MRFEREEMRAZEE
BREFEHNEFAERER ERER
REEME kW m - AERBFB AR
BRE R H EREE T E KRR
TEEBUZEERRZERRAL
KAFRIBER - REFRRFEEL
BRRTRASMBNITEERER  RIZIR
TEEBUKEXFAEMEZR
HAFHEEEREREE -AEEMX
R ad T ¥ 3B E B ) K TR T 55 3%
RAELE.

REBRBLECEEHIENKREKAE
ROV BEERERERENE
A A ERAZRIRIERES
1.70% (CZ - "4 1 2.08%) ik
MG REEABBEMMBZEEE
B EE  AEEEZRIEBIIINBE
Bt E BRI IREELE
FEEEREE

A& E 2 B 518 1L 50 51k (5 AT 17 BY)
EEE M REELE BN
ERCE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

21.

272

GOODWILL (Conta)

CGUA

Goodwill (before any impairment) with carrying
amount of approximately RMB341,326,000 (2022:
RMB341,326,000) had been allocated to Third Party
Payment Services CGU ("CGU A"). Computer software as
set out in note 22, certain property, plant and equipment
and certain right-of-use assets were also allocated to this
CGU.

At end of reporting period, the pre-tax rates used to
discount the forecast cash flows for CGU A is 20.97%
(2022: 20.35%). The recoverable amount of CGU A
calculated based on value-in-use model exceeded the
CGU A carrying amount by approximately RMB396
million (2022: RMB211 million), therefore, no impairment
change was concluded necessary for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Management believes that any reasonably foreseeable
change in any of the key assumptions in value-in-use
model would not cause the carrying amount of CGU A to
exceed the recoverable amount. A change of pre-tax rate
from 20.97% to 43.66% used in value-in-use calculation
would remove the headroom (i.e. the amount of CGU A
value-in-use in excess of its carrying amount), assuming
all other variables remain constant.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

21.

BE @

REEEENA

IREEA AREHE341,326,0007T (=
T~ & NR¥341,326,0007T) B9
BE (REERER) BENREE=
AEARBEREESLEM ((REE
HEEBBAIA ) o MisE22FF H AT B ik ER
- ETYE -BERIBURET
FRAREETNDEELRSELEE

fie

PSR AUIRIRSEL S
UATBRIIRERE ZBRMRATLEE S
20.97% (B4 :20.35%) o
FRABEELGTENIRSELEMNA
A WElEEBHIRSEFENAY
BREEA AR #396,000,0007 (Z
=~ "4 AE#211,000,0007T) °
At B#E-_E-_=F+"HA=+—
BIEFEWREAZELRESES

EEERHEREERE T ZEM
ARERNECNSENRERNED
HAREERRSELEMNAZREE
BErWEEE - ReFIAEMEE
RS RANRERAEESEZIF
M ABTEEZE/R20.97% & F %43.66% °
RoEPRERER (RNIREEE BAUAZEE
REEBHHKREEZ ) °
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

21.

PEAEARAF

GOODWILL (Conta)

CGUB

E-commerce applications and Trademarks with indefinite
useful life as set out in note 22, and certain property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were
allocated to Merchant Services CGU (“CGU B") within
Merchant Services segment for impairment test
purpose. During year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group has recognized an impairment loss on CGU B of
approximately RMB2,184 million.

At the end of reporting period, the pre-tax rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows of CGU B is 19.03%
(2022: 19.67%). The recoverable amount of CGU B
calculated based on value-in-use model exceeded the
CGU B carrying amount by approximately RMB160
million (2022: RMB161 million), therefore no further
impairment is necessary for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Management believes that any reasonably foreseeable
change in any of the key assumptions in value-in-use
model would not cause the carrying amount of CGU B to
exceed the recoverable amount. A change of pre-tax rate
from 19.03% to 23.86% used in value-in-use calculation
would remove the headroom (i.e. the amount of CGU B
value-in-use in excess of its carrying amount), assuming
all other variables remain constant.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

21.

BE @

REELEMB

EFEGRAREREERIERSE
HZ BRENHIEE22 RETFYE
B R U R E R EEE DEC
ERRMBOBARAZBRRFBRE
EEEBEA (REEEBMB) - LUEF
BEARBR - BE_T - —F+
B=+—HLEEE xEEDH#SR
REEFBUBZHEBENARKE
2,184,000,0007T °

REREIAR BUBRRSELE
Bz FERIIR S RE 2 BRIRATLEE A
19.03% (ZEBZ 4 1 19.67%) 1%
FREEREAENRSESEMNB
Z AW ElEEBHIRSEEBEMBY
BREIEAY AR 1160,000,0007T (ZZ
——%: AR#161,000,0007%) ' [H
- HEE=F+"F=+—H
IEFETERAEEHE— D HE

EEERNEREERETZEM
ARERNENSENAERNESD
BHREERIREELEMNBZRE(E
BEr O - R&EFTAEHRMEE

RBTEE = E19.03% & T 723.86%

M BREREE (BNIR & AL BEUBZ {6
AEEBHHEKREEZEE) °
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BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

f= T =
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2 ®WEEE
Computer
software
(internally E-commerce Distribution
generated) applications network Trademarks Total
HERRYS
(RBEE) EFBBER baxzE g szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost E‘ZZIS
t 1 January 2022 —E-"F#—-F—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Additions E - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 and RIBEZ-F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2023 - -F-fA-H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Additions hE - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H 4,730 832,949 185,069 942,418 1,965,166
Accumulated amortisation and RREHERAERSE
impairment loss
At 1 January 2022 R_BE-_—&#—-F—H 4,135 591,021 185,069 329,348 1,109,573
Charge for the year FEERZ 595 81,053 - - 81,648
At 31 December 2022 and RIEZZEFZA=+—HR
1 January 2023 —®-=%—-F—H 4,730 672,074 185,069 329,348 1,191,221
Charge for the year FEERY - 81,126 - - 81,126
At 31 December 2023 “FEHEtTRET-H 4,730 753,200 185,069 329,348 1,272,347
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2023 RZ2Z=F+-A=+—H - 79,749 - 613,070 692,819
At 31 December 2022 RZ2ZZHF+-A=+—H - 160,875 - 613,070 773,945

The average remaining amortisation period of

e-commerce applications is 1 year (2022: 2 years).

Computer software is allocated to third party payment
services segment (CGU A). E-commerce applications and
distribution network are allocated to merchant services

segment (CGU B).

BEFEHEAZ PR EREHARA

FE(CTEZF 26

StEEIMMA D

E$ =7 2R

7 @%FE 8{1A) © BT BHHE
ARDHEHBEEDPREEFRRFE DS

(REELEBMB) -
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22.

23.

PEAEARAF

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Contd)

The trademarks are allocated and used in the merchant
services segment (CGU B) to enhance products’
perceived value and corporate image. The trademarks
have legal life of ten years but is renewable every ten
years at little cost and is well established. The Group
intends to renew the trademark continuously and
evidence supports its ability to do so. The trademarks
are regarded and assessed to have indefinite useful life
as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which
these assets are expected to generate cash flows for the
Group.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are as follows:

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

22.

23.

BI.EE®

HIRE DR E R AR B RRF D ER
(REELEMB) ' UIERERD
RABEREETLR -BRFEEE
HABTF slS+FREREER
BERIURGHEE -AEERSE
PHEREN BAEBETREASE

METFE -BARREEERRAIAE
EETHRREMNE ZHRIL FE o] T8
REIR @ ERR AR ESER
HIRP]EAFH-

REABIZKRE
A _EC=F+"B=+—HFE
MEBATZEEBMT :

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B AT
kg A RE ML BETREMRA EREE#GZASL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B ik
Country Praise Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 769,231 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holdings
("Country Praise”) ("BVI") no par value
Country Praise Enterprises Limited BBEYHE 769,231 R EHEE 2 BB REZR
(TCountry Praise ) (RBELHE))
Youzan Technology Inc. Cayman Islands 1,879,610,079 shares of 100% - Investment holdings
("Youzan Technology") USD 0.00001 par value (2022: 51.9%)
BERRABRAT HEES 1,879,610,079 8 R EE 100% REER
(MBERR) 0.00001%& 7T 2 B fH CE-ZF:
51.9%)
Splendid Win Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
RBELEBRAT HE 10,000% 7T REER
Moderntimes Payment Limited BVI USD102,041 - 51%  Investment holdings
("Moderntimes")
Moderntimes Payment Limited EBREUHEE 102,0M1% 7T REER
("Moderntimes J)

it £35S
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 23. RMBARZIRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 A
Ear SR R BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i
Qima Investment Limited (“QMI") Hong Kong HK$0.01 - 100%  Investment holdings
(2022: 51.9%)
Qima Investment Limited (TQMI ) A 0.0187T 100% HEZR
(ZBZZ&:
51.9%)
iRRE (bR RESHERAT  The PRC RMB123,330,000 - 100% Investment holdings
Beijing Shangyin Investment
Consultancy Co., Ltd."?
BiRRE (IR READBRAT?  HE AR 123,330,0007 REER
TR ERB£ERERAR The PRC RMB 150,000,000 - 100%  Provision of third party
Beijing Gaohuitong Commercial payment services
Management Co., Ltd."®
TReERBHEERERARY FE AR#150,000,0007T REE=HZARS
MMEERRBRAR The PRC USD373,800,045 - 100%  Internet information service,
Hangzhou Youzan Technology (2022:51.9%)  wholesale and retail
Co., Ltd. ' ("Hangzhou Youzan")
TMEEREERAR (MNEE) +E 373,800,045 7C 100% EHAESRE HER
(ZBZZ#&: B33
51.9%)
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23.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Conta)

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

23. RMBARZKRE @

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and Percentage of
Name operation paid up capital ownership interest Principal activities
B3 A
Ear SR R BETREMRE BEEEZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE i
FNEEEERMERAR The PRC RMBS,000,000 - 100%  Internet information service,
Shenzhen Youzan Information (2022:51.9%)  wholesale and retail
Technology Co., Ltd."?
FNBEEERMERAR? HE AR #5,000,0007T 100% EHAEERE HER
(ZBZZ#&: B33
51.9%)
REEEEERMERAT The PRC N/A - 100%  Internet information service,
Tianjin Youzan Information Technology (2022:51.9%)  wholesale and retail
Co., Ltd."® ("Tianjin Youzan")
REBBEERMBRAR HE TER 100% EHAEERE HER
(FS:2=1-1) (CBZZg: 2E
51.9%)
MIBEEYTHERRARS The PRC USD7250,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
FIREHFREBRAFY FE 7250,000% 7T REER
FNEAZREBRARS The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holdings
FINEANEREBERARS HE AR #50,000,0007 REER
EEFRERE (R BRAE? The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Factoring and guarantee
business
ElfERERE (R BRAGE HE AR #50,000,0007 RERERER
2, &3 Youzan Japan Youzan Japan JPY237376,250 - 66.65%  Providing operation services
Japan Kabushiki Kaisha for merchants and
("Youzan Japan”) integrated new retail
solutions for beauty
industries in Japan
3 & 4 Youzan Japan SRS 237376,250H ABRRREERS 125

(MYouzan Japan )

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

BEEATERRHE—EE
HEERARR
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278

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Conta)

Notes:

(1) The English translation name is for identification purpose
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese.

(2) These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises
in the PRC.

(3) These companies are limited liability companies in the
PRC.

The above lists the subsidiaries of the Company which
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of
the assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

As at 31 December 2023, bank and cash balances of the
Group's subsidiaries deposited with banks in the PRC
denominated in HK$, RMB and USD were amounted
to RMB662,000, RMB869,440,000 and RMB533,000
respectively (2022: RMB Nil, RMB727345,000 and
RMB70,905,000). Conversion of the mentioned balance
from RMB into foreign currencies and from foreign
currencies into RMB is subject to the PRC’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

23.

RHBARZRE @

PEEE -

(1) EXELEHRBE-ZERBZEA
HFBARF o

(2) ZEABANRPREZINEEER
¥O

3) ZEABRNPABZEREER
ao

TREVNEEIAETERERANE

BUBRAEREENEREARED
ZHRABNEB A FIE EFBA
RHEEMMBARNZHBERERB
BERTTR.

ATETZEFE+ A=+ —HKRE
B AR ERNRREZIRITUE
TN ANRBERETHEZRITRAE
EERD R A ARKE662,0000 AR
#%869,440,0007T 5z A R #533,0007¢

(ZZEZZH  ARBZT AR
727.345,0007% K A R 170,905,000
Joo LA ARB R AINER
HIMNE R A AR EAEE (PRI
EERRA) R(EE - EERTES
BIRE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

24. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 24. MREEATZIRE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT

Unlisted investments in the PRC: R IELEHKE :
Share of net assets BB EZRE 218 218
Goodwill G 31,112 31,112
31,330 31,330
Impairment losses, cumulative RETBIERIE (31,330) (31,330)

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2023

were as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

RIZB=ZF+"RB=+—HB=x
EEBEARZFEOT

Percentage of
equity interest

registration Registered attributable
Name and operation capital to the Group Principal activities
AL R _ AEBEN
g RE M, AL REFDAL FEEH
IRAERHEBERAT The PRC RMB10,000,000 20%  Provision of consultancy
Beijing Wallet Science and Technology Co., services for internet
Ltd.* (note (a)) operation
LRAERRRARAT (@) e AE%10,000,0007% REEHEEE LIRS
BENBETEENEERAR The PRC RMB3,299,112 4.86%  Information technology
Guangzhou Kuaizi Information Technology development
Co., Ltd. ("GZ Kuaizi")* (note (a))
BEMRFEEREARAR H AE3,299,1127T EREMEE
(TEMERT) (HEE)
EREREHEERAR The PRC RMB1,164,023 5% Information technology
Nanjing Houjian Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. development and
("NJ Houjian")* (note (a)) consultancy services
BMREREHEARAR HE AE1,164,0237T 12 BR MBI & KB3R5
(MFamER) (Heta)
NEERETEEARAR The PRC RMB12,515,000 36.25%  Online trading
Henan Youjian E-Commerce Co., Limited
("Henan Youjian")* (note (a))
ﬂfﬁﬁ%ﬁ%??ﬁ%ﬁ[@@ﬁ HE AR #12,515,00075 BERS
(CAmERE) (Hea)
* The English translation name is for identification purpose * BNELEESEZ -ZERZER
only. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. BB o

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Contd)

Note:

(a) The carrying amount of those associates were fully
impaired in previous years because the directors of the
Company expected that no profit would be generated in
foreseeable future.

Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting
power of GZ Kuaizi and NJ Houjian, the Group exercises
significant influence over these entities because the
Group is entitled to appoint a director out of the five
directors of these entities.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's
share of the amounts of all individual immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity
method.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

REMERRZRE @
B E -

(a) RBTEFE ZFHEQTNZIRE
EEXHRE RARTRAES
FAHAR B BRI A G E LR o

BREXEREEENRTFRERE
BRR20% 2 KR BHE WAREEKZ
FEREBEARE RABEE
EERZEZFERELREETTH
Hh—%ESH-

TRETAEREG U ERDEASR
ZFARBERNAERMERT ZBE
LED

2023 2022
= =TI HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
At 31 December: ®w+=-—BR=+—8":

Carrying amounts of interests w2 BREE - -

Year ended 31 December: HE+_-_H=+—H1L

FE:

Loss for the year, net FREER FE - (1,135)
Other comprehensive income Hit2mEmUA - -
Total comprehensive income 2HEUAAREE - (1,135)

The Group has not recognised profit for the year
amounting to approximately RMB837000 (2022: the
Group has not recognized loss for the year amounting to
approximately RMB2,131,000). The accumulated losses
not recognised were approximately RMB5,552,000
(2022: RMB6,389,000) for all associates other than
Weizhan and Huigong.

REBEABERENGHNARE
83700070 (B -4 | AEE Y
FEBEANEIBLOAR2,131,000
7o) o MEB R EMUINTBEBE R
BIZABIRABERENAARE
5,652,000 (ZE_-_"F : AR
6,389,0007T) °
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HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

24. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (conta) 24. REEATIZIRE @
As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of N ZET=F+ZA=+—H &&
the Group's associates in the PRC denominated in RMB EREBE AU ARESEZR
amounted to RMB43,492,000 (2022: RMB36,208,000). TRIBELEFRE ARTE43,492,000
Conversion of the mentioned balance from RMB into T (T2 2F 0 AK#36,208,000
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into 70) o LSRR ARB R AIMNE
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control REIMNER AR AREBER(FE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and SN B IR AR ) e (45 B ~ S B R (T B
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. BIEFETE)
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25. 1’5_/&3115 sSFATEHEZRZ
HEE
2023 2022
—F=F —ZE2C
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFTm AR®ETT
Included in non-current assets: STAJERBIEE !
Investments in unlisted equity KEFRHZIF LA
securities in PRC 753 5,249 4,751
Investments in unlisted preferred KERH 2 IF ETELR
shares in the PRC 277125 280,891
282,374 285,642
The preferred shares have redemption preference and BERNZ EERRMNDBERE.
liquidation preference over ordinary equity shares and are BRBEERAHE LNEABHEEK
classified as debt investments. Accordingly, the carrying B[t RESBMBREERNS
amounts of the investments in preferred shares are O WEEBLARZIREERBIIZER
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss TEFTAZERRSTE
in accordance with HKFRS 9.
FEAEARAT T _-E4H 281
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AATS AR MIEE

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (conta) 25, ?i%_’z}EFE stATEIEGEIRZ B
BEE®
Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in the BAFTESATERKRZHBTEE
following currencies: T A EHEEHE ©
2023 2022
—E”= ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR®TFIT
UsD E7T 4,955 15,007
RMB AR 277,419 270,635
282,374 285,642
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 26. AT E %‘tAEEﬁﬂéEL&
mIRZMHBEE
2023 2022
o= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFxT AR®FT
Unlisted equity securities JE TR AGE 66,298 70,993

Equity securities which are not held for trading and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition
to recognise in this category. These are strategic
investments and the Group considers this classification to
be more relevant.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of
these unlisted equity securities were valued by applicable
market multiples approach.

WK FEEETEBE R
S Ry A B HR 388 42 < L 4B R FE SR
ZRAES - FRAFSFTHRIEE
RE AEER AL D AR AR -

N_E_=FR_ZFT__F+_A
=+—H &FFLHREEBZFZA
FEDRBBZHSEBEETHE
Ee
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (conta) 26.

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

Financial assets at FVTOCI| are denominated in the

following currencies:

BRAFESFATEMEEU

miRZMBEE @

BAFEsfFATEMERNR@RZ
MBEEDUTIERE !

2023 2022
—=E-= =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BFT
usD E5T 2,878 6,153
RMB AR 63,420 64,840
66,298 70,993

27. INVENTORIES 27. 8
2023 2022
—EI=fE B _F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT ARBETT
Finished goods BB 670 1,246

As at 31 December 2023, an allowance

was made for

estimated irrecoverable inventories for approximately

RMB2,673,000 (2022: RMBS3,407,000).

PEAEARAH

it £35S

R_B_=F+_RB=+—H"
ARAWEZ EEFHEBEENAR
12,673,000 (ZE-__F: AR
3,407,0007T) ©
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BHEZ=F+_A=+—HLEFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. FEURERFR

2023 2022

—EC=F —E2-
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFx ARETFT
Trade receivables FE U BR =R 30,489 21,548
Allowance for doubtful debts RERESE (8,940) (8,428)
21,549 13,120

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group usually does not grant any credit term to
customers unless some special cases. For those special
case, the Group will grant a credit period less than 120
days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

BE_E_ =R+
B=Z+—HLEEE  BREHIBE R
xilL%WA%%%ﬁEHEE

CRLERFRHEIBERME » SEER

FE U BR R

DI120KRBIEEH

FZEZEHHE L EH

PREER) ZBRECOATIOT ¢

2023 2022
—ET= -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFxT AR®BFT
0 to 120 days 0&120H 21,549 13,120
As at 31 December 2023, an allowance was made ATE T =F+"A=+—H &

for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of
approximately RMB8,940,000 (2022: RMB8,428,000).

st E 2 FEWERFEHRBEL
AE18,940,0007c (ZE__"&F : A
R #8,428,0007T) ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (conta) 28. [EUWERTR @)
Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: FEUT AR =R B8543 2~ H98R -
2023 2022
=g =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
At 1 January n—AB—H 8,428 10,775
Allowance for the year FRERE 9,177 11,425
Reversal of allowance for the year F R EED] (6,521) (7,747)
Written off of allowance for the prior years 871+ 4 5 8 & i 85 (2,173) (6,025)
Exchange difference PER = %E 29 -
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 8,940 8,428
29. FACTORING LOAN RECEIVABLES 29. ERRIBER
2023 2022
= T

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Factoring loan receivables FEWRIZEE R

Up to 29 February 2024, RMB42,204,000 are settled and
remaining RMB7218,000 are current portion and not yet
past due. As at 31 December 2023, ECL of the above
loan has been assessed by the Group and considered
minimal.

The loans are denominated in RVIB.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

49,422 31,468

BE_Z_IWF_A_-_+hH' AR
142,204,000t EEBMREFETAR
#%7218,00070 4 BN EAER 2 M A< 81 A o
N ZEZ=F+ZA=+—H'XK
EEEE LA ERZBEREES
B WEBAEM o

HEETUARBHE
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AATS AR MIEE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

30. FEIRRIE - #E R H IR
bi=]

RECEIVABLES B
2023 2022
“EI=ZF 2 HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Prepayments in relation to BE SR ER
advertising services ZTETRIA - 7,960
Other prepayments HFaIB 18,571 28,419
Deposits B 6,805 12,430
Other receivables restricted for ERANGEGEST
settling settlement obligations 2 HApE R RIE 144,741 177096
Other receivables Hh U FRIE 42,845 57742
212,962 283,647
Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE 647 361
Current asset MENEE 212,315 283,286
212,962 283,647

As at 31 December 2023, an allowance was made for
estimated irrecoverable prepayment, deposits and other
receivables of approximately RMB13,170,000 (2022:

RMB11,604,000).

W _E_=F+_A=+—8 %
EEt A E 2 BEIRE - BE &
HMERREBEEEEGEOAREK
13,170,0007c (ZE -4 : AR

11,604,0007T) ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

30. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER  30. FA{IRRIE &% KR H MU
RECEIVABLES (Conta) 8@

Reconciliation of allowance for prepayments, deposits FETFRIE ~ %5 R H A FEWGRIB

and other receivables:

ZHER

2023 2022

—E-= s
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥BFx ARETFT
At 1 January r—A—H 11,604 8,639
Allowance for the year FREH 1,566 3,065
At 31 December w+_A=+—H 13,170 11,604

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments,

AEBBANRIEA & KR E MBI

deposits and other receivables are denominated in the B REETLUTNIEEHE !
following currencies:
2023 2022
= ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT
RMB AR 211,095 279,263
HKS AT 464 288
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE (THEL) 909 3,687
Canadian dollar (“CAD") m=EARr (MMMEKXTL) 61 181
usb E7T 433 228
212,962 283,647
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_Z_=—F+"A=+—HIEFE
31. CAPITALISED CONTRACT COSTS 31. BEXLEELMAE
2023 2022
=8 =T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTn ARETT
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts EEEHNNEEMA
capitalised — Subscription solutions BEXRE—5TRARA L % 145,227 156,399
Fulfilment costs of customisation services € fill B 75 &8 49 Al 2~ 3,505 3,627
Fulfilment costs of third party B IR
payment services [BA AR AN 7,521 9,077
156,253 169,103
Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE 35,482 34,503
Current assets MBEE 120,771 134,600
156,253 169,103
Amortisation recognised as selling R S5 A 58 A B
expenses related to subscription 51 RIfE R 75 28R
solutions during the reporting period ZIHERS 2 #iH 180,460 215,699
32. INDEMNIFICATION ASSET AND 32. BEESERFEMTEINR
WITHHOLDING TAX PAYABLES
Estimated withholding tax payables based on 10% RN E BRI RREEE 2 10%(h
of estimated capital gain (“Estimated Capital Gain”) HEAMNE (MEsrBE Uz )) 5t
on indirect equity transfer of Hangzhou Youzan was B EstEMBEBIORNKWESE
recognised upon acquisition of approximately 48.1% BB R AT 448.1% I ERFFESD
equity interest of Youzan Technology Inc. (note 50(a)). (MFEE50(a)) o (HEt B AU ZE T
Estimated Capital Gain is the difference of market value —Eo=F+_ABA-_+hB21T
of Consideration Shares issued at 29 December 2023 2HRERERHZZHEAEFEEZ
and 48.1% Youzan Group equity contributed by the ASN1 % EBEERRE S ZEFo
sellers.
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32. INDEMNIFICATION ASSET AND
WITHHOLDING TAX PAYABLES (Contd)

Indemnification asset equal to the carrying amount of the
estimated withholding tax payables was recognised at
the same time because the sellers agreed to indemnify
the Company for losses and penalties should the
Company be requested by PRC tax authority to pay the
withholding tax and penalties, if any.

Details of the withholding tax associated with acquisition
of Youzan Technology Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Youzan
Group”) and the indemnity provided by sellers are set out
in note 50(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
COMPANIES

(a) Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are as
follows:

Name %

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

32.

33.

MEBEEREMNTENR @

BEEESNGERAOENRZ
AREE ThRIRER RARET
B A5 75 M B 2 SR A A B S A TR
MERER GH) » BEHREBER
NE)ZBRKETR

HIBAENRARLAE KA
BAE ((AESE))ERBNERNR
REDRBEZBEFBFENGS
R F5 ¥R AR MI5E60(a)

FE U o B 2 B FR AR AR BR R
/NI E

(a) FEURHREABIEEMRARR
I :

Maximum

Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding

2023 1 January 2023 during the year

RZEZ=F
+ZA RIB-Z=F

=+-8 —A—H EREE

Z 4R 2 AEER REELHE

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT

Mr. JOONG Chi-Wei RS

- 260 260

The amounts were unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

ZERIAR/BERT - RE KA
EEXRMERE-
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33. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON- 33.
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
COMPANIES (contd)

290

AATS AR MIEE

Amounts due from related companies (b)
are as follows:

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

FEUS M B 2 B IR ERR AR SR B2
NS EENE)

FEURRRABS A B FRIEGN T -

Maximum
Balance at amount
31 December Balance at outstanding
2023 1 January 2023  during the year
RZIEZ=F
+ZB RIZI=HF

=+—H —A—H FARS
Party il ZHEER 2 KBk KEBREEE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BE AREFT ANREFT ANRBFT
Related company F B /A BIF i 151 1,208 1,735
Related company G BAH#/AE]G i 187 79 189
338 1,287 1,924

Notes: 5T

(i) The amount was unsecured, interest free,
repayable on demand and trade in nature.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no allowance
was made for estimated irrecoverable amounts
due from related companies. The amounts were
denominated in RMB.

(i) The amount was unsecured, interest free,
repayable on demand and non-trade in nature.

(i) ZREASERF -RE
AEREREEREZIEE -

W_EBE =K _ZT__
F+ZA=+—8" #Ex®
FEW R A B 2 st A A]
EIRRIE(E H 1 - BRI
EUAREEEE

(ii) ZHASBEER -REA
EEREBERIFEZME-

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

34. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

34. ZIRHIRITLEER

2023 2022
—E=F BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®SFrT AR®ETT
For settlement of amounts payable to BREBEEM EERIE"
employees* 849 847
Frozen by a PRC District People’s EhE—HME ARIBRS
Procuratorate to facilitate legal RIEAREAREE
investigation not related to the Group EEB 2 AEHEE 3,548 2,520
Pledged as security of banking facilities RIRERITRENRES 1,115 1,109
Others* Hinx 418 3,637
5,930 8,113

*

The amounts are cash and cash equivalent.

Conversion of the above balances from RMB into
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

35. BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK 35.

The Group places mandatory reserve funds with the
People's Bank of China (the “PBOC") and the amount is
determined by the PBOC from time to time. The amount

is interest bearing (note 9).

PEAEARAH

it £35S

* ZERERRERIREEEY -

LiEFRARBRIARINERE
INERIMBARBREBE(PEINE
BIEROD R(EE - EER M EEE
MRED°

FERHRRIRITRIE
REBREEREBESEFREPRERA
RiE1T (MhEIARIRT) > &FIEH
HEARBITAEEE - EA
2 (fEE9) -
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36.

37

292

AR AR EE

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

BANK AND CASH BALANCES 36. IRITRIREBLERR
Bank and cash balances of the Group deposited with REBFHRIEHPEZRITIEIU T
banks in the PRC and denominated in the following ESHEZIRITRIZEAER
currencies:
2023 2022
=== -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTrt ARBTT
HKS BT 684 10,688
RMB NS 883,783 727,345
usD =7t 22,278 127464
906,745 865,497
Conversion of the above balances from RMB into A RBEARERIABINERE
foreign currencies and from foreign currencies into SME R NRIEREE (PEISME
RMB is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control BIRRGI) K (4508 ~ S T EBIR
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and FRE Do
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
TRADE PAYABLES 37 FE{IERFX
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date FEMERR RBIEREHFE) 2

of receipt of goods, is as follows: ERECOATUIT -
2023 2022
S - S — S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 465 b45
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H 75 282
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H 217 -
Over 365 days 365H M E 1,814 1,814
2,571 2,641
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37. TRADE PAYABLES (Conta)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

37 EHRM®@

AEERBMERRZEREEDUTS

denominated in the following currencies: EigsHE -
2023 2022
bk S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT
RMB AR 2,290 2,641
JPY H 262 -
CAN MmEKX7T 19 -
2,571 2,641
38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 38. FARRERKRHEMAENTIE
2023 2022
= =B HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Deposits received BWizE 112,306 130,628
Receipt in advance TEU R IE
— advertising services related (note (i) —BRESRP
(BIEE() - 3,316
Receipt in advance — others (note (ii) FE U IE — E A (B EEGi)) 5,622 9,455
Accrued salaries FEstTE 123,614 143,383
Accrued expenses FESTRIS 56,860 55,455
Amounts payable to employees FEfS R BB 982 1,200
Other payables Hh eI 81,280 77350
380,664 420,787
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HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

38. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (conto) 38. TEIRERRHEMEITRIE @
The carrying amounts of the Group’s accruals and other AEBEERERBMEMEMRIBEZ
payables are denominated in the following currencies: IREEDUTIEEEHE !

2023 2022
o= =T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
RMB AR 362,682 409,194
HK$ BT 16,740 9,346
JPY H 247 190
uSsD ETT 980 2,057
CAD MEKXTT 15 -
380,664 420,787
Notes: BT -
(i) The amount represented advertising credits received in (i) ZAIEIRTEA R R IERBINE 2 &
advance from social media. HED o
(i) The amount represented transaction fee, top-up amount (ii) ZREERZE EERETERK
for advertisements and promotion fee received in TEENEE R HEE -
advance from merchants.
AMOUNTS DUETO NON-CONTROLLING 39. FEfIKMIEB AT IEERREREMR

39.

294

SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AMOUNT DUETO A RELATED PARTY

The amounts were unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The amounts due were
denominated in RMB and trade in nature.

TR T F& 14 — % RA Bk 75 7k IH

sy

BX <F T

TEREIRT R RARER

BE - FHRBRUARBHELSE

M i1

o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ T =F+"PA=+—HILEE
40. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 40. EHNAEE
2023 2022
—EC=HF =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Billings in advance IRATWR
— Subscription solutions —sIRRR A

Contract liabilities mainly arise from non-refundable
advance payments in relation to subscription solutions
made by subscribed merchants while the underlying
services are yet to be provided.

Movements in contract liabilities:

645,066 669,487

BHEEETERETABRIEMHA
SIBMR S MM Z AR RETAN
TR AR B AR M R R it o

ELENEPA -
2023 2022

—F== - S——
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRT AREBTT

Balance at 1 January H—B—HZz &8 669,487 738,938
Increase in contract liabilities as a result BHEBRIEHTRE

of billing in advance of provision of FRIR 5 Z Z1RA]

Subscription Solutions YRR IB A0 814,304 820,772
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of & &ERERNHERUL G

recognising revenue during the year D (838,725) (890,223)
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HZ%&8% 645,066 669,487

The amount of billings in advance of performance
received that is expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year is RMB59,488,000 (2022:
RMB49,351,000).

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

BN —FEBEIBABRAZE W
BHITER WA AR 559,488,000
7T (TEZ 2% AR#49,351,000

7o) ©
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41.

296

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

BORROWINGS &k
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTrT AR®ET
Bank loan — principal (note) IRITER—AF (W:H) 470,000 480,000
Bank loan — interest payable (note) IRITEM—EMFE
(Pt =) 444 565
Loan from a non-controlling interest RE—HIFERER
shareholder RERZEM - 421
470,444 480,986
Note: 5T -

The carrying amount of bank loan as at 31 December 2023 will
mature on 29 May 2025 (2022: 19 June 2023), denominated
in RMB and secured by assets of a related company 71 N FEAE
R AEBRAT (Hangzhou Qima Technology Co., Ltd). The total
secured amount is RMB500 million.

Interest rate is charged at 3.9% per annum.

RITEFN 2 _=F+-_B=+—802
REEFR _Z_AaFERA_-_+hHA C=
TTHE I ZEZ=F,B+AB) B U
AR A B — B R A B AN RS 7
RERABZEEFIRIR - ERBEAA
FR#500,000,0007T °

I

BERIZENR3.9%:1 8

i
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HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

42. LEASE LIABILITIES 42, THE&E
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEHEMA™R RIEHEECRZRAE
2023 2022 2023 2022
I T TF ZRI=H TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTx ARETT AR¥EFTR ARETFT
Within one year —FR 23,996 29,176 16,360 20,506
In the second to fifth years, E_FEFEERE
inclusive (BREREEMS) 75,983 77197 64,369 59,331
After five years FEME - 14,350 - 14,082
99,979 120,723 80,729 93,919
Less: Future finance charges RIS W (19,250) (26,804) N/ARER N/AFRER
Present value of lease obligations TAE&EZRE 80,729 93,919 80,729 93,919
Less: Amount due for settlement 3, : #1218 8 A EI EH
within 12 months (shown =
under current liabilities) FReas
IERIIPD) (16,360) (20,506)
Amount due for settlement 1218 B % EIER
after 12 months EHZFIE 64,369 73,413

The carrying amounts of the Group's for lease

AEEEEZREEUATIEE

denominated in the following currencies: ERER

2023 2022

—E=F —=®B”C
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARETIT
RMB AR 80,332 93,327
HK$ BT 397 592
80,729 93,919
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43.

44.

298

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS 43. HHEME

Settlement obligations represent payables to merchants
for the third party payment services that the Group
collects from the payment service providers of
consumers. The amounts are due for settlement on
demand and is denominated in RMB.

EEEEEAEEMSE =S MR
5008 B & B AT AR B 12 11 7 U AR
B B RRIE » ZE BRI EN
HEE WUAREEHE

DEFERRED TAX 4. EIERTE

Tax Intangible
losses assets

WEBER ®YEE
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTR

Capitalised Right
contract Lease of use
costs liabilities assets Total
BR(
BHmE THEEE FREEE At
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL ARBTT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2022 (restated) R_T_"F

—B—B (&7 68,772  (128,235) (29,779) 24,695 (24,969) (89,516)
Credit/(charge) to profit or A/ (R £R
loss for the year (note 13) B (fI313)
(restated) (i E51) - 12,170 5,775 (10,154) 22,480 30,271
Written-off of deferred MR RIBEE
tax assets (restated) (& =E5) - - - (11,964) - (11,964)
At 31 December 2022 and ===
1 January 2023 (restated) +A=+—-Hk
CECCF
—B—H &5 68,772 (116,065) (24,004) 2,577 (2,489) (71,209)
Credit to profit or loss for FAFERER
the year (note 13) (M=E13) - 12,140 1,694 9,473 1,004 24,311
Written-off of deferred WIHEIERIBEE
tax assets - - - (10,565) - (10,565)
At 31 December 2023 R
+-A=+—H 68,772 (103,925) (22,310) 1,485 (1,485) (57,463)
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44. DEFERRED TAX (Contd)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for consolidated statement of financial position purpose:

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

44. RERIE @)

UTF R aMBRREMELZ
PEIEFRIBAEER DA

2023 2022
TET=HF =S

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFxT AR®BFT

(Restated)

CEE )

Deferred tax assets IRILIIEE 70,257 71,349
Deferred tax liabilities IR IBEE (127,720) (142,558)
(57,463) (71,209)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of RMB2,933,782,000 (2022:
RMB2,995,287000) available for offset against future

profits.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets of
RMB68,772,000 (2022: RMB68,772,000) were
recognised in respect of unused tax losses of
RMB458,480,000 (2022: RMB458,480,000) arising from
a major subsidiary. The directors have exercised their
judgement to assess that there will be sufficient future
taxable profits available to offset against unused tax
losses. These tax losses will expire from 2026 to 2032

(2022: from 2026 to 2031).

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB2,475,302,000
(2022: RMB2,536,807000) of the Group due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
will expire from 2024 to 2033 (2022: from 2023 to 2032).

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

R|ERR > KEBTARIEHER
RafzAXBARBEEAARE
2,933,782,00070 (CE__F : ARHE
2,995,2870007T) ©

W_Z_=#F+_B=+—H B8
—EEERBABEEZ REHRE
E518 A\ R 16458,480,0007T (ZZ - —
F 1 AR 15458,480,0007T) FESDIRIE
RIBE E AR #68,772,0007t (Z &
— 4 ANE¥68,772,0007T) cEH
BEEHH BTG R R A B B S FEER
RiaF A BRIEE RS AIRIEEIE
ZERBEERBENR _ S _NEFEE_ZT
CTIE(CEICE . CECREEC
T = —1F) B|Hfo

R R EF) 2R 2 A el TR o iR
mIAEREER T AR 2,475,302,000
7T (CEZ"F AR#2,536,807000
70) HESBIRIEIRIE & E - Z E R 1EA 18
RN —E_MEE"T==F (=
= S = === S |
HBo
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HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

45. SHARE CAPITAL 45. fR#&
2023 2022
b Sk S
Number of Number of
shares Amount Amount shares Amount Amount
RIEE &% &E  RHEE &8 &8
Note ‘000 HK$'000  RMB’'000 ‘000 HK$'000  RMB'000
Bt Fig TET ARETR T TEr ARETR
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of ~ SREE0.01ETT
HK$0.01 each 2B 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 200,000
Ordinary, issued and & B&1Tk
fully paid: e
At 1 January ®—B—H 18,421,641 184,216 154,484  17260,003 172,600 145,036
Shares issued under  1RiEACE
placing BRI (a) - - - 810,792 8,108 6,611
Allotment of BEE TN
Awarded Shares  #EEIR{D
to Trustee - - - 350,846 3,508 2,837
Issuance of FTRERD
Consideration
Shares (b) 14,550,000 145,500 132,393 - - -
Issuance of Fee BIERKRM
Shares () 6,667 67 61 - - -
At 31 December m+ZB=+—H 32,978,308 329,783 286,938 18,421,641 184,216 154,484
Note: B EE

300

(a)

On 11 January 2022, the Company entered into
placing agreement with a placing agent in respect of
810,792,000 new shares of the Company to be allotted
and issued at HK$0.385 per share. The placing was
completed on 19 January 2022 and the net proceeds
from the placing was approximately HK$309,009,000

(approximate RMB251,944,000).

(a)

R —_F—A+—H0>&AF
W2 ENREILER0.385H
ToHE F AL 8 K #517810,792,000/2 4%
NEVHRGET LR EmZE -BED
RZE2E-__F—H+hHZ/MK &
EFRE R IEF 2E497309,009,000
BT (# AR 1251,944,0007T) ©
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

45. SHARE CAPITAL (Conta) 45. 7 @

PEAEARAF

Note: (Contd)

(b) The Company entered into Sale and Purchase
Agreement with all Youzan Technology Inc. shareholders
(the “Sellers”) for on 23 May 2023 in relation to
further acquisitions 48.1% of equity shares of Youzan
Technology Inc. from the Seller (the “Acquisition”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and
issue 14,549,999,989 new shares of Company (the
“Consideration Shares”) in exchange for Youzan
Technology Inc’s shares from the Sellers. The Acquisition
completed on 29 December 2023. Details refer to
circular of the Company dated on 30 November 2023
and completion announcement dated on 27 December
2023 and 29 December 2023.

(c) Fee Shares representing the remuneration payable to
Oriental Patron for its financial advisory services to the
Company in connection with the Acquisition. The amount
is measured based on the value of the professional
service received by the Company of approximately
RMB873,000 (HK$960,000). It is charged to profit or
loss, and the same amount is credited to share capital
and share premium (the “Fee Shares”).

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem
existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

it £35S

Mz (42)

(b) ARABRZB-_=FRB=-+=
HEEENEAERABMABRE
(TEFNFTILEEREZ A
EREBEBERFE—THESERE
BERATZ48.1%RE (TWEE
H)) it KRB R R K &
1714,549,999,9890% A< A B #7 AR 15
(TMERM) UBREARZE
BREERARARKRM WEEEDS
RNE_=ZF+"F_+hH5%
e BERE2MNA AR REA T
—ZFE+—B=tHZzEXRKHH
A_E_=F+_A_+tBEZ
E_=F+_A-_t+hABZ=HA

==
= °

() ERARGS G EEER AR E
REPEBEREMENRE Y
W) cZSHERARNDMES Y
EERBEBELHARMES?3,0007T
(960,000 7T) st2 oz 5INIE
AN ER > M E AR AR R AR R E
(&AM -

AEREXBEZBREMEELE
B2 FEKEREN WEBEBIERH
BT EMARREREERR -

AEREZRARLLAREERETR A
EERBEERREZEERBME
EZRBREE BEEAREEIMU
B RERHBEBERRE A&
F AR IRE S EITHAR S OB
in~ SEMER BRIIRA RN
HEB ELUREER -
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45. SHARE CAPITAL (Conta)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital.

Net debt, includes interest-bearing bank loans, other
borrowings, accruals and other payables, less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of the Group's equity excluding non-
controlling interests. The Group's policy is to maintain
a low debt-to-adjusted capital ratio and this policy is
unchanged. This policy will be reviewed on an annual

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

45,

&7 @)
AERREEHCEEE R LR
S EEAR o H L E R FETHIRUL
ERE ARG

B BRI BRTER HiE
2 BRERREMECREARS
RESLEY - EREE A OERE
B (FREFERE® ZMA
8145 o AL E 2 BUR A BT RER S
ERBEERLE R RETE -
R S ERITR o

basis.
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTn ARETT
Accruals and other payables FEIRE R REMERIE 380,664 420,787
Borrowings EE 470,444 480,986
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIREEEY (926,265) (889,944)
(Excess cash and cash equivalents)/ (BERS LIRS
net debt HEY) EBFE (75,157) 11,829
Total equity excluding non-controlling RmiEEE (REfE
interests JEIER 1,021,330 1,413,266
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEBRHKHABEEARLLE N/ARE 0.84%
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45.

46.

PEAEARAF

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFE

SHARE CAPITAL (conta) 45. BR7 @)
The externally imposed capital requirement for the NEEBEFEN AR LW
Group is to have a public float of at least 25% of the il > HAMNEBIE N 2 B A E R B ARE
Company's shares in order to maintain its listing on the EDBRRABRPAATRITRE
Stock Exchange. Based on information that is publicly RERABMELAHENKMES
available to the Company and within the knowledge of FRAl RBFTFARABIBEITRALR
the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued XERR/25% ©
share capital was held by the public.
OTHER RESERVES 46. Eftfats
Financial Subsidiary's
assetsat  treasury
Capital  Statutory Exchange FVTOCI share
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
BATRE
HAK
Efh2E
hakz  HWBAFZ
Exfif EEHE ERGE MBEERE ERRMHE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__&-F-H 621,565) 8,060 (29,456) (102,827) (7 (745,795)
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2EARALE - - 30,518 (729) - 29,789
Changes in equity for the year ERERED - - 30,518 (729) - 29,789
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZA=1-H (621,565) 8,060 1,062 (103,556) (7) (716,006)
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=E-F-H (621,565) 8,060 1,062 (103,556) (7) (716,006)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZEAUNEE - - 15,807 (4,870) - 10,937
Issuance of Consideration Shares (note 45(b) ETRERH (Mﬁ%(b)) (2,326,139) - - - - (2,326,139)
Issuance of Fee Shares (note 45(c)) ENEERD (MT£45(CU (873) - - - - (873)
Further acquisition of a subsidiary without ~ E—F WE—F
change in control (]Iﬁi?t%ﬂ%&@j) (1,242) - - - - (1,242)
Release of financial assets at FVOCI RHERBRRATESARMZE
reserve upon disposals WaEZHBEERE - - - 5,000 - 5,000
Changes in equity for the year ERELEH (2,328,254) - 15,807 130 - (2312,317)
At 31 December 2023 RIE-ZF+-A=+-H (2,949,819) 8,060 16,869 (103,426) (7) (3,028,323
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

304

(a)

Statement of financial position of the
Company

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

47 FBRBEZHBRRRREE

8

(a) ZFABRZMBRRER

2023 2022
—E= —E_T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARBFT AR®BFT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥)% B R= &% E - 35
Right-of-use assets EREEE 329 532
Investments in subsidiaries RRB AR ZRE 925,903 711,189
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEEETA
FHEHME2EmWEER
ZHBEE 2,878 6,153
Loans to a subsidiary m—ENBABEY
2B - 214,173
929,110 932,082
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits EBNREBE RSk
and other receivables HithE W mI1E 464 288
Indemnification asset MEEE 32 179,797 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B A 5718 1,152 1,122
Restricted bank balances ZPREIRITAEER - 1,634
Bank and cash balances IR1TMIRE4EER 36,614 68,168
218,027 71,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (conta)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Statement of financial position of the

Company (Conta)

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

47 ERBEZHBRARRGFEE

(a) ZFABRZHMBRRAE @

2023 2022
—ET= ==
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
b5 AR¥EFx ARETFT
Current liabilities mEBAaE
Accruals and other payables — FEIR & & Hth
FETFRIE 16,736 9,342
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FE{T i B A SR IE 2,899 2,817
Lease liabilities HEaE 254 206
Withholding tax payable FE TR 32 179,797 -
199,686 12,365
Net current assets MEEEZFE 18,341 58,747
Total assets less current MEERRHERE
liabilities 947451 990,829
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 143 386
143 386
NET ASSETS BERE 947,308 990,443
Capital and reserves BARRKEE
Share capital [N 45 286,938 154,484
Reserves e 47(b) 660,370 835,959
TOTAL EQUITY R AREE 947,308 990,443
Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March RoF_MHFE=ZA—+—H
2024 and are signed on its behalf by: %g%%%%kﬁ ' W FHES
RERE !
Mr. Zhu Ning Mr. Yu Tao
KELE BIRRTE
—EoCEER 305
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#E—-=

—_—<——

F+A=+—HLEE

N= e 3 2
47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. AT ZHBRARRHEE
4= =
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 25 =
COMPANY (contd)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) FATZiFEEED
Shares
held for Shares  Financial
Share Share Share Award  assets at
premium Contributed Capital option Award  Scheme  FVTOCI Exchange Accumulated
account  surplus  reserve  reserve  Scheme reserve reserve  reserves loss Total
BRATHE
AL
AR 2ENER
REHE  ROEE ZMEBEE
RiVEER SARE ErEE BRERE SEZRG ARG it ERRHE BHER R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ABETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_-E-F-{ 6,098,424 61,682 - 45,615 (43,128) 57364 (29,952) 20938 (5,357811) 853,032
Total comprehensive income FRZENALE
for the year - - - - - - 4181 38996 (353895  (310,718)
Issuance of placing shares BIRERD
[note 45(a)) (Fizk45(a) 245,333 - - - - - - - - 04533
Allotment of Awarded Shares BEEARERERG
toTrustee 76,598 - - - (79.435) - - - - (2,837)
Release upon lapsed of share option 7 IR IE S RS ARER - - - (3,002 - - - - 3,002 -
Equity-settled share-based payments  RIEL BRI X fTTE - - - 6,195 - 44954 - - - 51149
Fully-vested Awarded Shares HERAEEEURR
transfer to awardees #ERH - - - - 97884 (97884) - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FREREE 321,931 - - 3193 18449 (52,930) 4,181 3899 (350,893 (17073
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZA=+—H 642035 61,682 - 48,808 (24,679) 4434 (25,771) 59,934  (5,708,704) 835959
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=£-A-H 6,420,355 61,582 - 48,808 (24,679) 4,434 (25,111) 59,934 (5,708,704) 835959
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=E-F-{ 6,420,355 61,582 - 48,808 (24,679) 4,434 (25,11) 59,934 (5,708,704) 835,959
Total comprehensive FRRANAEE
income for the year - - - - - - (3,450) 22,940 (74117)  (54,627)
Issuance of Consideration BARERN (H:H450)
Shares (note 45(b)) 1,774,067 - (1,906,460) - - - - - - (132,393)
Issuance of Fee Shares (note 45(cl)  ETEERA (FzE45() 812 - - - - - - - - 812
Release upon lapsed of share option 7 B IR IE & W FsARER - - - (5,509) - - - - 5,509 -
Equity-settled share-based payments R4 BB X fT7E - - - 3470 - 7149 - - - 10,619
Fully-vested Awarded Shares HERAEEEUER
transfer to awardees £ERH - - - - 9,463 (9,463) - - - -
Changes in equity for the year FRELEED 1,774,879 - (1906460)  (2039) 9463  (2314)  (3450) 22940  (68,608) (175,589)
At 31 December 2023 RIBZZE+ZA=+—H 8195234 61582  (1,906,460) 46,769 (15,216) 2,120 (29,221) 82,874 (5777312) 660,370
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48. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and
movements therein are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(1)

(ii)

Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising
from the issue of shares at a price in excess
of their par value per share and is not
distributable but may be utilised in paying
up unissued shares of the Company to be
issued to the shareholders of the Company
as fully paid bonus shares or in providing
for the premiums payable on repurchase of
shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group arose
as a result of the Group reorganisation
implemented in preparation for the listing
of the Company’s shares in 2000 and
represented the excess of the consolidated
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

48.

B

(a)

(b)

TEH
rEBEREBSERAZHN
mEEmAEMEERAR

AR

rERmEEHKRIEN -

HEEERERN

(1)

(i)

R17m 18R
RinEEiERZERS
REEZEREITRD
FTEEZ BB ZnE
REI DIk WA RAEF]
BRI AR B AR
Thetn > BUERBUE
ARETTFEALATR
R ERREBERND
B RE B

A BB
REBEZBARERI
TERFREHLRAT
Ry EHmETZER
EMEPRESL PR IE
WEBRARZEEEER
BB HA AT B Z
REBERERETR
AEEZEE-
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48. RESERVES (Conta)

308

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Contd)

(i1)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 4(v) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess
of the fair value of the Group's share of
net assets over the purchase price and
the premium arising from acquisition. The
amount is retained in the consolidated
statement of financial position until the
disposal of the subsidiaries.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve, which is non-
distributable, is appropriated from the
profit after taxation of the Group's PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with accounting policies set
out in note 4(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

48.

@ @

(b)

HEEEREN @

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

BRI

BRERBERERS
BRI 54 (V)T R
REAE B IR ST A RRIRFR
RS STER > BB
R EsHR T AEEE
BZ R1TEREKRIERE
ZAFEe

=4
BERfEEIESEREN
EEFEZRATERH
BEBREBEEZ &
B ER -wBNGE
MBERRRFRE BE
MEBARHERIL -

SEE#
EERBBER/TADIK
ThE A B A& B E
BABRETERBERZE
PIRER R Z BRI R
Al e

ER1E
ERREEHEEREEEHR
BEBIINEBYBRERZ
FTEINEERE - A
RBFEEHBHREM
sE4(e)FT 8 G 5T R AR
Y
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

48. RESERVES (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAF

Nature and purpose of reserves (Contd)

(vii)

(viii)

Shares held by Share Award Scheme and
Shares Award Scheme reserve

The Group has adopted Share Award
Scheme as set out in note 49(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. When
the Company allots shares to the Trustee of
the Share Award Scheme, it would deduct
the same value of allotted shares from the
equity and is presented as “Shares held for
Share Award Scheme” When the Trustee
of the Share Award Scheme transfers the
Company's shares to the awardees upon
vesting, the value of Awarded Shares are
credited to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme’ with a corresponding adjustment
made to “Share Award Scheme reserve’

Financial assets at FVTOC/ reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the
fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI held
at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 4(m) to the consolidated
financial statements.

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

48.

@ @

(b)

HEEEREN @

(vif)

(viii)

BR172ZB) 51 BIFF 15 AR 17
KR 172251 1# 1
rEBECSHRMEGRH
75 #R R M 5E49(b) P &
2RI ERETE - B
AB W\ R ER ST E
Z RN RN E
Hik B m N FFER Y
ki BE 25
7 TR IR (7 B B 51 8175
BEzkin) - ERME
kLS IPASEYNIN =
Rri A A B IR EFET
AR AE ZRERG 2
BES A THARG 2R
SRR ZRM ) W
Fhg 17 5% Bh 5+ 811 1
EHAE R EE o

B FEGAERME
B i AR Z R B B 1o
#
BAFESFAEREME
EWmERZ B EER
B EERRE AR
BAFESFAEREME
HEWERZVMBEEZ
REt AT EEHFE
WIZER G IR R 5
A(m)Fr & 2 & 5t BURIE
TR
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

310

(a)

Share Option Schemes
As at 12 June 2019, the Company adopted Share
Option Scheme 2019.

On 29 June 2023, the shareholders of the
Company resolved to terminate the Share Option
Scheme 2019 of the Company and to adopt a
new share option scheme (“New Share Option
Scheme”) conditionally. Termination of the Share
Option Scheme 2019 of the Company shall not
affect the validity of the outstanding options
which shall continue to be enforceable according
to the original terms. The New Share Option
Scheme has no trustees and will be subject to the
administration of the directors of the Company. A
summary of the principal terms of the New Share
Option Scheme of the Company is set out in the
circular of the Company dated 30 May 2023.

Summary of terms

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49.

[4r AR

(a) FERRRESHE
RB—AEAATZB &
ARRMN_F—NERBRAE

E 1B

RIZEZ=F,"BZ+NB"
KABIREHRREIERAQF
“E-hFERESE I
BHREGRMTNEBRESE
(TR REST ) o & IER
RBEZE—NFHEKREE
BAGEEHRITHEBERE
ZERME > Hol R R R
BAT o MR ST 8
ZENEHRARATESE
B-ARMEBRESEZEE
BRMEHNAAEIHEA
—E=_FRBA=+tHzZ®
5| o

1A ZE

Details Share Option Scheme 2019 New Share Option Scheme

#15 —_E-NEFREREHE MiERES 2

1. Purposes To enable to grant options to the eligible  To enable to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for  participants as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. their contributions to the Group.

1. BH BARNEAAEGERSEEREBRE F BARERNCERSHEERDEBRE /F

ARENAEEFFEM 2 B 0R

RREOAERFFEM 2 EZREER
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BHEZZ”=

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd) 49.

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Summary of terms (Contad)

F+A=+—HLEFE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a) FARIESTEl @

TTAW;Z C

Details Share Option Scheme 2019 New Share Option Scheme
#15 —_E-hEFREREE MiERES 2
2. Eligible Eligible participants include (i) any  Eligible Participants include:

participants

it £35S

employee or proposed employee,
manager or officer (whether full or part
time) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; (ii) any director (including
executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any advisors,
consultants, contractors, distributors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, joint venture, promoters and
service providers of any member of the
Group.

ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ—i%&% VAR B E AR IR
ZEAREESEEREE KBNS
}\E\( SR BEERR) (IARBHEE
PIRB AR ZEAES (BERTHIER
TRARBILEAST) (i) NEEEAKE
NEIZEAEEBHAEKEE - D
BHEE - RE - ER EBEH a8
EEFRARRBERER-

(a) any Employee Participants;

(b) any Related Entity Participants; and
(c) any Service Providers.

BERE

\\Xt

(a) RS
(b) {EfIRREE
(c) EMRIBRTS

28
B
g

BEEIE

BE,
2
=

BE K

z
o
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

312

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Summary of terms (Contad)

Details

#15

Share Option Scheme 2019
—E-hFBRESE

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FERRTESTE @)
I EE (48)

New Share Option Scheme

HREARAE A

3. Maximum number
of shares

3. RekRH#UE

The maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised
under the scheme and any other inventive
or option scheme(s) of the Company
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30%
of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time. No options may be
granted under this scheme if any grant of
option will result in such 30% limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under this
scheme and any other incentive or option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date of approval of this
scheme.

FIR B A 5T 8 e AR B E eI A BB X
BRESSIEREMAFTEZREH
RITEEREETEMAI AR E RET
ZERBERERNHBESHETEEBER
AT REFBEITIRN 230% o AR E
BRERERBBEZI0WNIREE IR T
RIBAGT R LRI

FREAS 2 A A SR E B
BRESIRTRUEZMERBRIERT
FEMIERERZETZROBE &5
FEBBAMERTEIZBEZRTRNZ
10% o

The total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all Options (excluding, for this
purpose, Options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s)) to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other incentive or option scheme(s),
including existing shares or new shares
granted under the Amended Share Award
Scheme, of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 1,842,164,209 Shares,
representing 10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of the New
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit").

RIB BT B R A~ B E A H 2
BB BB 2 FTA R (3t
WME FEERENBRESE T
MEMBRESE ZERERRZER
1) BT R E RET RN
H(BERBLEITIRMERERY
ZHRERDEMKRRG) aHEFEEA
1,842,164,2008% B 15 » (e FA St HT BB AR A
SEHEBEETRDZ10% (THEIRE
PREE)) °

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAF

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Summary of terms (Contad)

49.

AR ZAFRRIE @)
(a) FARIESTEl @

1FAHZ (HE)

entitlement of

each participant

5. Option period

5. BBRIEHR

it £35S

under share options to each eligible
participant within any 12-month period,
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

RAER+ZESHERN m8RaEKR2
BERHBEREIRZIETROARS
B AEBBNEAREEETRNZ
1% E— PR HBAIRE BRER
RIRR ARG EREH -

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors,
and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not
later than ten years from the offer date of
the share options.

PR EZITERRES AT KA
THBRERG BEEBREEZRRTH
B+ ER T

Details Share Option Scheme 2019 New Share Option Scheme
EE ZE-hERERERE BRI
4. Maximum The maximum number of shares issuable  The maximum number of shares issuable

under share options to each eligible
participant within any 12-month period,
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

REF+ZELBER nERaERKS
HERHBRESRZ2AZTROHES
B TEBERERRBERETREZ
1% - E—PRILBARILRE EBRER
RIRRAGREREHE

The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors,
and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not
later than ten years from the offer date of
the share options.

PR EEREZTERBEERRTE NG
THEREHG BEEBREEZZRREH
st +F R ©
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

314

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Summary of terms (Contad)

Details

#15

Share Option Scheme 2019
—E-hFBRESE

49.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

RRAR 2SRRI (@)
(a) FEARMESHE @)
HHBEE (8)

New Share Option Scheme

HREARAE A

6. Exercise price

6. 171EE

7. Remaining life of
the scheme

7 EIZFERES

The exercise price of the share options
is determinable by the board of directors
and must be at least higher of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date, which must be
a Business Day; (i) the average closing
price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s
share. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on the grant of a share option.
BRETEEREZESRTE BERT
FIREREE (A ATRKRONEZRR Y
HEf CERE%R) AHMEARER
PRINZ W E (A A BB R EEEER
RUBHHAAEEXHTHMIMEBAR
BRI ZFHRHE ; Kli)EKLBR
MZEE - REREERER AR fLEN
B1ETe

The scheme became effective on 12 June
2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.
SEIERZE—NEAATIBEEN B
FERTEUETER] » TRIEZ BET105
RBW

The exercise price of the share options
is determinable by the board of directors
and must be at least higher of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date, which must be
a Business Day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s
share. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on the grant of a share option.
BRETEEREESRATE B4ERT
JIREREE (IR REKRMNERRD
HE CBAEER) AMXMEARER
Fro 2 W B S (AR BRI B2 R
BRHHB L ESEHEHIMEHR
BRI ZFHWHE ; Kli)&xABK
MZEBE RERLBREREZMRER
B187Te

The scheme became effective on 29 June
2023 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.
FEERZEZ=EAAZTABRER
BRIESTEUHEEET  BRIBZ B#EEH10
FREMC
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAF

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Other disclosure

The fair value of share options granted is
recognised in profit or loss taking into account
the probability that the options will vest over the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of the options
the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded in the share premium account. At
the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve is
transferred to accumulated losses. Lapsed options,
prior to their exercise date, are deleted from the
outstanding options. All equity-settled share-based
compensation expense is settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The grantees may exercise the options in whole
or in part by giving exercise notice to the grantor
at any time during the option period provided that
the grantees shall exercise the options to acquire
the option shares in accordance with the following
vesting schedule:

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a)

Rl st @

Hith#e &
FrRbiEREZ A FERS
KEBRER TR BN RB
ZAAEMR  EHEmESE N
BREETER EHILETZ
R D EES 1FRESNR
F> MEkRTEEBLRNE
Bz EBsF ARMDEER R
BRBETER FANER
BREERNES A TER
ERMEE - EBRIER R
HREPADAERFITE AT
AR EREREARRZE
BEEERFER -NIT/EH
HR AW Z BBREB B ARTT
fERERRIE 7R o Fr B B m A4S
BURM G2 HBEREDR
MEHE o A EE L5 IR
THEEBREZIAERETE
BfEe

EENB B RERR A E
R BB MR H A LS
Mo TEEE o BRE
A1 72 AR N BRI LT R
JB B5 R 2% 17 o0 s IR A LABR
RN
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 49. RRIPEZATIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta) (a) MERRHESTE @

Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI B BENT

following:

A. Granted in 2019 A. RZE—NEFRH
Vesting schedule for Share Option “E-NhEFERES
Scheme 2019 - granted in 2019 IFEERER-—NZF

—hEEEH
At 1 July 2020 25% RIE"ZELA-H 25%
At 1 July 2021 25% RZBEZ-EtF—-H 2%
At 1 July 2022 25% RIEZZHtA—-H 25%
At 1 July 2023 25% RIZZ=FtA-H 25%
At 31 December 2023 — Share Option AN _E_=ZF+_H
Scheme 2019 =t+—HB-—Z—h%&F
PR B
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2023 the year the year the year 2023
RZIBZ=F
RZBZ=% +-H
REAH T8 7B —-B—-H FREH ERXY ERITHE =t+-H
Share Option
Scheme 2019  “E—hERREHE
Director of the NG
Company —KBLE
- Mr. Zhu Ning
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZZ-nF “EIRELA-AEZZIMEREZTH 1008T
+A+mA 1July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
B -EtR-AE-E_MERA=HA 10087
1July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
CECCELR-AE-E_MEARAZTA 10087
1July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
TECCELR-AEZZMERESTHE 1008T
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of
the Company ~ AABEMER
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
ZZ-nF “EIRELA-AEZZIMEREZTH 090ET
+A+mA 1 July 2021 t0 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
TEI-FtA-AEIZIMEREZTH  090ET
1July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
CECCFLR-AEIRMERESTHE 090ET
1July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
ZZTCELA-HEZENEAA=TH  090ET
50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAR

Share Option Schemes (Contd)
Details of the specific categories of options are as

HEZZ =

49. RPZ(TRIE @

F+A=+—HLEFE

(a) FARIESTEl @
BEER 2 BRESBNT

following: (Contd) (#)

A. Granted in 2019 (Contd) A RIE—NFRH E
At 31 December 2023 - Share Option N_EZ=F+2TFA
Scheme 2019 (Contd) —+—H-ZZ—AIHF

AR B (2
Number of share options
BREHR
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2023 the year the year the year 2023
RIBZZF
_ _ RIEZ= . } +ZB
R A% (i3 IR —-B-H FRRH ERRH ERITHE =+-H
Share Option
Scheme2019  —Z—hERRIEHE
Senior management Z£ESREEE
of the Group
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000
“E-nE+A-BZEZEtA-BEZZCMERA=TH  075#ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000
RT-FtA-HEIEIMEREZTH  0T5ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 7500,000 - - - 7500,000
TZTTELA-AECZCMERAZTR 0T5ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 7500,000 - - - 7500,000
“ECCELR-AECEMEAEZTH 075ET
30,002,000 - (3,750,000) - 26,252,000
Employees of the
Group ZEB[ES
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 14,052,000 - (4552,000) - 9,500,000
2NE+HE-BHIZIEEtA-HEZSIMERACTHE  0T5ER
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 29,250,000 - (10,750,000) - 18,500,000
TEC-FEA-HECSIMERAZTHE  075ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 20,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 18,500,000
TETTELA-AEZCMERAZTR 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 20,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 18,500,000
“ECCELR-AECSMEREZTH 07T5ET
83,302,000 - (18,302,000) - 65,000,000
Total share options B R AR 263,304,000 - (22,052,000 - 241,252,000
—EocaER 317
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

HE_Z_=

49. RIFZTRIE =

F+A=+—HLEE

(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FHERGHESTE @

Details of the specific categories of options are as YRR BRSBTS

following: (Contd) (#)

A. Granted in 2019 (Contd) A RIZENFRH(E
At 31 December 2022 - Share Option RZEZZHF+ZR
Scheme 2019 —+—H-ZZ—AIHF

FE RSt S
Number of share options
BREYE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2022 the year the year the year 2022
RIZZZE
) A — - ) T8
R A% 71 e —B—-H EREH EREN ERTTHE =+-H
Share Option
Scheme 2019
Z3-NE
- B
Director of the
Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
§/\E ‘§‘§
—£®
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
—2E RTZEtA-HEZSIMERAZTHE 100ET
+A+mA 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ZET-HtA-HEIZRIMERA=1H 10087
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
TR CEtA-HECSIMERAZHH 10087
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$1.00 25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
ETCECA-AEECMENASTR 1008
100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000
Other directors of
the Company
FAFEMES
14 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
“Z-Nf “ECEECA-AE_ECMENASTHE 090ET
+A+ImH 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
FT-EtA-AEZECMENAZTHE 090ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
RTCEtA-HEIEIMERBZTHE  090ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.90 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000
“RI-HtA-HEIZRIMERAZ=THE 090ET
50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

HEZZ =

F+A=+—HLEFE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @

Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI  BREFBEOT

following: (Contd) (#)

A.  Granted in 2019 (Contd) A RIE—NFRH E
At 31 December 2022 - Share Option N_ZEZZF+A
Scheme 2019 (Contd) =t+t—H-ZZ—h%F

BB s E) (4
Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2022 the year the year the year 2022
RIZ_—E
N —d +ZA
R A% (i3 718 —B—H EREE ERRY ERTTHE =+-H
Share Option
Scheme 2019
ZZ-hE
- B
Senior management.
of the Group
rEESHRERE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 3,752,000 - - - 3,752,000
“Z-nF TETRECA-HEIRIMESESTE 05T
+B—H 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - - - 11,250,000
“ZT-FtA-HEIZIMERAZ=THE  075ET
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000
ZEITECA-HEIZIMERESTE 075ET
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 11,250,000 - (3,750,000) - 7500,000
ZRI-HtA-HEIZRIMERAZTH  075ET
37502,000 - (7500,000 - 30,002,000
FEAEARAT T _-E4H 319
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a) Share Option Schemes (Conta)

Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Contd)

A. Granted in 2019 (Contd)

At 31 December 2022 - Share Option

Scheme 2019 (Contd)

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTEl @

BERRZBREFBENT

6=

A RIB-AFRH E

I p— S g
=+—H-ZZ—hHF

BREstE (B

Number of share options

BREHE
At Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2022 the year the year the year 2022
RIZZZE
RIE_ZE +ZA
BHAH T8 78 —-A-A EREL ERRY ERTE =t+-H
Share Option
Scheme 2019
—B-RE
faRR it El
Employees of
the Group
FEEEE
1 October 2019 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 14,562,000 - (500,000) - 14,052,000
“2-nE+A-BEEEtA-BEZZCMEAA=TRE  079ET
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 30,250,000 - (1,000,000) - 29,250,000
FC-EtA-AE_ECMENAZTHE 0758
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 29,250,000 - (9,250,000) - 20,000,000
ECCECA-AEZECMENAZTHE 0758
1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 HK$0.75 29,250,000 - (9,250,000) - 20,000,000
ECCEtA-AE-ECMENAZTHE 0758
103,302,000 - (20,000,000) - 83,302,000
Total share options ~ F&RR HEARE( 290,804,000 - (27500,000) - 263,304,000

For Share Option Scheme 2019, if the
options remain unexercised up to 30 June
2024, the options expire. Options are

forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

320

M- —hERERRER
AME HEREESR
“TEIWMEARA=T
BIRIT BRER
SR R BB A E
B BRI

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(a)

PEAEARAH

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Contd)

A. Granted in 2019

Details of the share options outstanding

during the year are as follows:

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTEl @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
G-

A. R CE—FREHLH

FAERITREBRES
BaOF

2023
“EIZHF
Share Option
Scheme 2019
“—E-hFEREE

Weighted
Number of average
share exercise
options price
h#EFE
FBRREHE T1EE
HK$
AT
Outstanding at the beginning  E#] & KR1T1E
of the year 263,304,000 0.86
Lapsed during the year FREN (22,052,000) 0.86
Outstanding at the end of the R & RITIE
year 241,252,000 0.88
Exercisable at the end for the ~E B F171F
year 241,252,000 0.88
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

322

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Contd)

Details of the specific categories of options are as

following: (Contd)

A.

Granted in 2019 (Contd)

Details of the share options outstanding

during the year are as follows: (Contd)

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

(a) FARIESTEl @
BEER 2 BRESBNT
6=

A RIFE-AFRH B

FAERITREBRES
BT (&

2022

—

Share Option
Scheme 2019
TE-NFERESS

Weighted

Number of average

share exercise

options price

TS

FER S 1T16E

HK$

AT
Outstanding at the beginning  E#] & KR1T1E

of the year 290,804,000 0.86

Lapsed during the year FRRH (27500,000) 0.75
Outstanding at the end of FERBARITEE

the year 263,304,000 0.86
Exercisable at the end for FRATITE

the year 195,804,000
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AR e B ERARMYEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE-T_=Et+-A=t—ALEE
49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd) 49. RASZIIFRIE @
(a) Share Option Schemes (Contad) (a) HBBeHEStE (@

Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Contd)

A. Granted in 2019 (Contd)

There are no share option exercised during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022. The exercise prices range from
HK$0.75 to HK$1.00 for Share Option
Scheme 2019.

The fair value of Share Option Scheme 2019
was calculated using Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The inputs into the model are as
follows:

BER ZBREFBENT
()

A RIFE-AFRH (B

HE-R-=GR-F
——f+=A=+-H
IR - BEAE A AR
e B —NERR
B > TEERES
0.75 BITE1.008 T

“E-NFERESE
ZAFEDERATIEL
HEEBRESGE &
REZ@MABTENT

Share Option
Scheme 2019
ZE—hE
FRR RS2

Share price of the Company on grant date KABRIRHBHRZRE HK$0.48

Exercise price TEBE

Expected volatility TERRRE 1R

Expected life TRHATFHA

Risk-free rate R R R

Expected dividend yield SELER IS ES

Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company's share price
over the previous 5 years.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

- HK$0.50
0.488TE
0.508 7T
HK$0.75

- HK$1.00
0.758TE
1.007 7T
71.91%
-71.97%
7191 % &
71.97%
4.7 years
474
1.348% to
1.452%
1.348% &
1.452%
0%

0%

FREREDREBFEART
RIBESFEZ REEERIEE
o
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

324

(a)

B.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49. RPZ(TTRIE @

Share Option Schemes (Contad) (a) FEERRHEETE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as HERR BREFEOT
following: (Contd) (#&)
Granted in 2023 B. RIE - =FREH
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=H+=ZAH
=+-8
Number of share options
RREHE
At1 Granted Lapsed Exercised At
Exercise January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period price 2023 the year the year the year 2023
RZBZ=
RZBZ= +ZB
=) %4 1@ —-A-H FREH EREH FRTE =+-A
Share Option Scheme 2019
“E-hERREE
Director of the Company
- Mr. Zhu Ning
ARFER
T
20 January 2023 20 January 2024 to 19 January HK$0.385
2028 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
ZE_=F-RBZ1H “2_MFE-AFRE 0.38587
“Z”N\E-AThAH
Other directors of the Company
/'\Eﬁ =
20 January 2023 20 January 2024 to 19 January HK$0.385
2028 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
ZZZ=E-BZ1H “2ME-AFRE 0.38587
“2_N\E-RAtNAH
20 January 2023 20 January 2024 to 19 January HK$0.385
2028 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
“2T-£-A°+H Z2MFE-FZ+HE 038578 7T
“Z_\F-A+AH
Employees of the Group
20 January 2023 20 January 2024 to 19 January HK$0.385
2028 - 9,450,000 (650,000) - 8,800,000
“2T-f-A°+H “Z_MFE-AZ+HE 0.385%7T
B \E-FThH
Total share options BREey - 14,450,000 (650,000) - 13,800,000
Note: 100% of the options shall be vested on BIsE © 100%BEREBN
20 January 2024. ZME—B=+
BERE -
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

(a)

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (contd) 49. RPZ(IFIE @
Share Option Schemes (Contd) (a) FEERGHESTE @
Details of the specific categories of options are as BRI  BREFBEOT
following: (Contd) 6=
B.  Granted in 2023 (Contd) B. RIZEZZFRH B
Total Weighted
Number of average
share exercise
options price
S
FERG AR BN T1EE
HK$
MRZEZ=F
At 31 December 2023 +-—H=+—H AT
Outstanding at the beginning ~ F# B RITE
of the year - N/ARFREHR
Granted during the year 14,450,000 0.385
Lapsed during the year (650,000) 0.385
Outstanding at the end of the FRERITHE
year 13,800,000 0.385
Exercisable at the end of the &R A F171E
year - N/ARXREH

PEAEARAH

The options outstanding related to the
Youzan Technology Group’s employees at the
end of the period have a weighted average
remaining contractual life as at 31 December
2023 is 4 years. The exercise price is
HK$0.385.

it £35S

RZEZ=F+=AH
=—+—H EB2EBENE
EEEBMEMZERT
R Z ISR
BRAENERABAF 1T
{18 40.385/8 7T

325



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
l%/\mﬂ

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

AR AR EE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd) 49.

326

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Contd)
Details of the specific categories of options are as
following: (Contd)

B. Granted in 2023 (Contd)

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
14,450,000 options were granted to the
Group’'s employees on 20 January 2023
under Share Option Scheme 2019. The
estimated fair value of those options granted
on that date is HK$2,041,000.

The fair value of share options granted was
calculated using Binomial Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(a) FARIESTEl @

BERRZBREFBENT
6=

B. ROEZ=FZH (B)

HE_Z_=F+_H
=+—HLEFE BR
BEZEZ-NEERE
FER_E_=F—
BZtHBEA&EEE
B H14,450,00010 B8
- EZBmE L
KREZHARFES
2,041,0007 7T

iR EZ A FETE
R-mEfREBREAE
ZIBEZ MABBENT

Share Option
Scheme 2019

“E-hE

AR ST E

Share price of the Company on grant date KABRREBRZRE HK$0.27
0.2787T

Exercise price 1T1E1E HK$0.385
0.3857% 7T

Expected volatility TR IR 86.93%
Expected life FEHREFHA 5 years
b4

Risk-free rate mERERAE 2.932%
Expected dividend yield TEHERR B = 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company’s share price
over the previous 5 years.

AR ESBESERRT
RIBESFZREE KIS
R
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme

On 31 May 2018 (“Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the Share Award Scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) aimed to recognise the
contributions by Eligible Persons and provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for
continuing operation and development of the
Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further

development of the Group.

On 29 June 2023, the shareholders of the
Company resolved to amend the terms of the
Share Award Scheme of the Company, among
other matters, (i) introduce rules under the Share
Award Scheme for the award of new shares of the
Company, include Employee Participants, Related
Entity Participants and Service Providers as Eligible
Participants for an award, (ii) introduce the Scheme
Mandate Limit for the award of new shares and,
(iii) bring the Share Award Scheme in alignment
with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date unless early terminated by the Board.

The Board can make award of Shares of the
Company to Selected Participants, but must not
make any further award of unvested Shares which
would result in the number of Shares awarded
by the Board under the Share Award Scheme
representing 10% or more of the issued Shares
from time to time without Shareholders’ approval.
The maximum number of Shares which may
be subject to an award or awards to a selected
participant in any 12-month period shall not in
aggregate exceed 1% of the issued Shares.

FEEEAMRAT T _-FFH

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

49.

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(b)

Eab b
RZZE-—N\FHA=+—H
(TERMMEHAL) > B AT R
R EER st 8 (The {0 22 Bh 5t
g EEESFEEBALTZ
BRI AR SR 2R Ui
BRERBRAEBZFE
EERER IAAEEZE
—TERRSIGBAE-

RIEZ=FB=Z+hB>
RRABRRBRETARA
AP EREISH B 2 &R HAP 6
& )5 AR B EIIET
REIAR QBRI ZRE 8
HEE2HEE HEBRE2H
ERRBIREEEARER
BERZHEE ()5 AZEH
B 17 Z stEIIRREBRER > Keliii)fsE
B RZE ST EIRFSGEM LT
$RAISE23E o

PRIFES TR L TR
22 Eh 5t &) B A H HARE10
FHABB MR LN -

EEgHET2HEARY
NABZIREIRRAD > ERER
KR EE—TREEM
HARFERMDEMBMEES
FIRERGEE IR 2
D8 B 1EF B EITRN
Z10% 3 £ o FAEM128 B
HEm—%EE2EARY
Z2—IENZIERENY K2 K
NREHEGHAEBAEE
BITRID Z1% °
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

328

Share Award Scheme (Conta)

No award shall be made by the Board and no
instructions to acquire Shares shall be given by
the Board to the Trustee under the Share Award
Scheme where any director is in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Group or where dealings by directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the
GEM Listing Rules and all applicable laws from
time to time.

Subject to the relevant Share Award Scheme
Rules, (1) the Company can issue and allot
Shares to the Trustee from time to time under
general mandates granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at general meetings of the Company
from time to time (unless such issue and allotment
of Shares has otherwise been approved by the
Shareholders) for future awards; or (2) in case
where the Board has selected certain Eligible
Person to be Selected Participant(s), the Company
shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after the
grant date, for the purposes of satisfying the grant
of awards, issue and allot Shares to the Trustee
under general mandates granted or to be granted
by the Shareholders at general meetings of the
Company from time to time (unless such issue and
allotment of Shares has otherwise been approved
by the Shareholders) and/or transfer to the Trust
the necessary funds and instruct the Trustee to
either (i) subscribe Shares to be issued by the
Company or (i) acquire Shares through on-market
transactions at the prevailing market price. The
Trustee must hold the Shares until they are vested
in accordance with the Share Award Scheme
Rules. When the Selected Participant has satisfied
all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the
time of making the award and become entitled to
the Shares forming the subject of the award, the
Trustee will transfer the relevant vested Shares to
the Selected Participant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and
powers in respect of any Shares held under the
Trust (including, but not limited to, the Awarded
Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares

and scrip Shares).

First Awards

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a total
of 551,522,400 Awarded Shares (“First Awards”)
were granted and out of which, none was granted
to the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the First Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements were received. The fair value of
awarded shares granted was HK$0.62 per Awarded

Share.
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)
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Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Second Awards

On 19 November 2018, the Board announced the
granting of another lot of 314,376,000 Awarded
Shares and subsequently reduced to 304,247200
Awarded Shares (“Second Awards”) on 24
January 2019, none was granted to the directors
of the Company. The Company received all
approvals and allotted Second Awards to Trustee
on 1 February 2019, but the grantees acceptance
were not received until 15 March 2019. Also on
15 March 2019, the Board adjusted the number
of Awards Shares previously announced and
granted additional 23,064,800 Awarded Shares to
58 grantees using lapsed shares of First Awards
and Second Awards held by Trustee in the Trust
Fund. The fair value of the Second Awards granted
was calculated based on the market price of
the Company's Share at the measurement date
that all relevant approvals in connection with the
GEM Listing Rules requirements and acceptance
from the Eligible participants were received. The
fair value of Second Awards shares granted was
HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

On 5 May 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to modify the vesting schedule of 80 grantees
of Second Awards, which resulted in immediate
and full vesting of 154,897600 Awarded Shares.
Other than that there was no other modification
of vesting conditions that will results in the
acceleration of vesting.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b)

PEAEARAH

Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Third Awards

On 21 August 2019, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 7,814,400 Awarded Shares (“Third
Awards”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by Trustee in
the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Third Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's Share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of Selected
Participants were received. The fair value of Third
Awards granted was HK$0.51 per Awarded Share.

Third Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 3 tranches. The first tranche
representing 50% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 2 years
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of first day of employment. The second and third
tranches each represent 25% of the awards, and
would be vested after completing the third year
and fourth year of continuous service to the Group,
respectively.
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(b)
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Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fourth Awards

On 1 July 2020, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 45,120,000 Awarded Shares (“Fourth
Awards”) by using the lapsed shares of First
Awards and Second Awards held by the Trustee
in the Trust Fund, of which none was granted to
the directors of the Company. The fair value of
the Fourth Awards granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company's share at
the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fourth
Awards granted was HK$1.37 per Awarded Share.

Fourth Awards granted to Selected Participants
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards would be vested
when the Selected Participant completing 1 year
of continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second, third and fourth tranches
each represent 25% of the awards, and would be
vested in the second, third and fourth anniversary
from the date of grant, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Fifth Awards

On 30 December 2021, the Board passed a
resolution to grant 36,200,000 Awarded Shares
("Fifth Awards"”) by using the lapsed shares held
by the Trustee in the Trust Fund, of which none was
granted to the directors of the Company. The fair
value of the Fifth Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company's share
at the measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Fifth
Awards granted was HK$0.52 per Awarded Share.

Fifth Awards granted to the selected participant

was fully vested on 31 December 2022.

Sixth Awards

On 22 February 2022, the Board passed a
resolution for allotted and issued 350,846,480 new
Awarded Shares (“Sixth Awards”) to Trustee. On
1 April 2023 and 1 December 2023, the Company
granted total 310,801,640 Awarded Shares to
employees of the Group. The fair value of the
Sixth Awards granted was calculated based on
the market price of the Company's share at the
measurement date that all relevant approvals
in connection with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements and the acceptance of selected
participants were received. The fair value of Sixth
Awards granted was HK$0.157 and HK$0.184 per

Awarded Share.
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(b)
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Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Sixth Awards (Contd)

The Sixth Awards granted to employees are divided
into 4 vesting periods: 300,721,240 share awards
were vested during the year, 10,080,400 awarded
shares will be vested on 31 March 2023, 30 June
2023 and 30 September 2023.

Seventh Awards

On 15 January 2023, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 5,327,488 Awarded Shares (“Seventh
Awards”) to certain Selected Participants by
using the issued but not yet granted Awarded
Shares held by the Trustee. The fair value of
the Seventh Awards granted was calculated
based on the market price of the Company's
share at the measurement date that all relevant
approvals in connection with the GEM Listing
Rules requirements and the acceptance of
selected participants were received. The fair value
of Seventh Awards granted was HK$0.27 per
Awarded Share.

Seventh Awards granted to employees are divided
into 2 lots: 2,195,488 Awarded Shares will fully
vest on 14 January 2024. Another 3,132,000
Awarded Shares are divided into 3 tranches. The
first tranche representing 50% of the awards shall
vest when the employees completing 1 year of
continuous service to the Group from the date
of grant. The second and third tranches each
represent 25% of the awards and shall vest in
the second and third anniversary from the date of
grant, respectively.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

AR A FRIE (@

(b)

AR S2Est 8 (@)

ENNKALE (B
BYEEBZENXTEBD
AAEREE 300,721,240
MROEBERERNTE
10,080,4008% 2 B g 17 1 12
—EC=F=A=+—QA-Z
E_—FRA=1+THKZE
—=FhAB=tHRB-

FLXLZR)
RN_E_=%F—8F+HAH>
EEgRE—ERERE U
SAFEZEETEHEAE
HzEBROIRETEES
B3 A\ $% 115,327 488 52BN IR 19
(T XiZEY)) ~-FAIRHE SR
TARBR 2 RAFELBEEHER
REKRMIREAEHRAZTE
FE WEIZEBBGEMLE™
RARE 2P E BRI E K
EFT2EAZEM -IEHESE
T RRE 2 AT EAESRE
BN&190.278 7T 0

RYRBEEZE T RNEED A2
=84 2,195,48808 5L Eh 1D 1
RIEZWEFE—/B+HHSE
2538 - B 413,132,000/ 42 B
&R D A3t o 5 —HE (G 12 ED
250% > B EEBRE B
ERAEETRAH—F2
BERGEREBE - F_RE=
H BB 225% @ D B B
BEYBHBEFEF _ARFE=EE
FHHEBC

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Eighth Awards

On 1 April 2023, the Board passed a resolution
to grant 33,777800 Awarded Shares (“Eighth
Awards”) to certain Selected Participants related
to Group related by using the issued but not yet
granted Awarded Shares held by the Trustee.
The fair value of the Eighth Awards granted was
calculated based on the market price of the
Company's share at the measurement date that
all relevant approvals in connection with the GEM
Listing Rules requirements and the acceptance
of selected participants were received. The fair
value of Eighth Awards granted was HK$0.208 per

Awarded Share.

Eighth Awards granted to Selected Participants are

divided into 3 lots:

(1) 2,747800 Awarded Shares will fully vest on

31 March 2024;

(2)  Another 12,131,000 Awarded Shares are
divided into 4 tranches. The first and second
tranche each represent 20% of the awards
shall vest when the Selected Participant
completing 1 year of continuous service to
the Group from the date of grant. The third
and fourth tranches each represent 30%
of the awards shall vest in the third and
fourth anniversary from the date of grant,

respectively;
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(b)
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Share Award Scheme (Contd)

Eighth Awards (Contd)

(3)  The remaining 18,899,000 Awarded Shares
are divided into 4 tranches. The first tranche
representing 25% of the awards shall vest
when the Selected Participant completing
1 year of continuous service to the Group
from the date of grant. The second, third and
fourth tranches each represent 25% of the
awards shall vest in the second, third and
fourth anniversary from the date of grant,
respectively.

Ninth Awards

On 1 July 2023, the Board passed a resolution to
grant 3,071,000 Awarded Shares (“Ninth Awards”)
to employees of the Group by using the issued
but not yet granted Awarded Shares held by the
Trustee. The fair value of the Ninth Awards granted
was calculated based on the market price of the
Company's share at the measurement date that
all relevant approvals in connection with the GEM
Listing Rules requirements and the acceptance
of selected participants were received. The fair
value of Ninth Awards granted was HK$0.14 per
Awarded Share.

Ninth Awards granted to employees are divided
into 4 tranches. The first tranche representing 25%
of the awards would be vested when the Selected
Participant completing 1 year of continuous service
to the Group from the date of grant. The second,
third and fourth tranches each represent 25% of
the awards, and would be vested in the second,
third and fourth anniversary from the date of grant,
respectively.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

49.

AR A FRIE (@

(b)

AR S2Est 8 (@)

B\ KR (&

(3)  E£F18,899,000/% #Z Ef
R D A4 o E—HHt
1552 Bh 2 25% > 5 Y158
E2HABRE B
BAEBETRAR—F
CEBEREEREB S
B REMNEG
B2 25% DRI B
RHBBEE - F=
REMNEBEFHRES-

B

N _EBE_=F+tH—H &5
BB —IEREE UTFEA
FEZEZRTEHARAELEZ
REROTEEAEREERE
3,071,000 82BN R 17 (TEE 1L
REZE)) o PRI N RIRED
ZRFELRBARABRKGS
REEEHZHESE L2
BEEBGEMLEHRIRTE
ZFREMERILERETES A
NZ 3540 o FTi% S N R E2ED
Z AT EASREERH0.14
BrTe

BT EEZENRERD B4
Ho B —HIGERZ25% 1’
REEZ2RABREBHE
MAEETHASBA—F2E
BRERFREB-F_ 5=/
BB ERER Z25% i 7
PIERHARESE - S=K
SEIU{EEF B BRI o

CHINAYOUZAN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE_ZT-F+_A=+—HILEFE

49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (conta) 49. RRIPZAFIE @

(b) Share Award Scheme (Contd) (b) BRIDIZENETE @)
Movements in the number of Awarded Shares held REABFEZREBRMDEE
by the Trustee are as follows: BHEIT -

Number of Number of
Awarded Awarded
Shares Shares
RERODHE =ERMDEB
2023 2022

o= =T
At the beginning of the year REH] 181,201,260 111,871,600
Issued and granted to employees M S & T RIFEH - 310,801,640
Issued but not yet granted B TEHARREH - 40,044,840
Vested and transferred B 5 B s (114,357,820) (281,516,820)
Lapsed 2R3 (6,999,516)  (17,349,600)
Returned Shares BEEERGD 6,999,516 17,349,600
At end of the year REXR 66,843,440 181,201,260

Vested but not transferred as at RERERBEFREE

the end of the year 220,000 99,104,720
337
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(c) YouzanTechnology - Share Award Plan A

Refer to the Company's announcements dated
26 February 2021, 1 April 2021 and 6 May 2021,
Youzan Technology has adopted the Youzan
Technology Share Award Plan A for the purposes
of simplifying the structure of the then existing
share award plan adopted by Youzan Technology
on 2 August 2019 and to make grants to reward
directors, management members and employees
of the Youzan Technology Group for their historical
contributions to the success of the business of the
Youzan Technology Group. Under the terms of the
Youzan Technology Share Award Plan A, the share
awards to be granted under the Youzan Technology
Share Award Plan A will be satisfied by the existing
106,428,391 Youzan Technology shares held by

Qima Teamwork Inc.

Refer to Company's circulars dated on 30
November 2023 and polls result 27 December
2023, the 106,428,391 Youzan Technology Share
Award Plan A converted into 1,906,330,379 shares
(“Converted Shares”) of the Company for the
purpose of satisfying the awards granted and each
award shall then entitle the Grantees to subscribe
for the corresponding number of Converted Shares
in proportion to the grantees’ entitlement to each

existing share of Youzan Technology.

As at 31 December 2023, no share award has

been granted under this plan.
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49. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(d) Grant of Youzan Technology Shares and
anti-dilution issue to the Company
On 27 April 2022, the board of directors of Youzan
Technology passed a resolution and entered
a share award agreement with Whitecrow
Investment Limited, which is a wholly-owned
company by Mr. Zhu Ning (the director of the
Company)and a non-controlling shareholder of
Youzan Technology. Pursuant to the agreement,
Youzan Technology granted, alloted and issued
84,432,360 new shares of Youzan Technology
to incentivise Mr. Zhu Ning to remain with
Youzan Technology and continue to promote its
future business development. The fair value of
the granted share award was determined by
discounted cash flow method and the fair value
of the granted share award was amounting to
RMB36,920,000. The awarded shares were
vested immediately. The share-based payment
expenses of RMB36,920,000 were recognised in
the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2022.
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(d)

Grant of Youzan Technology Shares

and anti-dilution issue to the Company
(Contd)

To ensure that the above share awards did not
dilute the existing equity interest held by the
Company in Youzan Technology, Youzan Technology
entered into an anti-dilution agreement with the
Company. Pursuant to the agreement, Youzan
Technology agreed to issue and allot 91,087205
new shares of Youzan Technology to the Company.

These transactions were approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 21 June 2022. The Company's
equity interest in Youzan Technology remains
unchanged at 51.9%.

For further details, refer to the announcement of
the Company published on 27 April 2022 and the
poll result on 21 June 2022.

BHE_ZT =

49.

F+A=+—HLEE

AR ZAFRRIE @)

(d)

mAABREAER XK
PR REEET @

7o B4R b R £ B2 B I A
BARBRBHAEZAEER
Kt BERKEARTF]
YREBEWZR - REHR B
BRRXBERBEATETR
Fo 3B B R14%91,087,2062

B&An o

ZERSGN _E__F/,A8
Z+—HBERETZREEFK
2 FEARBEREHIE AR
BIREEREZREHTR
> A51.9% o

BRE—THB FEREEA
BN E-__F#MWB -+t
ARz AERK T2
FREZ+—BHEZRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE_Z_=—F+"_A=+—HIEE
50. NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED 50. iFRIEMEBWMRMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Acquisition of equity interest in a (a) WE—RKEBAR $£EH
subsidiary/group without change of Z IS (MR & Eh)
control
On 29 December 2023, the Company acquired wWZZEEZ=%+ZAH
48.1% equity interest of Youzan Group by issuing “+NB ERKRBEEBET
14,549,999,989 new shares of the Company. 14,549,999,9898% A A Bl #T A&
Details refer to Company’s announcements dated MKBEEBEEZ48.1%K
on 30 November 2023, 27 December 2023, 29 - FIBEF2RARNEIHEAS
December 2023 and poll results on 27 December “E=F+—BA=+H8-
2023. TET=FE+THAZ+tEHE

T ECZFE+-RB”Z+AH
ZRER_E_=ZF+_RH

THtHZRRER A S

The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest EEERFEEREGZNK
in Youzan Group on the date of acquisition was BHHZEAEAARE
RMB420 million. The excess of approximately 420,000,0007T c BRI AR
RMB2,326 million, represented the difference #2,326,000,0007T (BIFF = <
between the fair value of the consideration and KWEREBRXZHUAZRE
transaction cost paid for the acquisition and the B B HAPT B IR R
carrying amount of the non-controlling interest RRmEZBNELR BR#
acquired on the date of acquisition, was recognised mPER - AFEEEEERE
within equity. The effect of changes in the EREGENHANBERS
ownership interest in Youzan Group on the equity AL R LEBMRANT
attributable to the shareholders of the Company

during the year is summarised as follows:

(i) the consideration for the Acquisition (i) WEEBEZ2RKERE
to be satisfied by allotting and issuing BREERBITAH
14,549,999,989 new Shares of the Company 14,549,999,989f% &K A
(the "Consideration Shares”) in aggregate B n (MUERG )
with the closing price of HK$0.144 per HE BERRTK B
Consideration Share at the assumed A_E_=ZF+_A4
Completion Date of 29 December 2023. “thR WmEAE

B RR150.14478 7T ©

TEEEERAT — T —E4H 341



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AATS AR MIEE
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. HGERTMEBRRME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Conta)

342

(a)

Acquisition of equity interest in a (a)
subsidiary/group without change of
control (Conta)
(ii) the derecognition of the carrying value of the
respective non-controlling interest of Youzan
Technology Group as at 31 December 2023;
and

(i) the difference between (i) and (i) above
to be recognised in equity since Youzan
Technology is a subsidiary of the Company
before and after the Acquisition.

WEE—RIME AR, EE
Z et (M EmiE R 2 E)

(#)

(i) ARIERRAERNKER
BIFEREGTR _-F
—=F+=ZB=+—H
ZEREIE ; &

(i)  BERAERRIRWER
BEABETABZWE

NE) > AL £ () i)
Z BB ERR RS E

WA
S o

Im

RMB'000
AR¥FTT
Fair value of Consideration Shares RERD ZAFE 1,906,460
Less: Carrying value of 48.1% non- B BEEREA48.1%IEERE S
controlling interest of Youzan Group N _E_=F+_A=+—
as at 31 December 2023 HZIREE 419,679
Difference to be recognised in WHEEIETHEE THRS
the equity attributable to the RABIRERELE R 2 Z5E
shareholders of the Company upon
completion of the Acquisition 2,326,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

50. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Conta)

(b)

PEAEARAH

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

50. iR REWRRMTE @

Disposal of a subsidiary (b) HE—RHMEBAT
The Group's subsidiary entered into the sales and A5 B I A 5] B — Rl R
purchase agreement with a related company to NEEIL B B UTRE
sell its 100% equity interest of Hangzhou Youzan HERRMMEEERER
Dining Co., Ltd. at nil consideration. The disposal BIRAFZ100% M 1# o HE
was completed on 29 July 2022 resulting in a gain A TE__HFtBZ+AhH
on disposal of approximately RMB4,603,000. R EEHERENOART
4,603,0007z ©
RMB'000
ANEBTFIT
Net liabilities disposal of: FrlEaERE:
Property, plant and equipment Y R KRB 1,414
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{JRIE %% K&
HAth FEURIE 1,122
Bank and cash balances RIT AR 188
Accruals and other payables TEiRER R EMENRIB (1,213)
Amount due to the Group I A EERIE (6,114)
Net liabilities disposed of FrEaE®aH (4,603)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELZIREMEFEE !
Cash consideration received BWIRERE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FTHERERIREEEY (188)
(188)
—EocaER 343



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E TR MR

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

50. NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED 50. FRIEMEWRRM=T @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conta)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) REZFBEEZERIEK
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TREFLAEEMEEEHE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including FZEREH QEHEERIF
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising R MELTHELEZA
from financing activities are those for which cash BRI EMERARKE R
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EREXAEEZEERER
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash EWRRPDBHBME A
flows as cash flows from financing activities. wREREZ &R
Early
termination
and
modification
Interest of leases
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent Exchange 31 December
2023 flows of leases (note 11) concession difference 2023
RELL t S
Z§Z= HER% RENEE +ZR
-B-H Reie gk (W11 RESER EREE =t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Borrowings (6 480986 (29512) - 18,732 - 28 470444
Lease liabliies (note 41) BESE (Hin) 93,919 (27986) 8417 8,880 (2518) 17 80,729
Early
termination
and
modification
Interest of leases
1 January Cash Inception expenses and rent Exchange 31 December
2022 flows of leases (note 11) concession difference 2022
RRAIE “BoCE
“BCTE HEET  RENEE 1A
-f-H RenE g% (zn)  RESER ERER =+-H
RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  A\REBTn  A\RETn  ARETn
Borrowings & - 471,060 - 9924 - 2 480986
Lease liabiliies (note 41) GEEEE R 273,652 (47715) 623 16,707 (148399) 51 93919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

50. NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED 50. #ZRIREMEMKRMT @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contd)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) MHERERLEEE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements FERERERKRPIAHZ
of cash flows for leases comprise the following: MHESEEEUTEIE !

2023 2022

—E°= - S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Within operating cash flows REREMREN 8,943 15,758
Within investing cash flows KEREMREN - -
Within financing cash flows MEREMREN 19,026 32,008
Exchange difference bE 7 = RB 17 (51)
27986 47715

These amounts relate to the following: ZETEETYZIERME

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTr AR®ETT
Lease rental paid ENEEEE 27,986 47715

PEAEARAR

it £35S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

51.

346

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Pursuant to Article 3, Article 37 and Article 39 of
the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “Corporate Income Tax
Law") Article 9 of the Announcement of the State
Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to
Withholding at Source of Income Tax of Non-
resident Enterprise (State Administration of
Taxation Announcement [2017] No. 37 the “No.
37 Announcement”), and Article 62 and Article
69 of the Law of the People's Republic of China
on the Administration of Tax Collection (the “Tax
Collection Law”), the Company's acquisition of
48.10% equity interest in Youzan Group (note 50(a))
during the year ended 31 December 2023 had
led to an indirect acquisition of Hangzhou Youzan.
Such arrangement shall be re-characterised as a
direct transfer by the PRC tax authorities and the
capital gain derived will be subject to Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT"). The Group is obliged to act
as CIT withholding agent and report the indirect
equity transfer (and settle the CIT, if applicable) to
the tax authority and the Company may be subject
to a fine of not less than 50% but not more than
300% of the amount of CIT that should have been
withheld or collected.

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

51.

HARE

(a)

RIFFPEAREMBE T ERR
/iE TREMBRIE) £3
&~ EI7TME R E391% » (BRI
BHEBEEARIEEREEMS
MEBERINBERBENAS)
(EARMRFF4EF A H2017137
g% [ 375 AH) FoE - EE
AR HMERKAEE X (TR
WAEE A1) 621K %569
B RABRBE_ZE =%
+ZBE=+—HIEFEKE
EEEEA8.10% R (s
50(a)) B M ZWEB NG
Bo BT W ER S
BENTEABREE FTE
E2ERKRERBEMNTE
SR (EMRSR) o
REBERIEATLEMBRA
NMR/BEBARBDRBER
[EIREIZR A EE (AR D
XN (WER)) » AAF
O RE B W R LR TBI0 S R 4
8N EENI50% E300%

T
L BT e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

51. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (conta)

(a)

(b)

(Contd)

The Company has already adequately provided
for the withholding tax payables (note 32) and the
sellers agreed to report to the relevant authorities
and pay the relevant taxes related to their disposal
of 48.10% equity interest in Youzan Group subject
to the Company not being able to perform its
withholding obligations under the relevant tax
laws and regulations. The sellers further agreed
that if any of them does not comply with the
relevant tax laws and regulations which lead to the
Company being requested to pay such CIT, relevant
interests and/or penalties (“Taxes and Penalties”)
as a tax withholding agent, such seller should be
responsible to the Company for such CIT, relevant
interests and/or penalties, which is up to three
times of the CIT and 0.05% of the overdue tax on
a daily basis to be imposed from the date of the
payment.

At 31 December 2023, Youzan Technology Group
has some small unresolved legal disputes totalling
RMBO0.16 million of compensations.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

PEAEARAF

it £35S

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

51.

HARERE @

(a)

(b)

#)

RAB BT EHEENTENR
(MYsx32) "BEFREBERM
ERRRITZMHEHEAR
EEERISI0%KRIEERN
MERARE EURABEEIR
BAERARBEARERERRBT
HBMNEXAAR - BHE—
FTEIR MEKEREETHE
MBS AR RER BEREAR
BAEARINRKBEE AL
MAE R ZEPTSR ~ BT S
K/ 8w (MIBEREF)
AlERERBBREALERR
B0 BRI B R, E
RABIBE EEHTEIB
BEEMESRZ=_EBERR
Mz BieE B MWCa R IE
20.05% °

RIZZ=F+"A=1+—
B BENEERAET/NE
RARERIM I RAMESH
AR #5160,0007T

fREXFIIREEN R ZT "=
TTA=t+—H FxEERETEAME
RIEARERE-
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

52.

53.

348

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

COMMITMENTS 52. K
Commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting REREAEREBITNEEREE ZK
period but not yet incurred are as follows: -3 I
2023 2022
— T =F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ AR®ETT
Equity investment in a company R—E AR Z REKRE 4,537 4,537
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 53. KETHEZHE
The Group as lessee TEBEREBA

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed in note 20.

At 31 December 2023 , the Group entered into 2 new
leases for office for 3 years which commence on Jan
2024. As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding lease
commitment is RMB18,230,000.

AEEERITUMAERELES
ZHRPAHE R =FKr_Z
“THE+ZRA=+—H EHEEE
BHMN 20 E 2 BHHEER X
ZIR R EE AL

R-E_=F+"_RB=+—H>&&E
Bl IMMFMAERE B2
“OFE—RBRAAZF RN E=
F+ZA=+—8B  EXREEHEK
A AR 1518,230,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B ERARMYEE

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

HE_Z-_-—F+A=1+—HILFE

54. RAES XS

(a) In addition to those related party transactions and (a) MR EHBREELMIBLDAR

balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

W EE 2 R 75 32 5 R A RS 0

PEAEARAH

financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with its related parties during

AEBRENEEBB LA

the year:

Repayment of loans to employees

Advertising service fee received
from a related company

Revenue from a related company

Administrative expenses paid to
a non-controlling interest of
a subsidiary

Loans from non-controlling
shareholders of a subsidiary

Repayment of loans from
non-controlling shareholders of
a subsidiary

Commission paid to associates

The related party transactions were conducted
in accordance with terms mutually agreed with
related parties and in the ordinary course of

business.

it £35S

UTEARRS :
2023 2022
—E=F —E_C
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFx ARETFT
BEREEFHZER - 3,150
B—ERE A WE 2
BEREE - 10
RE—RIEB AR 2 Wm 2,496 331
[SEN R LS NCIE 224
@z iITHREX
(753) (1,022)
KB —RI B AR IEIER
REZE™ 848 1,420
BEXRE—RBREAT
JEPERR IR 2 B
(2,530) (481)
ENBE AR ZHE (1,727) (2,926)

BE S 25 T IR AR 75
BEBEZBERKRIKEBE
BiBiERET
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

AATS AR MIEE

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conta) 54. FAMEARZ @

HE_ S _=F+_A=+—HI=FE

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members (b) E=EKHMSKEEEAER
of senior management during the year was as FAZFHMAOT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E=HF T fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®TFIT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances TETEAL R 2R, 14,704 17295
Equity-settled share-based payments P4 & I& 10 2 5 7R I1E 1,817 41,178
Retirement benefit scheme RIREA T B HRR
contribution 260 296
16,781 58,769
55. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 55. LEEEF

350

Certain comparative figures have been restated as
a result of application of Amendments of HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction. Details refer to note 3(a). Hl]os¥ 5B 2 RMIEE3(a)

2= 55

KIERE B E 5 ERF 12952 65T
THE-—XGELZEERERHE
2 BELERE  ETHEREFTEE
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FHEHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“E-=Hf “E--fF “E--F ZEBIEEF “T-hHE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Restated)
(note a) (note b) (note b) (note b)
AREFTR ARETR AREFR ARETRT ARETR®
(#&=5)
(fizta) (i =Eh) (Mttb) (Ffz2b)
RESULT E
Revenue & 1448376 1496977 1,569,991 1,820,723 1,168,857
Cost of sales HEMA (446,231)  (535,055) (617728) (738,639) (575,455)
Gross profit E7 1,002,145 961,922 952,263 1,082,084 593,402
Investment and other income BREREMBA 52,546 49,517 63,786 76,937 29,727
Other gains and losses, net Hi s 518 B4 17472 36,100  (2,186,924) 1,569 (198,992)
Selling expenses HERS (657,038)  (830,816) (959,106)  (781,882) (543,215)
Administrative expenses THAX (154,949)  (293,043) (355,312)  (241,438) (196,797)
Equity-settled share-based payments REEERN = MFIE (10,619) (88,068) (53,130) (62,197) (136,428)
Amortisation of intangible assets BT EE (81,126) (81,648) (124,964) (193,143) (193,366)
Other operating expenses A8 EmR% (189,754)  (312,268)  (609,294)  (445,165)  (349,927)
Loss from operations BEEE (21,323)  (558,304) (3,252,681)  (563,235)  (995,596)
Finance costs LT (27612) (25,631) (22,642) (27836) (22,044)
Share of losses of associates, net EIEBE AT 2R B - (1,135) (217) (1,161) 5,289
Fair value change in financial assets at fair AV AT ATEERE
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL) (AT ESAERRR) 2
FREEZ ATEEZE (3,690) (73,337) 23,758 - -
LOSS BEFORE TAX [E3T) o] (52,625)  (658,407) (3,251,782)  (592,282)  (1,012,351)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FERiER/ B 2,150 13,009 (41,238) 46,629 96,782
LOSS FORTHE YEAR FREE (50,475)  (645,398)  (3,293,020) (545,653) (915,569)
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEMHHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+_-_A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=Hf Z__fF _Z_-F _B_EF _B-hE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
(note a) (note b) (note b) (note b)
ARETR ARETE ARBETT AR®TRT AREBTR
(&)
(Mf3ta) (M¥3Eb) (HizEb) (FfzEb)
Attributable to: BUFALREMSE D
Owners of the Company EUNSIEZZEPN 7429 (302,727)  (2,509,498)  (294,671) (591,874)
Non-controlling interests JEER R (57904)  (342,671)  (783522)  (250,982)  (323,695)
(50,475) (645,398)  (3,293,020) (545,653) (915,569)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE BERIEERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS nEE 5,395,014 6,562,302 6,872,975 12,212,480 10,498,860
TOTAL LIABILITIES F=l (4,386,124)  (5,517219)  (5,536,152)  (7582,381) (6,599,813
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS R (12,440)  (368,183) (9,643) 771,304 240,579
Notes: N
(a) Due to application of amendments of HKAS 12 “Deferred (a) HRERES BT ERSE125R BT A TE

Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’ the comparative financial information for the year
ended 31 December 2022 of the Group has been restated.

(b) The financial information for the year ended 31 December (b)
2021,2020 and 2019 of the Group has not been restated as
the Directors consider that the unrestated financial information
is more appropriate to reflect yearon-year comparison of the
change in the Group's business operation.
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B-RGEXZEERBBHERZIEILER
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HREERAXRLEINVHBERNTEER
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